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 1 (September 15, 2011, 8:04 a.m., open court)

 2 JUDGE GARCIA:  Okay.  Good morning.  We'll procee d

 3 now to the arguments presented by both sides.  An d the Court

 4 will first recognize Mr. Garza on behalf of MALC.

 5 MR. GARZA:  Your Honor, before we begin, there's a

 6 short housekeeping matter that Ms. Perales needs to address.

 7 JUDGE GARCIA:  Okay.

 8 MS. PERALES:  Your Honor, with some of the other

 9 parties, we've added a number of exhibits.  We've  been keeping

10 the Court's binders up to date on the ones that w e thought were

11 important.  We would like to formally move the en tire set

12 because the record was not clear from earlier on.   So the

13 Latino Task Force plaintiffs move exhibits number  Plaintiff 201

14 through Plaintiff 420.

15 JUDGE GARCIA:  Any objection?

16 MS. PERALES:  I'm sorry, Your Honor.  Oh, Plainti ff's

17 200 through 420.

18 JUDGE GARCIA:  Any objection?

19 MS. JORDAN:  I have one question.

20 JUDGE GARCIA:  I'm sorry?

21 MS. JORDAN:  I have one question for Ms. Perales.

22 JUDGE GARCIA:  Sure.

23 (Discussion off the record)

24 MS. PERALES:  Your Honor, it appears that opposin g

25 counsel hasn't been able to find some of the tabl es in Dr.

Chris Poage, RMR, CRR
United States Court Reporter



  1965

 1 Engstrom's first report.  So with the exception o f that --

 2 we'll move them, Your Honor, after the break so w e can sort

 3 this out.  Thank you.

 4 JUDGE GARCIA:  Right.  Why don't y'all confer on the

 5 matter and resolve it?

 6 Okay, Mr. Garza.

 7 CLOSING STATEMENT 

 8 MR. GARZA:  Good morning.  May it please the Cour t.

 9 There's a number of causes of action that the Mex ican

10 American Legislative Caucus has brought before th e Court, and

11 I'll try to address each one in sequence, beginni ng with our

12 one person, one vote claim.

13 We believe that State House plan H283, the adopte d

14 plan, violates the one person, one vote principle  that is

15 contained within the 14th Amendment as defined by  Reynolds

16 versus Sims.

17 Reynolds versus Sims sets out that the overriding

18 objective of districting must be substantial equa lity of

19 population among the various districts and that d eviations from

20 equal population principle are permissible only i f incident to

21 the effectuation of a rational state policy.

22 With deviations of less than ten percent there's a

23 burden shift.  The plaintiffs must prove that the  redistricting

24 process was tainted by arbitrariness or discrimin ation.

25 Deviations that approach the so-called ten percen t rule do not
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 1 provide, however, a safe harbor under the 14th Am endment for

 2 the requirements of population equality.  And suc h deviations

 3 may not be justified if the variances discriminat e upon race or

 4 any other subset classification requiring heighte ned scrutiny.

 5 And I would cite to Cox versus Larios for that pr inciple, as

 6 well as Moore versus Itawamba County, a Fifth Cir cuit case from

 7 2005.

 8 The evidence before the Court on this -- on this

 9 issue establishes the State offered no justificat ion for -- at

10 all, for the population variances that lead to a 9.92

11 top-to-bottom deviation.  In fact, the State's wi tnesses

12 admitted that the sole goal with regard to popula tion

13 distribution between districts was just to stay a bove -- or

14 just below ten percent.

15 The testimony of Chairman Burt Solomons, the

16 testimony of the author of the plans, Geraldo Int eriano, both

17 testified before the Court and in deposition that  that was the

18 sole goal, just try to reach ten percent and stay  just below

19 the ten percent.

20 JUDGE SMITH:  What would the law tell us, Mr. Gar za,

21 if we were to determine, as a matter of fact -- a nd I'm not

22 suggesting that we will.  But if we were to deter mine as a

23 matter of fact that the sole or overriding purpos e was, as some

24 witnesses expressed, either to reelect as many in cumbents or

25 maybe as many Republicans as possible or to maxim ize Republican
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 1 strength.

 2 MR. GARZA:  Right.

 3 JUDGE SMITH:  I'm thinking particularly of Distri ct

 4 41 in Hidalgo, but it might apply to others.  And  we're only

 5 talking about the population deviation.

 6 MR. GARZA:  So I would have two responses to Your

 7 Honor's question.  First is that the testimony is  contradicted

 8 by the State's own witnesses about whether incumb ency

 9 protection was a factor in driving the deviation.

10 JUDGE SMITH:  Okay.  But my question assumes if w e

11 were to find that, and I'm not suggesting we will .

12 MR. GARZA:  Right.  And the second point that I w ould

13 make is that Cox versus Larios -- so that's point  number one.  

14 Point number two is that both -- all of the witne sses

15 for the State concede the driving force was seeki ng partisan

16 advantage.  And the incumbents -- the evidence be fore the Court

17 in this case is that the incumbents that that fav ored,

18 generally, were Republicans.

19 That was the essence of the Cox versus Larios

20 decision.  The Court found that in North Carolina  the Democrats

21 had overpopulated Republican districts to the dis advantage of

22 Republicans and had underpopulated districts for Democrats, to

23 the disadvantage of Democrats.  And the Court fou nd that that

24 was an improper use of the ten percent margin, th at the courts

25 allowed local jurisdictions to comply with one pe rson, one
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 1 vote.

 2 And the evidence in this case is even more

 3 compelling, because the evidence in this case est ablishes that

 4 not only were the population variances aimed at g iving partisan

 5 advantage; they were primarily aimed at providing  a

 6 disadvantage to Latino majority districts.

 7 The evidence that Dr. Kousser examined, for examp le,

 8 established that even though most white majority districts were

 9 underpopulated, substantially -- a substantial pr oportion of

10 white districts were underpopulated, over 60 perc ent of Latino

11 majority districts were overpopulated.  And, in f act, when he

12 compared how Democratic districts did versus how Latino

13 Democratic districts fared in the population dist ribution, he

14 found that Latino majority districts fared worse than

15 Democratic districts over-all.

16 JUDGE SMITH:  But as to district -- again, I ment ion

17 District 41, so I'll focus on that.  Maybe it's d ifferent from

18 the other situations.  But in that district -- al l of the

19 districts, as I understand it, were a majority Hi spanic, by any

20 measure.  Yet, the one where the now Republican i ncumbent

21 resides, the district that he holds, 41, was subs tantially

22 underpopulated.

23 MR. GARZA:  That's correct, Your Honor.  But I th ink

24 the -- I think the proper evaluation of this issu e should look

25 at all the districts that are Latino majority dis tricts.
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 1 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  So your point is Latinos are

 2 disadvantaged in the adjoining districts to 41 be cause they're

 3 not enjoying the benefits of one person, one vote ?

 4 MR. GARZA:  Exactly, Your Honor.  So there are fo ur

 5 districts contained entirely within Hidalgo Count y.  You can

 6 balance out the population between all four of th em and nobody

 7 is advantaged or disadvantaged.  But the State ch ose to

 8 overpopulate three and underpopulate one.  And th at's the ratio

 9 that concerns us, not the Democrat-Republican rat io, but what

10 happens to the Latino community.  And when you lo ok at Anglo

11 majority districts, you don't find that.  You fin d, in fact,

12 that over 60 percent of Anglo majority districts are

13 underpopulated.

14 And the whole -- the whole notion of one person, one

15 vote is -- and the whole reason for having a rule  that says you

16 must try to equate -- equalize population across districts is

17 because the Supreme Court over and over and over again has

18 determined that in terms of preventing, of managi ng outright

19 gerrymanders, that the best tool that it has at i ts disposal,

20 the one that it has applied most evenly across th e decades, the

21 one that is easiest to manage in terms of legal p rinciples, is

22 the one person, one vote, and the most effective in terms of

23 avoiding gerrymanders of all kinds, racial or par tisan.

24 And so, as I said, the Cox versus Larios opinion' s

25 origin is in a political gerrymander.  And it cle arly sets out
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 1 that -- as I mentioned, that with regard to any j ustification

 2 that is -- that discriminate, requires a heighten ed scrutiny to

 3 evaluate.

 4 So that's --

 5 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  But let me stop you there.  Wha t is

 6 the standard that we evaluate?  Is it heightened scrutiny, or

 7 does the State have to provide just some justific ation?

 8 MR. GARZA:  According to Moore versus Itawamba

 9 County, the three-judge panel there indicated tha t if there was

10 evidence of race-based use of the one person, one  vote, it

11 should be -- it should receive heightened scrutin y.  And that's

12 at 431 F.3d, 257, a Fifth Circuit case from 2005.

13 And again, if I just could quickly go over and

14 summarize Dr. Kousser's analysis, because Dr. Kou sser's

15 analysis looked at what sorts of things the distr ict court in

16 Cox versus Larios looked at to evaluate the parti san advantage

17 that was being -- that was being used with the on e person, one

18 vote.  And he emulated the same factors that the district court

19 in Cox versus Larios examined.

20 So the first thing that he did is he examined H10 0,

21 the prior plan, to see the sorts of distribution in

22 populations.  And he found that H283 was more ske wed than the

23 current plan, H100; that while H100 had 37 of 150  districts

24 with greater than four percent variances at eithe r end, H283

25 had 45.  So it was more skewed.
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 1 He found that of the 37 Latino majority districts , 22

 2 were overpopulated and 15 -- overpopulated and 15  are

 3 underpopulated.  But that -- and that's bad enoug h.  But he

 4 also examined where the State had options to over populate or

 5 underpopulate.  And so he determined that in El P aso County,

 6 because of the Article 3, Section 26 whole county  line rule,

 7 five district -- that El Paso County was entitled  to five

 8 districts, and there was no way to overpopulate a ny of those

 9 districts.  So five districts required to be unde rpopulated in

10 the range of about four percent in order to compl y with the

11 whole county line rule.

12 So if you extract those five districts from the

13 analysis, then more than double the number of -- more -- the

14 overpopulated districts are more than double the underpopulated

15 districts for Latino majority districts.

16 JUDGE SMITH:  I'm sorry.  Repeat that last statem ent

17 for us.

18 MR. GARZA:  I'm sorry.  That was --

19 JUDGE SMITH:  It was fine.  I just didn't follow it.

20 MR. GARZA:  So more -- twice as many Latino major ity

21 districts are overpopulated than underpopulated u nder the

22 State's plan.

23 He also looked at urban districts to see -- becau se

24 within an urban district there can't be a justifi cation that we

25 have to comply with the whole county line rule in  order -- in
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 1 order to avoid balancing districts.  You have a t otal

 2 population for Harris County.  You divide it by 2 4, and you

 3 have an ideal district for Harris County.

 4 And what Dr. Kousser found is that within urban

 5 counties, while the use of population deviations adversely

 6 impact the Democratic districts, the impact on La tino districts

 7 was even greater.  And as we went through some of  those

 8 examples with Chairman Solomons, he -- we showed in Harris

 9 County where there were districts that were overp opulated

10 adjacent to districts that were underpopulated, w here it would

11 have been very easy to balance out the population s without

12 impacting any State justification.

13 And Dr. Kousser examined other potential

14 justifications for the discriminatory impact of t he plan and

15 the population variances, and found that none pro vided

16 justification for adopting the variations in H283 .  He found

17 that the average deviation in 283 was greater --

18 Could we turn to Exhibit 19 at Page 82?

19 VIDEO TECHNICIAN:  19.82.

20 MR. GARZA:  It's 83, I think, on your point.

21 So he found that the average deviation in 283 was

22 greater than in other alternative plans.  He foun d that 283 had

23 just as few -- that there were other plans that h ad just as few

24 county breaks as 283.  He found that other plans were more

25 compact, using measurement scores that the -- tha t the State
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 1 has adopted or the State uses.  And he found that  no other plan

 2 split more VTDs.

 3 So it wasn't done to avoid splitting precincts.  It

 4 wasn't done in order to provide more compact dist ricts.  It

 5 wasn't done to avoid county breaks.  And it wasn' t done to have

 6 a more -- a better average deviation between the districts.

 7 And, in fact, he found that there were other alte rnative plans

 8 that had smaller deviations than H283.

 9 So Dr. Kousser found that the State's plan, H283,  had

10 deviations that had an adverse effect on the Lati no voters;

11 that the State could provide no justification for  the

12 deviations contained in the plan; that the eviden ce submitted

13 to this Court was similar but more comprehensive than the

14 evidence examined by the district court in Cox ve rsus Larios,

15 where a violation of one person, one vote was fou nd.

16 Defendants have offered no evidence to justify a 9.92

17 deviation and have offered no evidence disputing adverse impact

18 of the deviation on Latinos in this plan.

19 JUDGE SMITH:  Now, the average deviation statewid e,

20 as I recall, was about two and a half percent; is  that right?

21 Or --

22 MR. GARZA:  It was -- the average deviation, I

23 believe, was 2.75, Your Honor, across the state.  And it is the

24 highest of all the alternatives that are listed o n the chart.

25 At least two of the -- and this is just the first  page.
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 1 There's more on the next page, more comparisons, I believe.

 2 There isn't?  Maybe the previous page.  There.

 3 See if you can highlight that.

 4 The Veasey plan had a slightly higher average

 5 deviation and the Alonzo plan as well.  But most of the other

 6 plans offered had a lower average deviation from the one

 7 adopted by the -- by the State.

 8 So we believe the evidence is compelling and that  the

 9 Court should find that H283 violates one person, one vote under

10 the 14th Amendment and should be enjoined.

11 MALC also has a claim under Section 2 of the Voti ng

12 Rights Act for discriminatory effect.  The standa rd under

13 Section 2 that's been announced by the Supreme Co urt

14 establishes a sort of two-pronged approach to eva luation of a

15 Section 2 claim.

16 The first prong is looking at the -- what's the

17 so-called threshold considerations the Court must  look at.  And

18 they're generally referred to as Gingles 1, Gingl es 2 and

19 Gingles 3.  In a redistricting context, in a chal lenge to a

20 single member district plan Gingles 1 essentially  requires that

21 the plaintiffs produce alternative, or Gingles pl ans, as

22 they're sometimes referred to, that produce more opportunity

23 districts for the minority community or for the c hallenging

24 minority community than what the challenged plan offers.

25 So if the plan offers 30 opportunity districts, i n
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 1 order to prevail on Gingles 1 the challenging par ty must

 2 establish a plan that at least has 31 opportunity  districts.

 3 With regard to Gingles 2, that's essentially an

 4 evaluation of racially polarized voting.  And the re are two

 5 components of that.  The first component is, is t he challenging

 6 minority community a politically cohesive communi ty?  That is,

 7 does it vote together?  And the second component is, is there a

 8 sufficient Anglo voting bloc to usually defeat pr eferred

 9 candidate of choice of the minority community?

10 And finally, the second -- once the Court determi nes

11 that the plaintiff has met its burden with regard  to Gingles 1,

12 Gingles 2 and Gingles 3, then the Court's inquiry  proceeds to

13 an evaluation of what's generally referred to as the totality

14 of circumstances.

15 And generally, the totality of circumstances rela tes

16 to factors that were listed in the Senate report to the

17 adoption of the amendments to Section 2 of the Vo ting Rights

18 Act.  And it's not an all-inclusive list.  But ge nerally what

19 it requires is an evaluation of such things as th e history of

20 voting related discrimination in the state or pol itical

21 subdivision, the extent to which voting in the el ections of the

22 state or political subdivision is racially polari zed, the

23 extent to which the state and political subdivisi on has used

24 voting practices or procedures that tend to enhan ce the

25 opportunity of discrimination, the extent to whic h minority
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 1 group members bear the effects of past discrimina tion in areas

 2 such as education, employment and health, which h inder their

 3 ability to participate effectively in the politic al process,

 4 the use of overt or subtle racial appeals in poli tical

 5 campaigns, the extent to which members of the min ority group

 6 have been elected to public office in the jurisdi ction.

 7 JUDGE SMITH:  Let me ask you about that last fact or,

 8 which --

 9 MR. GARZA:  Yes, Your Honor.

10 JUDGE SMITH:  -- I don't recall was specifically

11 mentioned during the trial.  But I was -- I was n oticing that

12 because it speaks not to the opportunity of the v oters to elect

13 someone from the protected class, but it looks to  who gets

14 elected.  And I'm thinking specifically of Congre ssional

15 Districts 23 and 27 and House District 41 in term s -- and there

16 are, I'm sure, others -- in terms of the history of electing

17 Hispanic officeholders in those jurisdictions.  I  understand

18 it's only one factor out of many.  But in terms o f those three

19 districts, that history is established, is it not ?

20 MR. GARZA:  So to answer the Court's question

21 directly, the answer is yes.  But, for instance, District 23

22 has an electoral history that -- so the district is new.  So it

23 has a fairly limited electoral history.  It has t hree elections

24 that have been conducted under that -- under that  district.

25 District 27, however, was in the same general for mat
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 1 that it's been for over 20 years.  And so it has a much longer

 2 electoral history in terms of evaluating -- if I understand the

 3 Court's question, in terms of evaluating its pote ntial to elect

 4 candidates of choice for the minority community s o --

 5 JUDGE SMITH:  Well, but this isn't the candidate of

 6 choice issue.  And I understand that that's a ver y large issue

 7 and probably much more important than this one.  I'm only

 8 focusing on number 7, which looks not to who's do ing the

 9 electing, but to who gets elected.

10 MR. GARZA:  And so I think -- I think this partic ular

11 factor has been interpreted to evaluate, to some degree, at

12 what level the minority community has reached pro portional

13 representation.  So that what you look at is how many

14 minorities have been elected to the State House o f

15 Representatives?  How many are currently sitting?   And compare

16 that to the proportion of Latinos in the populati on and whether

17 the new plan or alternative plans offer additiona l

18 opportunities.

19 So I think -- generally, that's, I think, what th at

20 generally refers to, is -- has there been underre presentation

21 for the minority community that's challenging the  electoral

22 plan?  

23 I might at this point -- I guess would be a good

24 point -- good time to inform the Court that depen ding on which

25 measure is used to evaluate proportionality, unde r any measure
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 1 Latinos are underrepresented in the current plan and in the

 2 plan that was adopted by the State House of Repre sentatives.

 3 JUDGE SMITH:  Statewide?

 4 MR. GARZA:  Statewide.

 5 So the population of -- the Latino population of the

 6 state is about 39 percent, 38 or 39 percent.  The  HCVAP

 7 population of the state is about 25 percent.  In order to have

 8 proportional representation, you would need to ha ve 38 members

 9 of the 150 member House of Representatives have - - be Latino or

10 have Latino majority districts account for 38.

11 JUDGE GARCIA:  And how many do we have now?

12 MR. GARZA:  I'm sorry?

13 JUDGE GARCIA:  How many do we have now?

14 MR. GARZA:  Well, the current -- the adopted plan

15 provides, depending on, again, which measure the Court uses --

16 the most popular measure that's used in the Fifth  Circuit is

17 HCVAP.  And it provides 30 districts in which Lat inos have an

18 opportunity to elect a candidate of their choice.

19 So that's sort of the standard that the Court has  to

20 look at, the three Gingles factors first and then  examine the

21 totality of circumstances once it evaluates the t hree Gingles

22 factors.

23 In the Fifth Circuit the courts have generally

24 determined that if a plaintiff fails to meet any one of the

25 first three Gingles factors, it need not consider  the totality
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 1 of circumstances in evaluating the plan.  So thos e are

 2 requirements.  We must have at least one more Gin gles district

 3 than the plan that's being offered by the State.  We must show

 4 racially polarized voting, and that, for us, the Latino

 5 community's politically cohesive, and you must sh ow that there

 6 is sufficient Anglo bloc vote to defeat the Latin o-preferred

 7 candidate.

 8 So to get at Gingles 1, evaluating the plan for

 9 Gingles 1 -- could you pull up Table 19?  It's on  Page 79.

10 VIDEO TECHNICIAN:  What exhibit?

11 MR. GARZA:  It's Exhibit 19.

12 VIDEO TECHNICIAN:  Okay.

13 MR. GARZA:  At Page 79.

14 Before I get to -- one more page up.  Before I ge t to

15 examining the table that we've put up there, I th ink it's, at

16 this point, a good time to review the competing t heories that

17 have been presented to the Court for evaluation o f the State's

18 obligation under Article 3, Section 26, the so-ca lled whole

19 county line rule.

20 The testimony from the -- from the State indicate s

21 that the whole county line rule requires an evalu ation of

22 spillover districts or retention districts and re quires an

23 evaluation of a ratio for a county to determine t he number of

24 districts -- the allocation of districts per coun ty.

25 So, for instance, Representative Solomons testifi ed,
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 1 "And I was advised back in previous redistricting  sessions

 2 that, for example, Tarrant County, it had 10.6 --  a ratio of

 3 10.6, and actually it had been rounded down, to t heir

 4 detriment; where Harris County" -- and he's talki ng about today

 5 -- "had not reached the 24.5 threshold and had ac tually been

 6 rounded up" -- in the example that he was giving.

 7 "And I decided it just wasn't fair to do that; th at

 8 they shouldn't get the extra district -- the extr a legislator

 9 when other parts of the state, in drawing a map a nd trying to

10 put that together, should get the proper represen tation."

11 So that's the first part of it.  How many distric ts

12 are going to be allocated to Harris County?  25 o r 26?  Our

13 interpretation --

14 JUDGE SMITH:  24 or 25.

15 MR. GARZA:  24 or 25.  I'm sorry.  Excuse me.

16 Our interpretation of Article 3, Section 26 is th at

17 the State has discretion.  If they can draw 25 di stricts in

18 Harris County, for example, and still comply with  one person,

19 one vote, they have that discretion.  If they can  draw 24

20 districts and still comply with the same ratio, c omply with one

21 person, one vote, they have that discretion.  And  up until this

22 redistricting cycle, that has been the way the St ate has

23 interpreted Article 3, Section 26.

24 So in terms of the history of Harris County, in t he

25 last four decades three of those -- before this o ne, three of
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 1 those -- in three of those decades the ratio was below .5.  And

 2 in all three of them they bumped it up.  In one y ear it was

 3 above .5, and, of course, they bumped it up.

 4 And I think that there's two things that I would say

 5 on that.  So that's one.  The history is that tha t's how the

 6 State has interpreted.

 7 And number two, that the State's formula for doin g

 8 that or the State's interpretation of Article 3, Section 26

 9 just doesn't work.  And it wasn't applied -- if i t does work,

10 it wasn't applied evenly.  Because if you take Hi dalgo County,

11 Hidalgo County has a population of 774,769.  The ideal district

12 for the state is 167,637.  If you divide the idea l district

13 into the total population of Hidalgo County, you get a ratio of

14 4.62.  But Hidalgo County gets four districts ent irely within

15 Hidalgo County, not five.

16 The State's testimony was that in every instance in

17 which there is more than .5 we round up.  In ever y instance in

18 which it is below .5 we round down.  That's just not the case.

19 The second point that I would make with regard to  the

20 State's interpretation of Article 3, Section 26, that

21 apparently was informed by the advice of Mr. Inte riano, is this

22 spill out and spill over.

23 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  Let me stop you here.  Are you

24 inferring that Hidalgo County was rounded up to f avor the ratio

25 of 41 and impact Representative Pena?

Chris Poage, RMR, CRR
United States Court Reporter



  1982

 1 MR. GARZA:  It was rounded down, Your Honor.

 2 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  Oh, pardon me.  Okay.

 3 MR. GARZA:  I'm just saying that the -- that for --

 4 I'm just setting out that if that's the rule, it was applied

 5 inconsistently across the state.  If it's always round down if

 6 it's below 5 -- .5, and always round up when it's  above .5, it

 7 wasn't done in Hidalgo County.  Hidalgo County is  4.62, and it

 8 was rounded down.

 9 JUDGE SMITH:  Is that the only example?  I mean, it's

10 an important example, but is that the only one th at you --

11 MR. GARZA:  Well, Your Honor, I found this one at

12 12:00 last night.  So it's the only one I've foun d so far.

13 JUDGE SMITH:  Don't worry.  We'll ask the State a bout

14 that.

15 JUDGE GARCIA:  Let me ask you, Mr. Garza, about t he

16 county line rule.  Does the Voting Rights Act ove rride the

17 county line rule?  In other words, is the county line set in

18 concrete that, you know, we ignore the Voting Rig hts Act?

19 Surely that can't be the case.

20 MR. GARZA:  And in my estimation the Voting Right s

21 Act takes precedent over state laws.  It's based on the 15th

22 Amendment.  Its source -- the Congress' authority  for enacting

23 the Voting Rights Act comes from the 15th Amendme nt of the

24 United States Constitution.  And Constitution -- constitutional

25 law is supreme in interpreting laws in this count ry.  We're
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 1 still -- Texas is still a part of the United Stat es of America.

 2 And so the Constitution overrides a conflicting p rovision.

 3 And so if there is a conflict in the law -- if

 4 there's no conflict, then the State should comply  with Article

 5 3, Section 26.  But if there is a conflict with c omplying with

 6 Section 2 or complying with Article 3, Section 26 , then the

 7 State should comply with Section 2.

 8 And I might add that in a -- in the recent Suprem e

 9 Court case I think it is fair to infer from the d escription of

10 the case that in -- that that's the opinion of th e United

11 States Supreme Court, in Bartlett -- Strickland v ersus Bartlett

12 where the Court considered how it was going to me asure a

13 minority opportunity district.  The inference -- it wasn't

14 directly addressed by the Court, but I think the fair inference

15 from that, a full reading of that case, is that i f the

16 plaintiffs had been able to prove that the distri ct that they

17 were offering was a Section 2 district, then Nort h Carolina's

18 whole county line rule would have to give, would have to yield.

19 JUDGE SMITH:  But in fairness, I mean, it may be a

20 matter of the extent of the violation.  In other words, isn't

21 it the case that lots of the relevant authority s peaks to state

22 subdivision lines as a relevant consideration?  F or example,

23 the Georgia four corners rule, as I recall, was r ecognized, and

24 there are others.  I mean, it's mentioned a lot a s a

25 consideration, not as a recognition there's an ab solute rule
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 1 that state lines or state rules never matter.

 2 MR. GARZA:  Right.  No, I think that -- I think t he

 3 Court's right.

 4 But I think the other point on this is that we're

 5 evaluating a Gingles 1 district.  And a Gingles 1  district is

 6 meant as a demonstration for the Court to determi ne whether

 7 it's possible to draw a majority Latino or majori ty

 8 African-American or majority-minority district.  But it's not

 9 meant as the -- as the remedy that the Court has to adopt if it

10 finds that that Gingles district complies with Gi ngles 1.  In

11 drawing a remedy, of course the Court would -- wo uld pay

12 attention to state rules, so long as it didn't co nflict with

13 its obligation to remedy the violation.

14 And similarly, the State can adhere to state rule s as

15 long as they don't have the effect of violating S ection 2 or

16 the 14th Amendment requirements against discrimin ation against

17 protected minorities.

18 So I think the Court's -- I think that's right.  It

19 is a balancing test of sorts.  But if you can dra w a minority

20 district that is -- that is -- that is reasonably  compact,

21 then -- and there is racially polarized voting --  I mean,

22 there's different components of Section 2, right.   The State

23 doesn't have to draw a Section 2 district.  If th ere's no

24 racially polarized voting in the state, for examp le, it's not

25 required.  So a required district would be a Sect ion 2
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 1 district.

 2 And if there is a Section 2 district available, t hen

 3 that -- the state constitutional rule must give w ay if there's

 4 a conflict, in answering your question.  And I th ink that a

 5 fair reading of Strickland -- Bartlett versus Str ickland

 6 supports that notion.

 7 But the second point that I wanted to make in ter ms

 8 of how you evaluate compliance with the Article 3 , Section 26

 9 about splitting open county lines, there was some  disagreement

10 about how that's evaluated.  And Mr. Interiano in dicated that

11 there was only one split that he could see in the  State's plan.

12 And it was his interpretation of the language in Article --

13 JUDGE SMITH:  He called it a cut, didn't he?

14 MR. GARZA:  Wouldn't call it a cut.

15 JUDGE SMITH:  In Ellis and Henderson County?

16 MR. GARZA:  Right.

17 But the State Supreme Court I think agrees with o ur

18 interpretation; that the way you evaluate complia nce with the

19 whole county line rule is you count every time a line is split

20 open, whatever the justification, to a county in developing a

21 district for the House of Representatives.

22 If you look at Clements versus Valles at 620

23 Southwest 2d, 112, the Texas Supreme Court evalua ted the

24 redistricting plan in 19 -- in 1980.  And through out its

25 analysis it talked about the wholesale cutting of  county lines.
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 1 It added up -- cutting county lines is, as they s ay, et seq.,

 2 right?  I mean, it's everywhere in the opinion.  That's how

 3 they evaluated compliance with the whole county l ine rule.  And

 4 I think that's consistent with the plaintiff's in terpretation

 5 and consistent with Dr. Kousser's evaluation in t erms of

 6 evaluating the comparing plans for county cuts.

 7 So now I turn to different examples of cases -- o f

 8 plans that were offered to the Court that we beli eve

 9 demonstrate additional minority districts under G ingles 1.  So

10 let me explain a little bit about these plans, an d I'm going to

11 focus on two plans.  There are a number of plans that the

12 plaintiffs -- other plaintiffs have offered that I think also

13 demonstrate this.

14 So the two plans that I'm going to focus on is --  are

15 plans 201 and 205.  So in the first plan we attem pted to -- in

16 plan 201 we attempted to -- using the State's int erpretation of

17 how Section 2 and the whole county line meshed to gether, we

18 drew plan 201.  And plan 201 then attempts to avo id cutting any

19 county lines or as few county lines as 283 has.

20 And the way we did that is that we included seven

21 districts between the Hidalgo and Cameron County geography,

22 splitting only one county line, the line between Hidalgo and

23 Cameron County, creating seven districts entirely  within

24 Hidalgo County.

25 Now, we don't agree -- in this plan we don't agre e
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 1 with the State that the whole county line rule tr umps Section

 2 5.  We're only assuming, for purposes of this pla n, that it

 3 trumps Section 2.  But we don't agree that it tru mps Section 5.

 4 So we reinserted the Latino majority citizen voti ng age

 5 population majority district in Nueces County.

 6 And so as a result of that we had additional cuts  to

 7 the state there -- to the counties there.  But we  had fewer

 8 cuts because of the -- of the manner in which we treated

 9 Hidalgo and Cameron County.

10 JUDGE SMITH:  Did that go into San Patricio?  Whe re

11 did that district go?

12 MR. GARZA:  It did not go into San Patricio.  It

13 created two Latino majority districts entirely wi thin Nueces

14 County and then took the Anglo district north.  T hat's the one

15 that divided Galveston County, that Mr. Interiano  was -- had

16 focused on.

17 So the ripple effect of putting the protected Sec tion

18 5 district back in Nueces County was that we spli t about --

19 took 6,000 people out of Galveston County to fill  up the

20 District 32.  So District 33 and 34 remained majo rity CVAP, as

21 they are in H100.

22 Aside from that, the plan was essentially the sam e

23 across the state.  And so by doing it -- adhering  to the

24 State's criteria, MALC plan 201 has one additiona l district

25 measured by CVAP -- HCVAP, than the State's plan.
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 1 And I believe I'm correct in that no expert for t he

 2 State and no witness for the State challenged the  compactness

 3 of that additional district that we drew in Hidal go and Cameron

 4 County or the district that we drew in Nueces Cou nty.

 5 Plan 205, however, didn't adhere to the whole cou nty

 6 line rule, as the State interprets it.  And so in  that plan we

 7 were able to draw four additional districts above  and beyond

 8 the districts that are -- that are shown in 283, if HCVAP is

 9 the measuring stick.

10 Now, one of the -- and the witnesses have varied in

11 terms of the -- of the factors --

12 Could we go to Table 70?  I'm sorry.  Exhibit 70 at

13 Page 3 of the exhibit.

14 In terms of measuring minority opportunity distri cts,

15 there's been some discussion that perhaps we shou ld use Spanish

16 surname voter registration data as the baseline d ata, or

17 whether it should be HCVAP.  So the first table t hat we showed

18 you had HCVAP.  If that's the benchmark, 201 has one more, 205

19 has four more.  If SSVR, Spanish surname registra tion, is the

20 benchmark, then the plan adopted by the State has  30 such

21 districts.  205 has 34 such districts.  And the w hole county

22 line plan that cuts the same number of counties a s the State

23 has 32, two additional districts above and beyond  what the

24 State has offered.

25 And there are other measures that each of these
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 1 plans, if you look at them in total, improve the opportunities

 2 for Latinos in Texas to elect a candidate of thei r choice and

 3 meet the standards announced by the Supreme Court  for

 4 evaluating the Gingles 1 factor.

 5 As I mentioned, plan 201 has 31 HCVAP districts, but

 6 it has 37 HVAP districts.  It has 50 black and Hi spanic CVAP

 7 districts.  It has 59 black and Hispanic VAP dist ricts.  And as

 8 I mentioned, it has 32 Spanish surname registrati on districts.

 9 Plan 205 has 34 HCVAP districts, 42 HVAP district s, Hispanic

10 voting age population districts, 53 black and His panic citizen

11 voting age population districts, 62 black and His panic VAP

12 districts and 34 SSVR districts, compared to plan  283 with 30

13 HCVAP districts, 34 HVAP districts, 47 B and HCVA P districts,

14 54 B and HVAP districts, 30 SSVR districts.

15 And the State's primary map drawer, and apparentl y

16 the adviser on the legal standards, Mr. Interiano , in

17 cross-examination did not dispute the obvious dif ferences in

18 the manner in which we drew the plans and the Sta te drew its

19 plan.

20 In addition, none of the defendant's experts, not  Mr.

21 Alford -- Dr. Alford, none of the defendant's exp erts provided

22 any testimony disputing whether these districting  plans had the

23 number of districts that we've described.  And on ly one of

24 their experts testified that there was a problem.

25 Could we put up 1.1?
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 1 So the only -- at least, you know, when I was loo king

 2 through the record, the only testimony that I fou nd in

 3 depositions or in this trial that challenged any of those

 4 districts as Gingles 1 districts was Mr. Giberson , the State's

 5 employee, the State's statistician that is a full -time staff

 6 member of the State of Texas, testified that ther e were two

 7 districts in plan 205 that he had problems with.

 8 One of them was District 81, which is a majority SSVR

 9 district, I think 53 or 54 percent Hispanic -- Sp anish surname

10 registration, and District 84.  And there's been some testimony

11 about District 84's non-compactness or odd shape.   There's been

12 no testimony challenging the compactness of Distr ict 81.

13 And Mr. Giberson, if I understand his deposition

14 correctly, only problem that he had with 81 was t hat it split

15 counties.  That was the problem.  So if we're cor rect about

16 Section 2 overriding the State's requirement for splitting

17 counties, then the only district in all of the di stricts that

18 we've offered that has any evidence at all that c hallenges it

19 as a Gingles 1 district, and the challenge was th at it wasn't

20 sufficiently compact to meet the requirements of Gingles 1

21 district, was District 84.

22 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  So assuming we believe Mr.

23 Giberson, give him credit for that, Gingles 1 in your

24 estimation still doesn't -- that it goes from 30 to 32?

25 MR. GARZA:  That's correct.
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 1 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  I'm not sure we've discussed ti me.

 2 MR. GARZA:  I've gone over the time.

 3 JUDGE GARCIA:  Well, I would think that --

 4 MR. GRAY:  I'll be giving time back to the Court,  and

 5 I'm the next one.

 6 JUDGE GARCIA:  I was going to say, since not ever y

 7 plaintiff is taking his or her 45 minutes --

 8 MR. VERA:  I'll be giving back time, Your Honor.  He

 9 could have 15 or 20 minutes of my time.

10 JUDGE GARCIA:  Okay.  Go ahead.  Okay.

11 MR. GARZA:  So we believe we've met Gingles 1 in

12 establishing our Section 2 violation.  And we don 't believe

13 that there is any credible evidence contradicting  the evidence

14 that we provided to the Court.

15 With regard to Gingles 2 and Gingles 3, as I've

16 mentioned, the requirement is the Court to evalua te the

17 evidence of racial bloc voting.

18 Dr. Kousser defined racial bloc voting as it is

19 defined in Thornburg versus Gingles.  He articula ted that

20 you -- that racially polarized voting exists when  racial groups

21 vote differently and that difference is significa nt.  In other

22 words, where votes -- groups vote differently and  that

23 difference matters in the election.

24 Can we go to Table 2?  That's exhibit -- I'm sorr y.

25 Exhibit 19 on Page 19.29.
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 1 VIDEO TECHNICIAN:  29?

 2 MR. GARZA:  So Dr. Kousser used a number of

 3 statistical methodologies in evaluating elections  in Texas.

 4 And all the experts have testified, and all the e xperts have

 5 used similar methodologies in evaluating the data .

 6 Now, I'm not going to go through every table.  An d

 7 the Court has these tables in the exhibit.  And e ssentially,

 8 the results don't change, don't alter, depending on the

 9 methodology that Dr. Kousser uses or the methodol ogy that Dr.

10 Engstrom uses or any of the experts.  And, in fac t, Dr. Alford

11 doesn't dispute the results.  He disputes the int erpretation of

12 the results.

13 And so what we have is Dr. Kousser saying that if

14 minority voters are voting at 75.9 percent for a particular

15 candidate, that they are politically cohesive; th at they vote

16 sufficiently as a bloc to meet the requirements o f Gingles 2.

17 And he further says that if non-Latinos are votin g

18 for the same candidate at a rate of 27 percent, t hat that is

19 not sufficient crossover to negate racially polar ized voting.

20 The difference between 76 percent and 27 percent is racial bloc

21 voting.  Every expert that has testified for the plaintiff --

22 for the plaintiffs has similar ranges of support for the

23 Latino-preferred candidate and similar ranges of support from

24 the non-Latino voters for that candidate.  And al l of those

25 experts have testified that that is racial bloc v oting.
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 1 Dr. Alford disputes that that's racial bloc votin g.

 2 He suggests that it should be more in the range o f 90 percent

 3 at one end and ten percent at the other end; that  only in an

 4 extreme way do you have racial bloc voting; altho ugh he did

 5 admit that there was racial bloc voting in Texas.   So I'm --

 6 I'm -- in his deposition I think there is some co ntradiction in

 7 his -- in his analysis.

 8 I think -- more salient I think in his criticism is

 9 that -- is that this voting behavior is better ex plained by

10 partisan affiliation as opposed to racial identif ication.  And

11 the manner in which he does that is he identifies  Latino

12 candidates that ran as Republicans in which there  does not seem

13 to be any increase in support from other -- from other

14 candidates, either Republican or Democrat, that p ull Latino

15 votes for that -- for that candidate.  And, there fore, he

16 concludes, as a result of that, that these electi on results can

17 be explained by partisan affiliation.

18 Dr. Kousser testified that there is a question of

19 whether the election results are driven by race o r by

20 partisanship, and that the standard methodology i n the

21 profession, in this field is to attempt to statis tically

22 identify whether partisanship is, in fact, the dr iving force

23 behind the elections.

24 And traditionally, the way you do that is you mea sure

25 an election in which partisanship cannot be the e xplainer for
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 1 the differential in voting, cannot be the reason people are

 2 voting differently.  You can look at a school boa rd election,

 3 for example, that is nonpartisan, or you can look  at a city

 4 election that is nonpartisan.

 5 In this circumstance he chose to look at party

 6 primary.  If you look at a party primary, the way  people vote

 7 cannot be explained by partisanship.  And traditi onally, that's

 8 the way you identify whether partisanship is the driving force

 9 behind the voting behavior.

10 So if we can look at 19.42.  And if you can focus  in

11 on the first race.

12 So here we have an election between a Latino

13 candidate and two non-Latino candidates.  And you  have a range

14 of support for these candidates of 83 percent in the Latino --

15 from the Latino voters, compared to five and seve n percent from

16 the Latino voters for the two Anglo candidates, i n the

17 Democratic primary.  Ms. Linda Chavez-Thompson is  not more

18 Democratic than Ronnie Earle.  They are both Demo crats.  This

19 cannot be explained by partisanship.

20 And looking at the non-Latino vote, which include s

21 African-Americans and Anglos, the level of suppor t that Ms.

22 Chavez-Thompson received was 36 percent, and the majority of

23 the non-Latino vote went for Mr. Earle and candid ate Katz.

24 Clearly, racially polarized voting in the Democra tic primary

25 cannot be explained by partisanship, a statistica l approach to
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 1 evaluating the degree to which partisanship influ ences

 2 elections.  And that's the standard, and that's t he manner in

 3 which political scientists and sociologists measu red this

 4 factor.

 5 Dr. Alford did not do a multivariate analysis to

 6 factor in for race and partisanship.  He simply l ooked to see

 7 if there was a roll-up of support for a Latino Re publican

 8 candidate.  He did no statistical analysis.  It's  almost

 9 intuitive what he did, rather than statistical an d empirical.

10 Dr. Kousser did an empirical study to evaluate th e role of

11 partisanship in elections, and he found that part isanship was

12 not the explainer that race was.

13 So we believe that on the question of Gingles 2 a nd 3

14 the plaintiffs have met their burden.  We have es tablished that

15 Latinos are politically cohesive and that non-Lat inos vote

16 sufficiently as a bloc to usually defeat the Lati no-preferred

17 candidate.

18 Dr. Kousser testified that levels of polarization

19 were legally significant, and I think the tables that he

20 produced, the analysis that he did, supports that .

21 Dr. Alford's rebuttal or response I don't think

22 measures -- measures up to disputing that empiric ally.

23 Moreover, in his deposition Mr. -- Dr. Alford adm itted that he

24 knew of no authority that defined polarization to  be limited at

25 the extremes.  And finally, Dr. Alford testified that the LULAC
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 1 versus Perry decision in 2006, merely five years ago, the

 2 Supreme Court found evidence sufficient to conclu de that

 3 elections in Texas were polarized.

 4 So turning to a brief discussion of the totality of

 5 circumstances, again, the evidence on totality of  circumstances

 6 is largely unchallenged by the State.  Dr. Tijeri na described a

 7 severe history of discrimination in voting and ot her areas that

 8 impacted on voting.  As we've discussed, racially  polarized

 9 voting is clear from every expert that testified.   The

10 continuing effects of discrimination was probably  the most

11 challenged of the plaintiffs' evidence on a total ity of

12 circumstances.  But I think the evidence that pla intiffs

13 provided was more compelling, and I think the evi dence that the

14 State provided on that issue, primarily on the ed ucational

15 question, was spotty at best.

16 JUDGE SMITH:  Can you -- I agree there was

17 substantial evidence about disadvantages in terms  of the

18 poverty issue and education.  Can you muster for us what

19 evidence there is in the record that shows that t hose

20 disadvantages directly impact the opportunity to participate in

21 the electoral system?

22 MR. GARZA:  So in his deposition Dr. Chapa was as ked

23 about that, what there -- what link there was bet ween the

24 factors that he noted.  And he referred to empiri cal studies

25 that have shown that lower educational levels, lo wer income
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 1 levels, all of those factors continue to this day  to impact the

 2 ability of those individuals from participating i n an equal way

 3 with those that have more benefits, to make more -- have higher

 4 education, have more income.  So that's the evide nce that I --

 5 that I can point to, Your Honor.

 6 JUDGE SMITH:  Well, okay.  I mean, that sounds

 7 generalized, and maybe that's all there is.  But I'm trying to

 8 understand, let's take an individual voter or a g roup of voters

 9 in a given community who have substantially lower  levels of

10 education, who are below the poverty line.  How i s it that

11 they're less able to be encouraged to register an d encouraged

12 to go vote and otherwise participate or run for o ffice or

13 whatever it might be?

14 MR. GARZA:  So I think that -- I would have a

15 two-pronged answer to the Court -- to the Court's  question.

16 Number one, I think it's -- it's generally acknow ledged that

17 overt obstacles to registration and participation  in the

18 electoral process are a thing of the past, with t he exception

19 of recently adopted measures such as the voter ID  bill.  And I

20 think there's still -- the evidence on that is st ill being

21 developed to determine if that's going to have a negative

22 impact on the ability of minority and poor voters  to access the

23 polls.

24 JUDGE SMITH:  And there was reference to some bal lot

25 security measures, as well, I believe.
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 1 MR. GARZA:  That's right.

 2 And the second thing that I would point the Court  to

 3 is that there was testimony from a lay witnesses about those --

 4 about those socioeconomic characteristics having an impact on

 5 voter turnout and voter participation, about how it's much more

 6 difficult to focus on elections when you -- when you're holding

 7 down two jobs and those sorts of things.  So I th ink there is

 8 evidence of the continuing impact of low socioeco nomic status

 9 in the -- in the population to -- that impacts on  the ability

10 to participate in the electoral process.

11 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  But is there anything in the re cord

12 or will be in the record that correlates educatio n and income

13 with actual voting habits?

14 MR. GARZA:  So again, the -- Dr. Chapa provided a

15 list of studies that he relied on that had done e mpirical

16 research, and that -- his testimony in his deposi tion was that

17 he had reviewed those and that he showed that the re was a

18 continuing relationship between those factors and  the ability

19 to participate.

20 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  Thank you.

21 MR. GARZA:  With regard to voting practices and

22 procedures that tend to enhance the opportunity f or

23 discrimination against a minority, we believe tha t the evidence

24 that's before the Court on the use of the one per son, one vote

25 principle fits into that; that is, the manner in which the
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 1 population variances were manipulated is -- fits into the

 2 formula for evaluating the totality of circumstan ces.  The

 3 State continues to use majority vote requirements  in the

 4 primaries, and that is one of the procedures and practices that

 5 has been identified by the courts to have an adve rse impact on

 6 Latinos and minorities generally.

 7 We believe that a review of the evidence leads to  the

 8 conclusion that plaintiffs have met their burden with regard to

 9 claims of violation of Section 2 with regard to t he Texas House

10 plan 283, and this Court should enjoin that plan.

11 I'll limit my discussion on the congressional pla n

12 because I think my colleagues and brethren on the  plaintiffs'

13 side can more -- in more detail describe those vi olations.

14 I would -- and I believe that the evidence that's

15 presented in the totality of circumstances in the  Section 2

16 case with regard to the use of the -- of the one person, one

17 vote issue, the evidence that this was a, quote, unquote,

18 member-driven process that meant protection of --  and the

19 testimony that this was a plan that was driven fo r protecting

20 incumbents and gaining partisan advantage.  When taken all

21 together -- not alone, but when taken all togethe r the

22 evidence, I think, proves a violation of intentio nal

23 discrimination, both under Section 2 of the 14th Amendment --

24 and I would point the Court to, of course, Arling ton Heights,

25 the standard for circumstantial -- the kind of ci rcumstantial
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 1 evidence that proves an intent case, which I beli eve in this

 2 case a lot of that evidence has been presented.  But also, to

 3 Garza versus Los Angeles County, both the Ninth C ircuit and the

 4 district court opinion, in which the Court found that where the

 5 requirements of incumbency were so closely intert wined with the

 6 need for racial dilution, that an intent to maint ain a safe,

 7 primarily white district for, in this case Senato r Joyce, is

 8 virtually coterminous with a purpose to practice racial

 9 discrimination, is indicative of an intent to dis criminate.

10 JUDGE SMITH:  Do you have a citation on that?

11 MR. GARZA:  Yes, I do, Your Honor.  756 Fed. Supp . at

12 1298.  I didn't bring with me the circuit court c itation.

13 JUDGE SMITH:  That's okay.

14 MR. GARZA:  The circuit court adopted that standa rd

15 and certiorari was not accepted, was denied.  Tha t concludes my

16 presentation.

17 JUDGE GARCIA:  Thank you, Mr. Garza.

18 Mr. Gray.

19 MR. GRAY:  Thank you, Your Honor.

20 CLOSING STATEMENT 

21 MR. GRAY:  May it please the Court.  Rick Gray on

22 behalf of the Perez plaintiffs.

23 First, Your Honors, we have virtually identical

24 claims to the MALC plaintiffs.  And in order to a bbreviate the

25 argument, we hereby adopt Mr. Garza's closing arg ument.
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 1 I have been asked to limit my comments to the one

 2 person, one vote issues, our constitutional claim  under the

 3 14th Amendment.

 4 I'd like to put in context what we're dealing wit h.

 5 Justice Stevens, joined by Justice Breyer, of the  Supreme Court

 6 in their summary affirmance of the Larios case ma kes the

 7 following statement, "In challenging the district  court's

 8 judgment appellant invites us to weaken the one p erson, one

 9 vote standard by creating a safe harbor for popul ation

10 deviations of less than ten percent within which districting

11 decisions could be made for any reason whatsoever .

12 "The Court properly rejects the invitation.  Afte r

13 our recent decision in Vieth, the equal populatio n principle

14 remains the only clear limitation on improper dis tricting

15 practices and must be careful -- and we must be c areful not to

16 dilute its strength."

17 That is what I believe is squarely before this Co urt.

18 The evidence is absolutely undisputed that there are

19 unjustified deviations in House plan 283 and that  the

20 deviations were intended for political and racial  purposes.

21 First, I want to start with the plan as a whole.  The

22 deviation in House plan 283, undisputed, is 9.92 percent.

23 There are 14 counties in the state containing 93 districts,

24 wholly contained within those counties, no spill- over, no

25 county cuts, just a county that contains whole di stricts.  Not
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 1 one single one of those is drawn to zero deviatio n.

 2 There are eight counties that have 75 districts,

 3 State House districts, one-half of the entire Sta te House of

 4 Representatives that contained deviations from as  low as 3.62

 5 percent to a high of 9.74 percent.

 6 It gets worse.  There are 52 districts, one-third  --

 7 more than one-third of the entire Texas House tha t have

 8 deviations ranging from a low of 8.88 percent to a high of 9.74

 9 percent.  We have a situation here where we have one-third of

10 the Texas House districts wholly within counties,  no problem

11 whatsoever by drawing, for example, in Harris Cou nty 24 equal

12 districts.  But do they?  They don't even make an  effort.

13 Harris County's deviation is 9.74 percent.

14 Next, I want to turn the Court's attention briefl y to

15 the deposition of Mr. Jeffrey Archer.  Mr. Archer 's deposition

16 is before the Court.  Segments of his deposition,  or excerpts

17 of his deposition are before the Court as Plainti ff's Exhibit

18 123.  

19 But on Page 56, line 11 of that deposition, when

20 asked, is there any compelling reason he can thin k of for

21 drawing districts wholly within the counties that  don't have

22 equal population within them, his answer is no.  Mr. Archer is,

23 admittedly, the -- one of the two senior people i n the Texas

24 Legislative Council who has the most knowledge on  redistricting

25 and is an adviser to the legislature in that rega rd.
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 1 I next want to briefly turn the Court's attention  to

 2 the State's main witnesses in the one person, one  vote issue.

 3 JUDGE SMITH:  Would you say that that would alway s

 4 hold true?  For example, wouldn't it be justifiab le under the

 5 existing case law in some cases to recognize, for  example, a

 6 city boundary wholly within a county to produce s ome sort of

 7 deviation?  I'm talking about what the case law s ays.

 8 MR. GRAY:  That's absolutely true, Your Honor.  I n

 9 fact, I have that laid out later in the argument,  but I'll go

10 to it right now.

11 One of the core principles in redistricting is

12 preservation of communities of interest, city bou ndaries,

13 things of that sort.  Plan 283 exhibits none of t hat.  They

14 have cut county -- cut city lines, school distric t lines, cut

15 precincts.  It is a wholesale cut across the boar d with no --

16 no attempt at all to preserve any of those intere sts.

17 JUDGE SMITH:  That's certainly an adequate answer ,

18 and thank you for that.  I just want to be sure y ou're not

19 arguing that in every case within a county that t here has to be

20 absolute equality among districts even if they ca n be drawn

21 that way.

22 MR. GRAY:  No, I'm not.  What I'm saying is if th ere

23 is some justification that falls within the purvi ew of the --

24 what the Supreme Court has laid out as justificat ions for

25 deviation, absolutely.  There's zero evidence of that before
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 1 this Court.  The State had every opportunity to c ome before

 2 this Court and say, the deviation in Harris Count y of 9.74

 3 percent is because of this reason or that reason,  show you some

 4 legitimate reason.  None.

 5 But what we have brought forward, through the

 6 testimony of both Mr. Martin and Dr. Kousser, is that it was

 7 done for political and racial purposes.  That tes timony of Mr.

 8 Martin and Dr. Kousser sits before this Court unr ebutted, not

 9 even an effort to rebut it.

10 And, in fact, the State's two primary witnesses a s

11 far as drawing the maps both, when pushed a littl e bit,

12 particularly as to District 41, ultimately had to  admit it was

13 done to protect a Republican incumbent.

14 JUDGE SMITH:  Is it your position -- and I'm taki ng

15 the racial element out of it now for purposes of my question.

16 Speaking purely in terms of partisan advantage, w hether that

17 means reelecting incumbents from the majority par ty or

18 reelecting -- or electing as many as possible fro m the majority

19 party statewide.  If that -- if that were the con sideration and

20 not race, are you saying that that can never be b alanced

21 against the need to equalize the districts under the existing

22 case law?

23 MR. GRAY:  That's exactly what I'm saying, Your

24 Honor.  If you read the Larios opinion, it clearl y says that

25 protecting incumbents is a traditional redistrict ing practice
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 1 as recognized by the courts only in the circumsta nce where it

 2 is to avoid pairings.  They make the specific poi nt of saying

 3 that protecting incumbents when it's not to avoid  pairing of

 4 incumbents is not a traditional redistricting pra ctice, and

 5 that is one of the very reasons the Larios court struck down

 6 the Georgia plan.

 7 So what -- I'm going to briefly go through some

 8 examples.  But first, I'm going to set the stage.   My primary

 9 witness, Ed Martin, which was -- seems like an et ernity ago

10 that he testified before the Court, walked the Co urt through

11 Dallas County, Harris County, Hidalgo County and El Paso

12 County, and then concluded by saying, what I've l aid out is

13 just examples of what is statewide, all through t he state map.

14 But what he said was --

15 JUDGE SMITH:  I'm sorry.  This is which witness?

16 MR. GRAY:  Ed Martin.

17 JUDGE SMITH:  Martin.  Okay.

18 MR. GRAY:  But what Mr. Martin said was that ther e

19 was a pattern of using deviation to protect or as sist where

20 Anglo incumbents were seeking re-election.  

21 And two, there was a pattern of taking minority

22 population, primarily Latino population, and over populating it

23 in districts, such that there -- such that two th ings were

24 accomplished.  One, there was the inability to cr eate

25 additional Latino districts.  And two, you put al l that vote in
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 1 districts so they lose their voice in any other a djacent

 2 district.  That testimony, which came very early in this trial,

 3 has been unrebutted.  Not one single witness in d eposition, in

 4 live testimony, not one single witness has rebutt ed that

 5 testimony as we sit here right now.

 6 Now, I want to very briefly remind the Court of s ome

 7 facts that are before the Court.  Texas grew at a  rate of 20.6

 8 percent this last decade.  That growth was made u p of -- 41.8

 9 percent of it was Latino population.  22.1 percen t was

10 African-American population.  71 percent of the g rowth rate was

11 Asian population, and the Anglo population grew a t 4.2 percent.

12 The record is clear and undisputed that 89.2 perc ent of the

13 growth in this state over the past decade is grow th of the

14 minority populations.  

15 If you will, I'm going to turn to Dallas County

16 briefly.  In Dallas County the record is clear th at the Anglo

17 population actually was reduced by 198,000 people  in Dallas

18 County.  Hispanic population grew by 243,211.  Bl ack population

19 grew by 73,016.  And the Asian population grew by  30,302.  The

20 Anglo population in Dallas County, as we sit here  today, is 33

21 percent of the total county.

22 The undisputed testimony is -- under plan 283 Ang los

23 will control 58 percent of the Texas House seats in Dallas

24 County, 8 of 6.  

25 If you will, the younger Mr. Gray, put up Exhibit  105
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 1 for me.

 2 I'm pointing this back out to the Court as an exa mple

 3 of Mr. Martin's testimony and an example of where  -- how

 4 deviation is used.  District 105 is 8,091 people overpopulated.

 5 And the undisputed testimony is it's overpopulate d for two

 6 reasons.  First, the large amounts of Hispanic po pulation are

 7 taken out by the fingers that protrude into it fr om 103.  And

 8 then that population is replaced, plus some, with  exceedingly

 9 large amounts of Anglo population from the finger  that runs

10 south, overpopulating district 105 by Anglos, the reby diluting

11 the voting strength of the minorities in 105.

12 If you would, now I want to turn you briefly to

13 Harris County.  In Harris County the Anglo popula tion was also

14 in the -- on the decline, and there's 82,000 less  Anglos in

15 Harris County today than there were at the beginn ing of the

16 decade.  The Hispanic population grew by 552,000.   The

17 African-American population grew by 134,000.  The  Asian

18 population grew by 76,827.

19 But what happened?  Was that growth recognized?  In

20 Dallas County the growth was not recognized.  In Harris County

21 not only is the growth not recognized, but one mi nority seat,

22 in fact, is eliminated, completely eliminated.  S o after this

23 redistricting process, although the Anglos in Har ris County

24 consist of 33 percent, again, of the population, Anglos will

25 dominate 54 percent of the seats under House plan  283.  13 of
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 1 24 seats will be Anglo.  And yet, they are -- und er the census

 2 they are 33 percent of the population.

 3 If you will, turn briefly to Exhibit 109.  And I want

 4 to refresh the Court's memory briefly.  How does deviation play

 5 into that, into Harris County?  District 144.  If  the Court

 6 will recall, Hispanic population for -- that had previously

 7 been in 144 was taken and put in 145 and in 147, and leaving

 8 144 underpopulated.

 9 JUDGE GARCIA:  Is that the paired district?

10 MR. GRAY:  Pardon?

11 JUDGE GARCIA:  Is that Representative Vo's distri ct?

12 MR. GRAY:  No, Your Honor.  That's Representative  --

13 an Anglo Republican's district, Representative Le gler.

14 JUDGE SMITH:  This is in east Harris County.

15 MR. GRAY:  This is east Harris County.  

16 JUDGE SMITH:  And Vo's district is in west Harris

17 County.  

18 MR. GRAY:  And the Vo district is 129 in southwes t

19 Harris County, and I'll get to that in a second.

20 The testimony is, again, undisputed in this recor d,

21 east Harris County didn't grow.  East Harris Coun ty, in fact,

22 was on the decline.  They take population -- Lati no population

23 out of District 144.  District 144 is 5,759 peopl e short of

24 ideal deviation.  Yet, the adjacent districts whe re they took

25 the population from -- where they put population in, excuse me,
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 1 145, a Latino district, 3,184 people overpopulati on --

 2 overpopulated; added population into 147, 8,236 p eople

 3 overpopulated.  The undisputed testimony is they underpopulated

 4 144 to enhance Anglo voting strength at the expen se of the

 5 Hispanic community by overpopulating the adjacent  Hispanic

 6 districts.

 7 If the -- if you would, and I don't have it cued up

 8 for you, but can you go to the southwest Harris C ounty blow-up

 9 for me?

10 Your Honor, this is where, under House plan 283, this

11 is where the Vo district used to exist.  If you w ill, go to

12 plan 283 in Harris County.  I apologize for my la ck of vision.

13 No, this is 283.  I'm sorry.  I mean, 100.

14 This is, under the current plan, the district in

15 which Representative Vo serves, the only -- the f irst elected

16 Vietnamese member of the Texas House.  And despit e the fact

17 that the minority population in Harris County is responsible

18 for more than a hundred percent of minority growt h because

19 Anglos are actually in decline, the only district  that is

20 eliminated in this plan is the minority opportuni ty district

21 currently being served by a minority member of th e Texas House

22 of Representatives.

23 JUDGE SMITH:  That was the only -- as I recall, t he

24 only Democratic pairing in the whole state; is th at right?

25 MR. GRAY:  I believe that's correct.
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 1 Now, in response to that, Your Honor, a couple of

 2 things need to be pointed out.  The population in  west Texas

 3 where there are pairings, as the Court is aware, is vastly on

 4 the decline.  That entire west Texas delegation i s Republican,

 5 so they had no opportunities but -- choices but t o pair members

 6 from west Texas, all of which were Republican.

 7 Two, the other set of pairs -- or group of pairs are

 8 in Dallas County.  Dallas County lost two seats.  There are six

 9 seats that are currently protected in Dallas Coun ty under the

10 Voting Rights Act that could not be eliminated un der federal

11 law.  So they had no choice but, in Dallas County , to pair two

12 sets of Anglos because that's the population that  was lost and

13 that had to be paired.

14 The only discretionary pair in the entire state t hat

15 was not mandated by either maintaining existing v oting rights

16 districts or the reduction of population in west Texas, the

17 only discretionary pair this legislature had befo re it was in

18 Harris County.

19 And they chose, for reasons that I believe I know ,

20 but I'm not going to get -- argue before the Cour t, they chose

21 to pair a minority member with an Anglo member, b oth Democrats,

22 and give the minority member three precincts of h is existing

23 district, and then disperse the remainder of what  you heard

24 from Ms. Winkler and Ms. Calvert -- disperse the rest of the

25 coalition in districts in which they will have ze ro voice
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 1 whatsoever.

 2 Now, Hidalgo County is kind of my poster child.  And

 3 I'm not going to go back through it in huge detai l, but I am

 4 going to point out to the Court that you have hea rd, again,

 5 undisputed testimony that roughly one-half of the  entire Anglo

 6 population in Hidalgo County is somehow or anothe r,

 7 coincidentally or not, put in District 41.

 8 Two -- if you will, bring up Exhibit 116.

 9 Two, you have heard that every single district in

10 Hidalgo County is overpopulated but for District 41 which is

11 7,399 underpopulated.

12 Three, you have heard from Mr. Interiano and to a

13 fairly large degree Mr. Downton that that underpo pulation was

14 intentional and was done to provide an election b enefit for

15 Representative Pena.

16 Four -- and this goes to a question you raised,

17 Justice Smith or Judge Smith -- as far as core re districting

18 practices, one of the core principles that has be en recognized

19 by the courts evermore is maintaining constituent  member

20 relationships.

21 What happens in Hidalgo County?  99.5 percent of Mr.

22 Pena's current constituents are moved to another district, and

23 99.5 percent of Representative Gonzales' constitu ents are moved

24 to another district.  In other words, they just f lipped the

25 members.
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 1 If there is any effort by this -- by the legislat ure

 2 to comply with traditional redistricting practice s, I would

 3 suggest to the Court that moving 99.5 percent of constituents

 4 from one district to another is certainly not con sistent with

 5 any effort to follow traditional redistricting pr inciples.

 6 JUDGE GARCIA:  And the State of Texas didn't offe r

 7 any explanation for a 98 -- 98, 99-percent switch , right?

 8 MR. GRAY:  No, Your Honor.  No, Your Honor.  The only

 9 explanation, the only explanation offered by anyb ody from the

10 State of Texas is our explanation.  It was done f or political

11 purposes, pure and simple.  And that is the very thing that the

12 Larios court says you cannot do.  You cannot do t hat.  One

13 person, one vote is sacrosanct.

14 There are -- the Court will recognize de minimus

15 deviations for legitimate purposes.  But doing it  for political

16 advantage, whether it be for the Democrats or the  Republicans,

17 is specifically not a legitimate purpose.

18 Next, I want to go to El Paso County, Exhibit 120 .

19 And part of, I think, our burden, and Mr. Garza s tated it, is

20 to establish that this plan is arbitrary or discr iminatory.  In

21 Larios that standard was met by the very facts we  have offered

22 to this Court, the effort to enhance political po wer of one

23 party over the other.  And in Larios they had the  extra claim

24 of regional political power enhancement.

25 But what they didn't have in Larios, which is
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 1 screamingly clear here, is we have using deviatio ns and drawing

 2 of lines to disenfranchise and hurt minority citi zens.  That

 3 was not the facts in Larios.  But we have in this  map, like you

 4 saw in Dallas in 103, you see it in El Paso in 77 , you have

 5 these goofy arms that are reaching up, grabbing H ispanic

 6 population and taking them out of districts in wh ich they

 7 otherwise would be able to make a significant imp act on the --

 8 on that district.

 9 There is no testimony whatsoever to the contrary.

10 Mr. Martin explained to the Court what they were -- what they

11 were doing here, the populations they were removi ng and the

12 impact it had on the voting strength of the Hispa nic community

13 in District 78, which, by the way, is represented  by an Anglo

14 Republican.

15 Now, next, I'm going to finish up and then sit do wn

16 and give time back.

17 JUDGE SMITH:  So in El Paso -- so 78 is the only

18 Anglo representative?

19 MR. GRAY:  Correct.  Well, no.  78 is the only

20 Republican representative.  I think there is an A nglo Democrat,

21 Representative Pickett.  And I don't recall his d istrict

22 number.  But if it's important to the Court, I'll  get -- I'll

23 get that for you.

24 JUDGE SMITH:  And whose district is 77?

25 MR. GRAY:  77 is --
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 1 JUDGE SMITH:  That's all right.  We can look.  I

 2 don't mean to take time away.  That's all right.

 3 MR. GRAY:  I know 78 is Dee Margo, but I can't te ll

 4 you -- Marquez is Hispanic member of 77.

 5 JUDGE SMITH:  Okay.  Thanks.

 6 MR. GRAY:  Now, I want to finish up briefly with

 7 comments on Dr. Kousser.  Mr. Garza covered Dr. K ousser

 8 exceedingly well, and I'm not going to duplicate that, but I do

 9 want the Court to focus on two statistics.  It is  unrebutted

10 from Dr. Kousser that of the districts in which A nglos control,

11 are a majority in the district, in the State Hous e district,

12 57.5 percent of those districts are underpopulate d.

13 It's also undisputed in the record, of the distri cts

14 in which minorities are a majority in the distric t, if you back

15 out the five in El Paso that have to be underpopu lated because

16 the population in El Paso is less than five -- if  you back out

17 the El Paso districts, the minority districts, 68 .75 percent of

18 them are overpopulated.

19 What that means in real world politics is that yo u

20 have excess Anglos, because you're underpopulatin g the Anglo

21 districts so that you can use those to dominate o ther

22 districts.  And what it means in real world polit ics is you

23 overpack or overstuff, whatever language you want  to use, the

24 minority -- the minority districts with minority members,

25 minority citizens, so that vote gets swallowed up  and lost,
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 1 pure and simple.  And these percentages scream ou t at you.

 2 This is not happenstance.  This is not coincidenc e.  This is

 3 intentional and knowingly, and it was done for po litical

 4 purposes.  And the record is undisputed in that r egard.

 5 JUDGE SMITH:  Do you happen to know what the 67.5

 6 percent figure is if you include El Paso?  I unde rstand why you

 7 exclude it but --

 8 MR. GRAY:  Sure.  No, I haven't calculated it, bu t I

 9 can tell you how it is.  There's 37 majority-mino rity districts

10 all total, and 22 of them are overpopulated.  And  if you add

11 the El Paso districts that have to be underpopula ted in, 15

12 would be underpopulated.  So whatever the calcula tion is of 15

13 into 37 would be that calculation.  It's still go ing to be a

14 high number, but it's not going to be as high.

15 (Discussion off the record)

16 MR. GRAY:  Mr. Garza said I may have misspoken.  If I

17 did, I apologize.  22 were overpopulated, and 15 would be

18 underpopulated, counting El Paso, because that's

19 underpopulated.  The analysis I did was using 22 overpopulated

20 and ten underpopulated because El Paso has to be

21 underpopulated.

22 JUDGE GARCIA:  And how many Anglo districts --

23 representative districts were underpopulated?  Do  you know?

24 MR. GRAY:  Pardon, Your Honor?

25 JUDGE GARCIA:  How many Anglo state representativ e
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 1 districts were underpopulated?

 2 MR. GRAY:  34.  Of the 80 majority Anglo district s,

 3 34 of them were underpopulated, and 46 percent of  them were

 4 overpopulated.

 5 (Discussion off the record)

 6 MR. GRAY:  I'm sorry.  I'm reading my -- I'm goin g

 7 blind.  34 of the 80 were overpopulated, and 46 p ercent -- 46

 8 of the 80 were underpopulated.

 9 JUDGE GARCIA:  All right.

10 MR. GRAY:  In conclusion, there has been no effor t by

11 this -- by the State whatsoever to comply with tr aditional

12 redistricting practices.

13 Judge Smith, the ones that are traditionally

14 recognized and have been set forth in the Carter versus Daggett

15 case are compactness, keeping the core districts intact,

16 protecting and recognizing political subdivisions , and

17 protecting incumbents only to the extent of avoid ing pairs.

18 None of those, not one single one of those was me t and even an

19 effort made to meet it in House plan 283.

20 What is clear and what has been testified to by t he

21 main map drawers, Mr. Downton and Mr. Interiano, what their

22 instructions were, were to draw maps to protect R epublican

23 incumbents, pure and simple.

24 JUDGE GARCIA:  How many precincts in Hidalgo Coun ty

25 were split, if you know?
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 1 MR. GRAY:  I do not know.  I know the number is

 2 exceedingly large.  And that testimony is before the record.

 3 But I do not believe there is a precise number in  the record.

 4 JUDGE GARCIA:  And in Harris County?

 5 MR. GRAY:  I do not know that precise number eith er,

 6 Your Honor.

 7 JUDGE GARCIA:  All right.

 8 MR. GRAY:  Lastly, and in conclusion, the technol ogy

 9 and the ability to play games in redistricting ha s reached an

10 all-time high.  And we are seeing in House plan 2 83 a superb

11 effort at gamesmanship.  As the Justice Stevens a nd Justice

12 Breyer recognized, there are woefully little powe r the courts

13 have now to control this kind of gamesmanship.  B ut the last

14 vestige of control is the 14th Amendment and givi ng real

15 substance to the meaning one person, one vote.

16 And when, as here, that 14th Amendment was trampl ed

17 on for -- obviously clear, to disadvantage racial  minorities

18 and to enhance the political voting strength of a  party,

19 irrespective of what party, that has to be stoppe d.  And it has

20 to be stopped somewhere.  And y'all have drawn th e black bean,

21 so to speak, to stand up and be the stop sign.  T hank you.

22 JUDGE GARCIA:  Thank you.

23 Ms. Perales.

24 MS. PERALES:  Good morning, Your Honor.  I believ e my

25 staff is setting up at the table here.
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 1 JUDGE GARCIA:  Ms. Perales, we're going to take a

 2 brief break.

 3 (Recess at 9:45 a.m., change of reporters)
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 1 *-*-*-*-*-*-*-* 

 2 MS. PERALES:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Two quick 

 3 things.  First, we would like to move into evidence without 

 4 objection Exhibits 200 through 420. 

 5 MR. MATTAX:  No objection. 

 6 JUDGE GARCIA:  All right.  Those are admitted. 

 7 MS. PERALES:  And also, Your Honor, with the Court's 

 8 permission, I would like to move one of my staff, Mr. Matt 

 9 Garcia.  He is not an attorney, but I would like to move him 

10 here in front of the rail, because he knows the exhibit list 

11 very, very well. 

12 JUDGE GARCIA:  Sure.  Of course.   

13 MS. PERALES:  Thank you.   

14 MR. MATTAX:  I have nothing. 

15 MS. PERALES:  Good morning again.  The Latino Task 

16 Force plaintiffs present claims under the Voting Rights Act 

17 and the Fourteenth Amendment for Latino voters.  The Court is 

18 already familiar with our claim under Section 5 that the plans 

19 at issue are not enforceable until Texas obtains preclearance.  

20 Defendants don't dispute this claim and I won't elaborate on 

21 it here.   

22 The first claim for the Latino Task Force that I 

23 want to discuss today is one of vote dilution, in violation of 

24 Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.   

25 Section 2 permits plaintiffs to establish liability 
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 1 by showing disparate impact.  The main case is Thornburg 

 2 versus Gingles.  Thornburg sets out a four-step test that 

 3 plaintiffs must meet to establish a Section 2 violation.   

 4 Aside from our disparate impact case, Section 2 and 

 5 the Fourteenth Amendment allow a plaintiff to prevail by 

 6 showing disparate treatment, intentional racial 

 7 discrimination.   

 8 In a redistricting context, intentional 

 9 discrimination can be shown in either of two ways, intentional 

10 vote dilution or improper use of race in redistricting.  Taken 

11 together, the evidence in the case demonstrates that Texas 

12 violated Section 2 by not creating additional Latino 

13 opportunity districts in the House and congressional plans.   

14 Quite simply, all of the preconditions for creating 

15 additional Latino opportunity districts are there, but the 

16 State did not create a single additional district in either 

17 the State House or the congressional plan.  In addition, there 

18 is enough direct and circumstantial evidence to support a 

19 finding of intentional discrimination in the drawing of the 

20 two plans.   

21 I will start first with vote dilution in the State 

22 House plan.  The Latino Task Force plaintiffs focus on 

23 three areas, Nueces County, Cameron-Hidalgo, and El Paso.  

24 This is the benchmark plan for Nueces County.  In the 

25 benchmark, Nueces County has three House districts.  Two of 
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 1 them are wholly contained in Nueces County, 34 and 33, and 

 2 they are both Latino majority districts.   

 3 The percentages you see there are Hispanic citizen 

 4 voting age population.  HD-34 fully contains 58.2 percent 

 5 HCVAP.  HD-33, which is the small orange district, 

 6 60.4 percent Hispanic CVAP.   

 7 The third district that involves Nueces County is an 

 8 Anglo majority district that flows from Nueces County out into 

 9 San Patricio and Aransas Counties, and that is the way it is 

10 drawn in the benchmark.   

11 In the adopted plan, one of the Latino majority 

12 districts is deleted.  You will see the small orange district 

13 is now gone, and the Anglo majority district pulls down into 

14 Nueces County.  That is District 32.   

15 The boundary for the Nueces County Anglo district 

16 pushes Latinos westward into one district, eliminating the 

17 second Latino majority district, so there is no orange 

18 district here.   

19 This district has pulled down and is now pushing 

20 Latino population over here, and you will see the HCVAP is 

21 significantly higher in the one remaining Latino majority 

22 district.   

23 JUDGE SMITH:  But there is no county cut, right? 

24 MS. PERALES:  That is correct, Your Honor.  There is 

25 no county cut in the adopted plan here.   
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 1 There is no fact dispute with respect to the 

 2 elimination of the Latino majority House District 33.  If you 

 3 look for 33 now in the adopted map, you will find it be 

 4 located to Rockwall County, where it is not a Latino majority 

 5 district. 

 6 JUDGE SMITH:  And that is in the Dallas area? 

 7 MS. PERALES:  Yes, Your Honor.   

 8 You have heard some talk about the Gingles 

 9 preconditions.  Thornburg versus Gingles provides for these 

10 three preliminary preconditions before the Court moves to the 

11 totality of the circumstances.   

12 So moving through the preconditions, the first one 

13 asks whether the Latino population is sufficiently large and 

14 geographically compact to comprise the majority of a district.  

15 This has been flushed out fairly recently by the Supreme Court 

16 in 2009 in Bartlett versus Strickland, setting out the 

17 standard that a majority means 50 percent plus one.   

18 And also, there has been case law here in the Fifth 

19 Circuit for some time that the relevant standard is citizen 

20 voting age population.  That is Campos versus City of Houston, 

21 and also subsequent cases most recently in the Fifth Circuit, 

22 I think it is Reyes versus Farmers Branch.   

23 We know that the Latino population in Nueces County 

24 is sufficiently numerous and compact to comprise a majority of 

25 citizen voting age population of two districts, because Nueces 
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 1 County does have those two districts right now in the 

 2 benchmark.   

 3 As you can see from the Latino Task Force 

 4 demonstration map, H-292, with the new deviations and the new 

 5 requirements following the census, two districts can be drawn 

 6 with at least 50-percent Hispanic citizen voting age 

 7 population.  The small orange district has returned.   

 8 You will see now that the third district, there is a 

 9 portion of Nueces County now that flows northward, as it did 

10 in the benchmark plan, and that is House District 30.   

11 And, yes, Your Honor, that is a county cut there in 

12 this proposed demonstrative. 

13 With respect to racially polarized voting, the 

14 second and the third Gingles preconditions have to do with 

15 racially polarized voting.  And they ask, first, in this 

16 context, do Latinos vote cohesively?  And do Anglos vote as a 

17 block normally to defeat the Latino-preferred candidate?   

18 You heard Mr. Garza speak earlier that there is 

19 general consensus that racially polarized voting is a majority 

20 difference in candidate preference.  Dr. Alford came and 

21 suggested that the standard could be quite -- much higher than 

22 that, meaning 90 percent-ten percent as his standard for very 

23 clearly demonstrated racially polarized voting.   

24 I simply wanted to point the Court's attention to 

25 the Gingles case 478 US at 58-59, where the Court is 
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 1 discussing the findings at the district court level, and 

 2 finding white crossover vote between eight and 50 in the 

 3 primary and 28 percent and 49 percent in the general election.  

 4 These levels were found to be racially polarized voting in the 

 5 seminal case.   

 6 In this case, Dr. Engstrom studied the levels of 

 7 polarization between Latinos and nonLatinos in Nueces County 

 8 and concluded that voting is racially polarized.  And those 

 9 tables are in his report.   

10 Latinos voted cohesively for their candidate of 

11 choice, and Anglos typically voted as a block against the 

12 Latino-preferred candidate in Nueces County.   

13 There also has been some mention of Senate factors, 

14 and I won't go through each one of them here, but the Senate 

15 factors, also known as the Zimmer factors, were adopted by the 

16 Court in the Gingles decision and basically assist this Court 

17 in making a finding under the totality of the circumstances.   

18 And the question is whether here under the totality 

19 of the circumstances minority voters in the new plan have less 

20 opportunity to elect their candidate of choice, with all of 

21 this taken into consideration. 

22 And so to sum up with respect to Nueces County, the 

23 two districts, both over Hispanic voting age population, 

24 racially polarized voting findings, Dr. Tijerina, which found 

25 a history of discrimination and a legacy of past 
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 1 discrimination in Texas; and finally, one of the nine lay 

 2 witnesses that we did not present live, but whose declaration 

 3 has been offered, lay witness and Nueces County resident 

 4 Dr. Robert Bezdek talked about both racially polarized voting 

 5 in his declaration, as well as Senate factors. 

 6 Next, Cameron and Hidalgo.  In the two counties of 

 7 Cameron and Hidalgo, now, the upper map is the Latino Task 

 8 Force map, and the lime green district here is one way to draw 

 9 the additional district that bridges Cameron and Hidalgo 

10 County.   

11 Down here is the adopted plan.  You will see two 

12 districts in Cameron, and then it is still going north from 

13 Cameron.  And then you will see one, two, three, four 

14 districts in Hidalgo, with the spill going into Starr County 

15 and outwards like that.  These are the differences between the 

16 two maps.   

17 Certainly, it is -- I think it is also, again, 

18 undisputed that the State's adopted plan does not create the 

19 additional district which essentially organically grew in this 

20 location.   

21 If you just spill the overpopulation with Cameron 

22 and Hidalgo toward each other, you get this lime green 

23 district or some iteration of it.  Instead, the State spilled 

24 northwards here and northwards there and did not create the 

25 district that essentially grew in place.   
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 1 The end result is that there is no additional Latino 

 2 majority House district created in the Valley or anywhere 

 3 else.  The spill that the State creates does not resolve 

 4 itself into another Latino majority additional district 

 5 anywhere else in the map.   

 6 The preconditions under Gingles are also met in 

 7 Cameron and Hidalgo Counties.  We have also introduced 

 8 evidence that under the totality of the circumstances, Latinos 

 9 in this area do not have any equal opportunity to elect 

10 representatives of their choice without the creation of this 

11 new district, where the population warrants it.   

12 The Court heard live from Judge Ramon Garcia from 

13 Hidalgo County.  There is also the declaration of an 

14 additional lay witness, a former Catholic priest working in 

15 Cameron County in the colonias of Cameron Park, and his name 

16 is Michael Seifert.   

17 So here it is.  The legal issue, we believe, has 

18 been well teed up.  What happens when there is a conflict 

19 between the Texas county line rule and the obligations under 

20 the Voting Rights Act to create a Latino opportunity district?   

21 We believe the facts are fairly clear that Chairman 

22 Solomons, as he described his thought process, he said in his 

23 mind, he was going to follow the Texas Constitution when 

24 confronted with a conflict.   

25 And he also mentioned that he felt that he needed 

Karl H. Myers, CSR, RMR, CRR - (210) 212-8114



  2027

 1 direction from the Court, preferably, the United States 

 2 Supreme Court, to be able to cut a county line for the 

 3 purposes of complying with the Voting Rights Act.  

 4 We believe that the Voting Rights Act does prevail 

 5 in a conflict with the county line rule.  Always in these 

 6 situations, it doesn't mean that the county line rule would go 

 7 away completely.   

 8 The State always has interests when it is 

 9 redistricting, and it has rules like this, and the State had 

10 rules before White vs. Regester to have multimember districts 

11 inside counties.   

12 States will always have strong interests in their 

13 redistricting criteria, but we believe that where there is a 

14 direct conflict, such as the areas that we showed you a moment 

15 ago, that the county line rule has to yield and that the 

16 federal Voting Rights Act does prevail, and it is a basic 

17 preemption principle.   

18 In terms of the numbers of cuts, the demonstration 

19 map that was offered -- and I do stress demonstration, because 

20 a remedial map could be drawn in a very different way.  The 

21 demonstration map offered by the Latino Task Force, according 

22 to Mr. Interiano's testimony, had five cuts that were in 

23 addition to the required cuts.  We believe that five cuts in 

24 254 counties in order to comply with the Voting Rights Act is 

25 reasonable. 
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 1 JUDGE SMITH:  What is your -- you cited several 

 2 authorities, but if you were to focus on one, what is your 

 3 strongest case law authority for this issue of the county line 

 4 rule versus the VRA? 

 5 MS. PERALES:  I would starts with Katzenbach vs. 

 6 Morgan, which was a case involving whether New York state had 

 7 to give up on its English literacy requirement when confronted 

 8 with a federal requirement to provide language assistance in 

 9 voting, so it is in the voting context.   

10 It is an older case.  It is from around the time I 

11 was born, 1965, 1966, but it is an oldie but a goody.  And I 

12 found it last night at about 2:00 in the morning, because I 

13 just knew that I was going to get this question.  I think 

14 there are probably others, and we would be happy to provide 

15 them in our post trial brief. 

16 Next, moving to El Paso County.  The Gingles 

17 preconditions are also met in El Paso County, where the State 

18 created four districts as Latino opportunity districts and one 

19 district that is not.   

20 In addition to the information provided by the 

21 expert witnesses, we have the testimony of two lay witnesses 

22 from El Paso County supporting the necessary findings under 

23 the totality of circumstances.   

24 The district that is not the Latino opportunity 

25 district is less than 50-percent Spanish surname voter 
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 1 registration.  The other districts are all at 65 percent or 

 2 higher.   

 3 There were some questions earlier about whether the 

 4 two -- I guess that we referred to them as claws or arms of 

 5 District 77, following whole precincts.  We prepared this 

 6 demonstrative for the Court to show that it does not.   

 7 These arms split precincts here, in the more eastern 

 8 portion.  They split precincts in here.  And then moving down 

 9 along here, there are split precincts in the western arm as 

10 well.  So the boundaries of HD-78 do not consistently follow 

11 precinct boundaries.  That is, of course, a traditional 

12 redistricting criteria.   

13 Another question that came up from the Court -- and 

14 this one might be harder to see with the lights, but I think 

15 we will try our best.  There was a question whether the two 

16 arms of -- you could call them the arms of 77 wrapping around 

17 78.   

18 We are following the edges of a mountain range.  And 

19 you can see in this area here that the arms do not follow the 

20 edge of the mountain range.  The mountain range goes all the 

21 way down here and comes all the way back up and around, and 

22 you will see here that the arms do not follow along the edge 

23 of the mountain range, and then the district boundary cuts 

24 across the mountains there. 

25 What the arms do line up with very well is theme 
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 1 shading for Hispanic citizen voting age population, but it 

 2 doesn't line up perfectly.  We think it lines up fairly well, 

 3 compared to some of the other possible criteria that the lines 

 4 could have been following. 

 5 The boundary follows denser populations of Hispanic 

 6 citizen voting age population.  The shapes that you see there 

 7 with the shading are block groups.  They are not precincts, so 

 8 we believe that this boundary follows census block groups.  

 9 And at that level, of course, election data is not available.  

10 The only thing that is available is at the block group level 

11 that would be relevant here, race, age, and certain other 

12 demographic characteristics.   

13 Our lay witness Carmen Rodriguez testifies in her 

14 declaration regarding the lack of traditional redistricting 

15 criteria in the creation of HD-78.   

16 In the Latino Task Force demonstration plan, we show 

17 that it is very possible to even out the Latino population and 

18 create five Latino opportunity districts in El Paso County.  

19 The districts are compact.  The Latino Task Force proposal is 

20 on the left.  The districts are compact, and they have a 

21 Spanish surname voter registration of 88 percent, 90 percent, 

22 67 percent, 68 percent, and 65 percent.  So they are all 

23 65 percent or higher. 

24 JUDGE GARCIA:  And that is four of them, right? 

25 MS. PERALES:  That will be all five. 
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 1 JUDGE GARCIA:  Oh.  All five? 

 2 MS. PERALES:  All five. 

 3 JUDGE GARCIA:  How many are currently Latino 

 4 districts? 

 5 MS. PERALES:  Four. 

 6 JUDGE GARCIA:  Four.  Okay. 

 7 MS. PERALES:  So there is the creation of the fifth 

 8 district, simply by rearranging the boundaries, smoothing out 

 9 the claws, following neighborhood lines.  It is a very 

10 natural -- this is a very Latino county.   

11 Overall, the impact of the House plan is to 

12 eliminate a Latino opportunity House district, that one being 

13 in Nueces County, and then create no new Latino opportunity 

14 House districts.  The new plan subtracts political 

15 opportunities, despite the dramatic growth of Latinos in 

16 Texas. 

17 In addition to the disparate impact, the evidence 

18 presented at trial included testimony that the redistricting 

19 process for the House plan did not take into account the 

20 concerns of minority legislators.   

21 It is both a substantive and procedural departure 

22 for legislative leadership to abdicate their role as 

23 supervisors of this process.  You heard a lot of witnesses 

24 testify:  Once I got the drop-in county, I never looked.   

25 The lawyer responsible for advising the Speaker and 
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 1 the Chairman didn't look once he got the drop-in county.  The 

 2 Chairman didn't look, once he got the drop-in county.  He 

 3 said:  I was depending on my lawyers to tell me.   

 4 But basically, everybody turned their back on these 

 5 counties.  They got them.  They dropped them in.  And that is 

 6 not normal, either substantively or procedurally. 

 7 There should have been an inquiry, certainly a much 

 8 more vigorous inquiry into compliance with the Voting Rights 

 9 Act.   

10 And then also, in certain instances, as I pointed 

11 out in HD-78, the new district boundaries represented 

12 departures from the normal substantive considerations, such as 

13 respecting existing precinct boundaries or neighborhoods.   

14 I would like to move now to the congressional 

15 redistricting plan and begin with South Texas.   

16 Here we are in the South Texas benchmark.  There are 

17 six opportunity districts in the benchmark.  Congressional 

18 District 16 in El Paso, big West Texas, 23.  We have the 

19 incumbent labels on at the moment, but we are going to also 

20 show some additional information.  Congressional District 20 

21 in San Antonio, Congressional District 28, Congressional 

22 District 15, and Congressional District 27. 

23 Here are the districts again, with labels showing 

24 their Hispanic citizen voting age population.  All of these 

25 districts have a majority Hispanic citizen voting age 
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 1 population, and all of them have elected the Latino-preferred 

 2 candidate in either every recent election or in two-thirds of 

 3 the elections since their revision in 2006, following the 

 4 Supreme Court decision. 

 5 These districts meet the definition used by John 

 6 Alford for Latino opportunity districts.  He offered two 

 7 variations on a very well-accepted theme.  There is an 

 8 opportunity for Hispanics to comprise the majority of 

 9 turned-out vote.  Hispanics are sufficiently cohesive, that 

10 when they vote cohesively, they can control the outcome.  All 

11 of these districts meet that description.   

12 Similarly, majority Spanish surname voter 

13 registration, Latinos are voting cohesively, electing a 

14 Latino-preferred candidate a majority of the time.  Again, all 

15 of these districts meet Dr. Alford's definitions of Latino 

16 opportunity district.   

17 And very importantly, they were all overpopulated.  

18 As mentioned in opening argument, there was enough 

19 overpopulation across the Latino majority districts in South 

20 Texas to comprise three quarters of an additional district.  

21 That would be the seventh district in this region.   

22 If you add them all up together, we put the labels, 

23 and then we added, you get about -- a little over half a 

24 million people, and the new ideal is 698,000.   

25 Not only did these Latino congressional districts 
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 1 increase in their overall population, they became more 

 2 concentrated in their Latino population.  So for each of these 

 3 districts, District 15, this is the Latino population in the 

 4 district in 2000, under the 2000 census, for Hispanic citizen 

 5 voting age.   

 6 And then the second bar, the bar behind, is the 

 7 Latino citizen voting age population in the benchmark, and 

 8 under the 2005 to 2009 HCS estimates for Hispanic citizen 

 9 voting age population.  So they became more numerous.  They 

10 became more densely Hispanic. 

11 But the State's adopted congressional plan creates 

12 only six Latino opportunity districts in South Texas, the same 

13 number that are there already.   

14 I am not sure why this is the redistricting year for 

15 Nueces County, but it plays a very important role in both the 

16 House map and the congressional map.  Nueces County, in the 

17 congressional plan, is removed from its traditional location 

18 anchoring a Latino majority district in the Gulf Coast.  That 

19 is benchmark 27.   

20 Nueces County is majority Hispanic citizen voting 

21 age population.  Nueces County is almost half the size of a 

22 congressional district, and in the benchmark contains the 

23 majority of registered voters in Congressional District 27.   

24 So when you look at 27 in the benchmark, most of the 

25 registered voters are in Nueces County.  And perhaps as a 

Karl H. Myers, CSR, RMR, CRR - (210) 212-8114



  2035

 1 reflection of that, Nueces County has hosted the home of the 

 2 incumbent, whether it was Solomon Ortiz or Blake Farenthold, 

 3 for the 30 years since its creation.  It was clearly a very 

 4 important part of benchmark 27. 

 5 What happens now is that Nueces County is placed in 

 6 a district where Latinos cannot elect their candidate of 

 7 choice.  That is not in dispute.  And Dr. Alford testified 

 8 very succinctly that the creation of Congressional District 34 

 9 is a swap for 27.   

10 But the problem created by the removal of Nueces 

11 County from the South Texas configuration of districts is not 

12 cured by simply drawing a replacement district.   

13 When you remove a piece of geography like Nueces 

14 County that is Latino majority, and almost half the size of a 

15 congressional district by itself, you make it impossible to 

16 draw seven Latino opportunity districts in this region.   

17 This is the demonstration plan showing Hispanic 

18 citizen voting age population, and this is offered by the 

19 Latino Task Force.   

20 In the Latino Task Force demonstration plan, there 

21 are seven Latino opportunity districts in this part of the 

22 state, and, of course, Nueces County is a vital part of that.  

23 We need Nueces County's population, being almost half a 

24 congressional district and being majority Hispanic, in order 

25 to draw the seven opportunity districts.   
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 1 And their Hispanic citizen voting age populations 

 2 are very healthy, the new district here, and we dropped the 

 3 State's version of CD-35 into our map to show that whatever 

 4 considerations the State had in drawing this additional 

 5 district, the way that they did it, because it didn't look 

 6 like the way that we had originally proposed it in the 

 7 session, whatever the considerations are leading to this 

 8 district, we can accommodate that and still create seven 

 9 Latino opportunity districts.   

10 This, by the way, is a performing district, a Latino 

11 opportunity district.  It meets all of the criteria under 

12 Thornburg versus Gingles.  And in terms of its location, it is 

13 a reflection, essentially, on the south side of I-35 from a 

14 current district that has been there for some time, 

15 Congressional 21.  It is represented by Lamar Smith, and it 

16 connects San Antonio and Austin. 

17 Ryan Downton, the State's congressional mapper, 

18 testified that these districts proposed by the Latino Task 

19 Force, are all opportunity districts, and he testified it was 

20 certainly possible to draw the districts this way, if you 

21 didn't make a political choice to do it otherwise. 

22 JUDGE SMITH:  You are saying that District 35 in 

23 C-190 is identical to District 35 in C-185? 

24 MS. PERALES:  Yes, Your Honor.  It is identical. 

25 JUDGE SMITH:  All right. 

Karl H. Myers, CSR, RMR, CRR - (210) 212-8114



  2037

 1 MS. PERALES:  And the testimony of Ryan Downton, 

 2 although I don't have it on the slide, is transcript 947 to 

 3 950. 

 4 JUDGE GARCIA:  Now, we heard testimony that district 

 5 twenty -- that the south side of San Antonio was split into 

 6 three congressional districts; was that true? 

 7 MS. PERALES:  It is, Your Honor.  It doesn't have to 

 8 be, but it is in this particular version of seven opportunity 

 9 districts. 

10 JUDGE GARCIA:  Okay.  So under your plan, is the 

11 south side under one district now? 

12 MS. PERALES:  No, Your Honor, because the State's 

13 version of CD-35, that we dropped into our map as a 

14 demonstration, does make that cut through the south side, but 

15 in the original plan that we offered, which is called plan 

16 C-122, which is in the Court's map binder, keeps the south 

17 side more or less together. 

18 JUDGE GARCIA:  But you prefer this map? 

19 MS. PERALES:  No, Your Honor.  We simply prefer a 

20 configuration that creates seven opportunity districts. 

21 JUDGE GARCIA:  Okay. 

22 MS. PERALES:  We had originally offered an I-35 

23 district that did look a little bit different from this, that 

24 kept the south side more intact, but it was important for us 

25 at this stage, with an adopted map, to demonstrate that 
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 1 deferring even to what the State did with the new I-35 

 2 opportunity district, we could still create the remaining six. 

 3 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  This is just your Gingles map, to 

 4 satisfy that element.  This is not necessarily your 

 5 remediation map? 

 6 MS. PERALES:  That is correct, Your Honor, but 

 7 simply to show that if we had dropped our original I-35 

 8 district in here, we thought there might have been questions 

 9 from the Court regarding some of the State's concerns, 

10 motivations, criteria, so we wanted to show that it was 

11 possible to do it this way as well. 

12 JUDGE GARCIA:  All right.  Thank you. 

13 MS. PERALES:  In the State's adopted plan -- if I 

14 can go back -- Dr. Alford testified yesterday that he does not 

15 count District 23 as among the effective minority districts in 

16 the new plan.  Here he is saying, in various ways:  I 

17 certainly wouldn't count and don't -- in all of this 

18 discussion, I haven't counted the 23rd as an effective 

19 minority district in the newly adopted plan.   

20 And then later on, a couple of pages, some pages 

21 later:  I don't count 23 as one of the seven performing 

22 districts when I evaluate C-185. 

23 So what did happen to Congressional District 23?  It 

24 is undisputed that the numbers of Spanish surname registered 

25 voters went up slightly, approximately two percent.  It is 
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 1 also undisputed that the election performance of Congressional 

 2 23 was changed so that now, according to the State's analysis, 

 3 it elects only one out of ten Latino-preferred candidates.   

 4 There is some dispute about how many elections 

 5 should have been looked at in the original set.  We talked 

 6 with Mr. Downton on the stand.  But if you include all 

 7 thirteen racially contested elections, generals since 2002, 

 8 Congressional District 23 was performing about six out of 

 9 thirteen times in reaggregated elections.   

10 What is more important to Dr. Engstrom, and to the 

11 Latino Task Force plaintiffs, is that it had successfully 

12 elected itself on all four selections the Latino-preferred 

13 candidate in 2006 and 2008.   

14 It isn't really even that important whether it was a 

15 performing district or not in the benchmark.  It is a more 

16 important issue, I think, for Section 5.   

17 For Section 2, the question is, how many districts 

18 ought to be drawn to provide a fair opportunity to Latinos?  

19 And there is simply no question that in this new plan, CD-23 

20 is not an opportunity district.   

21 And there are many, many commonalities between what 

22 was done to 23 here and what was done to 23 in the year 2003 

23 which led to the Supreme Court finding a vote dilution 

24 violation.   

25 For example, the changes were made, without dispute, 
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 1 were made to protect an incumbent who was not the Latino 

 2 preferred candidate of choice.  That is Mr. Canseco.  That is 

 3 just the same as the changes being made in 2003 to protect the 

 4 incumbent, Mr. Bonilla, who was also not the Latino candidate 

 5 of choice.   

 6 In both cases, there was a concern that because of 

 7 the very Hispanic nature of the district that the 

 8 not-preferred incumbent would lose in the upcoming election.  

 9 There was a concern that Mr. Bonilla would lose in 2004.  

10 There is a concern here that Mr. Canseco will lose in 2012.   

11 Geographically, there are also several similarities.  

12 In 2003, 23 split the city of Laredo and Webb County.  Here, 

13 23 splits the city of Eagle Pass and Maverick County, both of 

14 them very strong bases for Latino political participation.   

15 And you heard the testimony of County Judge David 

16 Saucedo, talking about the struggle that they have had over 

17 years to increase registration and voting, so that Maverick 

18 County can have a strong voice in its congressional district.  

19 Now, of course, it has been sliced in two, much the way that 

20 Webb County and Laredo were in 2003.   

21 Also, in 2003, heavily Anglo counties from the Texas 

22 Hill Country were moved into the district to dilute Latino 

23 voting strength.  Here, we have seven West Texas counties 

24 being moved into Congressional District 23 for no reason.  

25 Congressional 23 was overpopulated significantly, especially 
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 1 because it had to shed the overpopulation from 16.   

 2 If you count from 16 and 23, it was over 200,000 

 3 people that they needed to release from 23 in order to bring 

 4 it into deviation.  Instead, here come in West Texas counties, 

 5 Lubbock, Ward, Winkler, Schleicher, part of Sutton.  It is 

 6 very similar to what happened in 2003.   

 7 And then finally, Dr. Alford noted in his report in 

 8 2003 that he found it very suspect that the State was 

 9 underutilizing Latino majority geography in the new 

10 congressional redistricting plan.   

11 And that is certainly the case here.  Nueces County 

12 is underutilized in that sense, because it has been set adrift 

13 into an Anglo majority district, and then the whole vast area 

14 of Congressional District 23 and those counties are also under 

15 utilized, because the district does not offer the opportunity 

16 to elect.   

17 We would point the Court to Exhibits 235 and 236.  

18 Dr. Alford also testified, when talking to the Court 

19 yesterday, that District 35 is the swap for 23.   

20 The reason that we think that there is indicia of 

21 intent here, and we are queuing very closely now to the 

22 Supreme Court's decision in LULAC vs. Perry.  In court there, 

23 Justice Kennedy wrote that reducing the Latino electorate of a 

24 district to shore up the election chances of the incumbent who 

25 is not the Latino-preferred candidate bears the mark of 
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 1 intentional discrimination that could give rise to an equal 

 2 protection violation.   

 3 This portion of LULAC vs. Perry, we believe, is very 

 4 informative on this point of reducing the ability of the 

 5 district to elect a Latino-preferred candidate directly in 

 6 response to the concern that the incumbent, who is not 

 7 Latino-preferred, may lose his seat.   

 8 We also believe that it is yet another violation to 

 9 use race, consciously use race to swap precincts in and out of 

10 a district to ensure lower Latino turnout and create a facade.   

11 And here is the conversation that we had with Ryan 

12 Downton, the State's congressional mapper, who when asked, 

13 when he was making changes to Congressional 23, and he had in 

14 his mind these two goals, make it safer for Mr. Canseco, who 

15 he knew was not Latino-preferred, and also try to keep Spanish 

16 surname voter registration at or slightly above the benchmark 

17 levels.   

18 He systemically went precinct by precinct and 

19 discussed, when confronted with two precincts that were both 

20 60-percent Spanish surname voter registration, he would pick 

21 the precincts that had higher vote count for Senator McCain in 

22 the presidential election, knowing that that could have been 

23 the result of lower, relatively lower Latino turnout.  And 

24 that is part of his testimony.   

25 And we believe that that kind of race-conscious 
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 1 redistricting does constitute a violation of the Fourteenth 

 2 Amendment and Section 2. 

 3 JUDGE SMITH:  Do you have a record cite or page cite 

 4 for that last statement? 

 5 MS. PERALES:  No, but I will put it in my post-trial 

 6 brief, Your Honor. 

 7 JUDGE SMITH:  It's okay. 

 8 MS. PERALES:  The exhibits that we would point the 

 9 Court to are Plaintiff's Exhibits 235 and 236, which were the 

10 plan overlap analysis that we did to demonstrate that we 

11 believe that these precincts were swapped out systemically to 

12 create a district where Latino Spanish surname voter 

13 registration might have been a point or two higher.  The 

14 actual Latino participation was lower.   

15 Finally, moving to other portions of the map that 

16 the Latino Task Force plaintiffs have proposed.  In Dallas, 

17 there has been some testimony whether or not it is possible to 

18 draw a Latino citizen voting age majority district in the 

19 Dallas-Fort Worth area.   

20 The Latino Task Force demonstration map has such a 

21 district.  It is over 50-percent Latino citizen voting age, 

22 and includes areas of Dallas County and Tarrant County.   

23 In summary, with respect to the Dallas-Fort Worth 

24 proposed district, there is certainly a lot of interest in the 

25 Latino community to see a Dallas-based congressional district.  
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 1 Latinos are aware that they are the plurality of total 

 2 population in Dallas County.   

 3 And there is also interest from Representative Smith 

 4 and at least portions of the congressional delegation.  

 5 Representative Smith advocated for a Latino majority district 

 6 in the Dallas-Fort Worth area; that was approximately 

 7 61-percent Hispanic voting age population.  And the exhibit 

 8 for that plan is in Exhibit 311.   

 9 Dr. Engstrom found that voting is racially 

10 polarized, and we had lay witness testimony from Alex Jimenez, 

11 who is from the Tarrant County end of the district, and also a 

12 declaration submitted from Mr. Hector Flores, who is on the 

13 Dallas County end of the district, regarding the Senate 

14 factors and the need for a district. 

15 With respect to Harris County, the -- this is 

16 Exhibit 410, and it is also showing on the screen right now.  

17 The Latino -- again, very strong interest on the part of the 

18 Latino community to see additional political representation in 

19 Harris County.   

20 What is done here is that Congressional District 36 

21 is a Hispanic citizen voting age population, majority 

22 district, flowing towards the east in Harris County, and then 

23 the old Congressional District 29 has been flipped around to 

24 the west.   

25 It is now a coalition district.  It has a combined 
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 1 black and Hispanic majority of citizen voting age population.  

 2 Here is the summary information about the two districts.  The 

 3 Latino population growth in Harris County total population 

 4 growth was almost half a million.   

 5 Lay witness Mary Ramos of Houston testifies in her 

 6 declaration regarding Senate factors and also Latino and 

 7 African-American political coalitions in Harris County.   

 8 I am ready to conclude, but I did want to show a 

 9 demonstration to answer a question that came from the bench 

10 yesterday from Judge Rodriguez.  He wanted to know what the 

11 number of growth was in terms of citizen voting age population 

12 in Texas from 2000 to 2010.   

13 The number of growth is 700, a little over 700,000 

14 more Latinos of citizens of voting age from 2000 to 2010.  The 

15 Anglo population, somewhat under half a million, new citizens 

16 of voting age in the population.  African-Americans, 273,000.  

17 Others, which is Asians or, as Chairman Solomons mentioned, 

18 native Hawaiians, that group altogether, about 133,000.   

19 So we provided that to the Court.  That is 

20 Exhibit 409 for the Court's information.  Or it could be 

21 Exhibit 336.  I am not sure.  I have both written here.  I'm 

22 sorry.  I know it is in there somewhere.   

23 In conclusion, we have a state in which the Latino 

24 population is growing significantly, and where Latinos can 

25 comprise the majority of districts in several places around 
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 1 the state, whether these are House districts or congressional 

 2 districts, but the State created not a single new Latino 

 3 opportunity district in either plan.   

 4 As you have heard throughout trial, Latinos will 

 5 vote for candidates who appeal to their values and their 

 6 concerns, and Dr. Alford testified that Latinos can't be 

 7 pigeonholed and they show flexibility in their voting, even 

 8 with respect to partisanship.   

 9 It is not accurate or fair to stereotype Latinos as 

10 robotic voters for one political party for the purpose of 

11 denying them new districts or to say:  Well, there are no new 

12 districts here because of partisanship.  It is not fair and it 

13 is not right.   

14 Latinos deserve the opportunity to elect candidates 

15 of their own choosing and to have candidates of all races and 

16 all political parties compete for their vote.   

17 Thank you for your careful attention, as well as 

18 your patience with the attorneys and the witnesses during 

19 trial. 

20 JUDGE GARCIA:  Thank you, Ms. Perales.   

21 Mr. Vera. 

22 MR. VERA:  Thank you, Your Honor.  With the Court's 

23 permission, I will use Mr. Korbel for help with the Elmo, with 

24 the Court's permission. 

25 JUDGE GARCIA:  Okay. 

Karl H. Myers, CSR, RMR, CRR - (210) 212-8114



  2047

 1 MR. VERA:  Well, while Mr. Korbel is setting up, 

 2 Your Honor, there was a housekeeping matter.  There was a 

 3 question asked, when Mr. Korbel was on the stand, and he did 

 4 want to respond.   

 5 The question asked to him was:  How many Travis 

 6 County -- what was the actual breakdown of precinct splits in 

 7 Bexar County?  And Mr. Korbel did an analysis of that, of the 

 8 new congressional plan 185.   

 9 And the most serious cuts were found in the 

10 predominantly minority areas.  And the actual breakdown is 

11 this way.  In the overall population, 30 percent of the 

12 Anglo's precincts were split.  46 percent of the African -- 

13 I'm sorry.  46 percent of the Anglo population are in split 

14 precincts.  46 percent of the African-American population in 

15 Travis County is now in split precincts, almost half.  And 

16 43 percent of the Latino or Hispanic population of Travis 

17 County is now in split precincts.   

18 So that was a question.  I am not sure which of the 

19 Justices asked that question, but we did want to get it 

20 answered, and we will submit that to the Court and the State 

21 for their review. 

22 JUDGE GARCIA:  Okay. 

23 MR. VERA:  Thank you, Your Honors.  First, we are 

24 going to adopt, of course, all of the legal arguments that 

25 have been done by the Mexican American Legislative Caucus, the 
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 1 Perez plaintiffs, and the Latino Task Force, and we will try 

 2 not to repeat that to the Court.   

 3 The very first thing that stood out in our mind -- 

 4 and, again, focusing predominantly on the congressional 

 5 districts, and the many questions that were asked of 23 and 

 6 35, and the question I asked Dr. Alford, and his response, how 

 7 he saw all of these parallels between 2003 and 2011 with 

 8 respect to CD-23 and 35.   

 9 What I put up on the board is what came out of LULAC 

10 vs. Perry.  The State had eliminated a performing Hispanic 

11 majority congressional district, District 23, and replaced it 

12 with a Hispanic majority district in a different geographical 

13 area of the state, District 25.    

14 In the end, the Court found that District 25 was not 

15 required to be drawn under Section 2 as a district 

16 concentrated minority communities, were geographically widely 

17 separated.  Thus, District 25 could not serve as a replacement 

18 district for the eliminated Hispanic majority in District 23. 

19 And I just put that one quote, because you actually 

20 see his reasoning between pages 428 and 435.  And it is the 

21 whole totality of circumstances argument.  It is not that 

22 Travis County and where it ended in 25 was 300 miles apart.  

23 That was one great factor.  But he goes into all of this 

24 reasoning of how the communities are different.  Sure, all of 

25 the numbers were there.  Remember, he did not find it 
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 1 unconstitutional.  He didn't find that legally they could not 

 2 draw that.   

 3 But we did his analysis, and the majority court 

 4 agreed with him, it could not be a replacement for a Latino 

 5 district that you got rid of, or even come close to it, 

 6 because even though they are Latinos, the communities are 

 7 different.  He went into this whole community of interest 

 8 argument and all of those things.   

 9 Now, why do I say that?   

10 Go to the next number 2, George.  Number 2.  It is 

11 our number 2, George.  It should be -- I'm sorry.  You are 

12 right. 

13 JUDGE SMITH:  While he is getting that, let me just 

14 say, I am not disagreeing with anything you just said, but I 

15 also recall that the rationale is that the rights are not the 

16 rights of a group as a whole, but the rights of the voters in 

17 those groups, so that if you disadvantage voters in one part 

18 of the state but create a district in another part of the 

19 state, that doesn't help the voters that are being 

20 disadvantaged in the first -- 

21 MR. VERA:  Well, we discussed, Judge Smith -- and 

22 you are absolutely right.  What he discussed was, is that 

23 there are different interests.  The political interests in 

24 this case, of people who live down in South Texas, along the 

25 border, are politically different than the interests of the 
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 1 Latino groups who live in central Texas.   

 2 And there was a lot of that discussion, but also a 

 3 discussion again of the communities themselves, of how they -- 

 4 everything from performing that block voting to, again, this 

 5 discussion of just how they interact with each other, the 

 6 entire totality of circumstances arguments he makes.   

 7 And the reason that is important is because when you 

 8 come back -- he did that, of course, to then get back and say 

 9 23 was unconstitutional, that it did violate Section 2 because 

10 of the voter dilution.   

11 Now, I bring you this map, which is -- I know it is 

12 part of one of our LULAC exhibits that Ms. Perales was talking 

13 about.  This was the old 23 -- I'm sorry -- 23, as you can 

14 see, as it existed in 2006.  And if you could see the overlay, 

15 the line that comes across, is what has been adopted by the 

16 legislature now in 2011.   

17 They have added, as Ms. Perales stated a while ago, 

18 ten new counties along -- all along the top.  There are seven 

19 up there, and then three down in the bottom, of Atascosa, 

20 La Salle, and -- 

21 JUDGE GARCIA:  Zavala. 

22 MR. VERA:  What they did, Judges -- I think you have 

23 heard these arguments before -- by splitting Maverick County, 

24 by removing the very core portion of the south side of San 

25 Antonio, they took out the strongest, highest voting 
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 1 precincts, or some of them, and replaced them, yes, with more 

 2 population, but with Latino populations that vote lower than 

 3 the ones they took out.   

 4 There was no need for that, no need for that 

 5 whatsoever.  As Ms. Perales stated, the district was already 

 6 overpopulated.  They could have done a number of things, a 

 7 number of things.   

 8 JUDGE SMITH:  When you say "vote lower," you don't 

 9 mean percentage returns?  You mean turnout; is that right?  Or 

10 which do you mean when you say -- 

11 MR. VERA:  The turnout.  They replaced them with 

12 precincts that were lower performing, Latino precincts that 

13 were lower performing, where the turnout was actually lower, 

14 even though -- again, the numbers -- you can do anything with 

15 numbers.  You know that.   

16 You can make all of these numbers the same, but you 

17 take out -- and if you have got a precinct where the turnout 

18 is 40 percent for the registered voters, and you replace it 

19 with the same number of voters, but the turnout is only 15, 

20 20 percent, you accomplish your goal, and that is what they 

21 did here.  One of the things they did, I should say.   

22 Going to the next -- let me see what we have.  We 

23 will go to -- go to the next one, George, number 3.   

24 What you see there on the right is CD-25.  This is 

25 the one that Justice Kennedy is criticizing.  To your left is 
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 1 the new CD-35.  Now, this is not cut to scale, because of the 

 2 size of the paper.  Of course, CD-35 -- I mean, 25, to the 

 3 right, is actually about 150 miles longer.   

 4 So what the legislature does, in my opinion, they 

 5 know how to read.  They read Justice Kennedy.  So they 

 6 thought, well, but it is the same shape almost, almost the 

 7 same, exact shape, but they shortened it by about 125, 

 8 130 miles, but they did the same, exact thing.   

 9 Now, they took out from -- I mean, you are at the 

10 southernmost point of Travis County, right before you get to 

11 Pfugerville, north of Austin, and you take it to the 

12 southernmost point of San Antonio.   

13 You have got the Latino communities in the south 

14 side of San Antonio, a few inbetween, and you have got the 

15 Latino communities -- I don't know if this works or not.  You 

16 have got the Latino communities in the northern part of 

17 Austin, some on the southeast part, but that northern part is 

18 overwhelmingly Latino.   

19 That is what they did when they did 35 -- I mean, 

20 25.  There is no difference.  And the same arguments that 

21 Justice Kennedy made, 25, exist in 35.   

22 So let's go to the next one, number 4.   

23 Now, the reason we put this up here again -- let's 

24 look at what they did before.  In 2003, to accomplish their 

25 goal for Congressman Bonilla, they split Webb County down the 
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 1 middle, right here.  Okay?  I'm sorry.  I am looking at it 

 2 wrong.  Right here.   

 3 And now in 2011, they split Maverick County right 

 4 down the middle, only to accomplish their goal.  Counties that 

 5 are overwhelmingly Latino, overwhelmingly come out in a block 

 6 for the candidate of their choice, to accomplish their goal, 

 7 they split.   

 8 They did the same thing.  This is why when Dr.  

 9 Alford was talking about -- even though we -- I didn't ask him 

10 all of the questions, he told this Court that he had concerns 

11 because of the parallels.   

12 I asked him:  Would you draw that map?   

13 He said:  No.  I wouldn't have drawn 35 like that.   

14 The other thing I want you, the Court to consider 

15 is, remember, even though 25 was not unconstitutional, when it 

16 went back to the Court, Judge Higginbotham -- he knows how to 

17 read, and that Court undid 25 themselves, put it back in 

18 Austin, in the Austin area, where it belonged.  Those are the 

19 parallels.  It hadn't changed. 

20 Go to the next slide, George.   

21 Ms. Perales talked earlier about -- and the question 

22 was asked of Harlandale, here it is, this line -- there are 

23 three congressional districts now.  Harlandale has always been 

24 in one congressional district, whether it was 23 or 28.   

25 You asked about history earlier.  You can go back to 
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 1 Congressman Kazen, Congressman Bustamante, Congressman Tejeda, 

 2 going on to Congressman Rodriguez --  

 3 JUDGE GARCIA:  That is about --  

 4 MR. VERA:  And now Congressman Canseco -- 

 5 JUDGE GARCIA:  That is about 35, 40 years worth of 

 6 history of being in the same district, right? 

 7 MR. VERA:  These congressional districts, the 

 8 communities involved, especially the south side of San 

 9 Antonio, has always remained together. 

10 JUDGE GARCIA:  Right. 

11 MR. VERA:  Maverick County has always remained 

12 together.  For only the political purpose in 2003, undisputed, 

13 they did it only to try to benefit Congressman Henry Bonilla, 

14 who is a Latino Republican.  And now they have done it again, 

15 undisputed, to benefit Congressman Canseco.  But, 

16 unfortunately, when they do it, they do it on the backs of the 

17 Latino voter. 

18 So you see there, this is Harlandale -- the line 

19 there is Harlandale.  There is 23, 20, and 35, just cut up 

20 into three different congressional districts.   

21 George, go to the next one, 5-A.  5-A and 5-B, the 

22 two maps.   

23 Can the districts be drawn differently?  Yes.  This 

24 is just a larger version of it.   

25 George, where is the 5 -- that is 5-B.  Put 5-A 
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 1 there first, if you can find it there.   

 2 I know it is hard to see here, Judge.  This is 

 3 actually LULAC Exhibit 12, 12-D, I think. 

 4 MR. KORBEL:  12-1-D.   

 5 MR. VERA:  12-1-D.  So you will find it in the 

 6 exhibit book as a demonstration map of what could be done, 

 7 12-1-D.   

 8 And show the next one, George, the one you had up 

 9 there before.   

10 And this gives you a better idea of what it will 

11 look like.  It puts back all of -- it puts back Maverick 

12 County and puts back all of the south side in Congressional 

13 District 23.   

14 And when you look at the Exhibit 12-1-D, it gives 

15 you all of the data to show that it can actually be done and 

16 comply with the Voter Registration Act, with the Gingles 

17 factors and everything else. 

18 JUDGE GARCIA:  What does it do to District 35? 

19 MR. VERA:  I'm sorry, Judge? 

20 JUDGE GARCIA:  What does it do to District 35? 

21 MR. VERA:  District 35, we have not, Your Honor, 

22 drawn -- District 35 will be moved up.  Okay?  We don't have 

23 that map for you.  What -- we have drawn a statewide map.  We 

24 are waiting for the Court to decide whether or not it finds 

25 objections or violations, I should say, and we will submit 
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 1 that to the Court as a remedy as to what we would do.    

 2 We would actually draw, I believe, what is a 

 3 minority district that can wholly be encompassed in Travis 

 4 County, between Commissioners 1 and 2.   

 5 Is that correct, George? 

 6 MR. KORBEL:  (Nods head.) 

 7 JUDGE GARCIA:  All right. 

 8 MR. VERA:  Using those two, you can actually draw a 

 9 congressional district there that is majority-minority.  It 

10 would be a coalition district. 

11 JUDGE SMITH:  So this is only a demonstration map, 

12 not a remedial map?   

13 MR. VERA:  Yes, Your Honor.  Right now, these are 

14 just demonstration maps.  The question was asked earlier, 

15 could it be fixed?  The Latino Task Force presented that one 

16 map, as a demonstration, of how it could be done.  It could be 

17 done this way too. 

18 JUDGE GARCIA:  Okay.   

19 MR. VERA:  Go to the next one, George, number 6.   

20 I am going to take you up to Dallas County now.  The 

21 Dallas-Tarrant County, you see the majority community in 

22 Dallas and Tarrant County is cut into eight different 

23 congressional districts.  There they are.   

24 Go to the next slide, George. 

25 JUDGE SMITH:  When you say "now," you mean -- 
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 1 JUDGE GARCIA:  The current law? 

 2 JUDGE SMITH:  -- the 2010 election? 

 3 MR. VERA:  Yes.  I'm sorry.  The plan as drawn now, 

 4 they want you to adopt in 2011, cuts the minority communities 

 5 into eight different congressional districts. 

 6 This is a demonstration, which, again, it is already 

 7 submitted as part of our package that shows that you can 

 8 actually draw three combined minority-majority districts in 

 9 the Dallas-Tarrant County area.   

10 You take just the minorities, a combination with 

11 African Americans and Latino Americans, and you can draw one 

12 district.  The numbers are all right there, and they are part 

13 of our package.  This district here, which is majority African 

14 American, this district here, and this district here would be 

15 majority Latino.   

16 But when you combine all three -- now, each three is 

17 a combination to take it over the 50-percent mark. 

18 Go to the next slide, George.   

19 This is a much talked-about District 12 and 26.  

20 Remember?  They totally -- this red, again, are the Latino 

21 communities and the African-American communities, and then it 

22 also -- this right here is the middle part.   

23 If you were to put this back in here, then the 

24 minority group would have a majority, but they don't.  That's 

25 why they cut this district the way they did, just took that -- 
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 1 some people call it a lightning bolt.  Other people called it 

 2 a knife.  Just took it straight out of the middle, to separate 

 3 and put it in District 26.   

 4 You take that out, put it right back in there and 

 5 combine.  This right here is part of that majority combination 

 6 district that we demonstrated in the private map.   

 7 Go to the next slide, George.   

 8 This Latino, heavily-dominated Latino community in 

 9 Dallas is taken out from everybody else and put in this 

10 District 6, combining it with all of this Anglo population 

11 community to itself, where they can take that section of 

12 Dallas and combine it with the rest of the Latino and 

13 African-American communities that they cut out and form a 

14 majority-minority district, with the African-American 

15 population being the majority.   

16 Instead, they cut it out and combined it with all of 

17 these Anglo communities to the south.   

18 Go to the next slide, George. 

19 We think this is the map that Congressman Lamar 

20 Smith gave them.  It is our Exhibit 15.   

21 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  What do you mean --  

22 MR. VERA:  And it meets all of the criteria -- 

23 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  Mr. Vera, what do you mean by "you 

24 think that is the map he gave"? 

25 MR. VERA:  I'm sorry? 
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 1 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  You said you think that was the 

 2 map he gave? 

 3 MR. VERA:  I'm sorry.  That's the map that he sent 

 4 to the legislators.  How do we know?  Because Mr. Korbel here 

 5 drew the map.  You heard all of the testimony.  If it is all 

 6 the criteria for being a majority-minority district -- they 

 7 had all of the data.  They had everything, but yet they 

 8 totally ignored it.  

 9 Judges, you released to us 400-and-some-odd e-mails.  

10 You know the conversations that were taking place, or at least 

11 the e-mails.  That is the district they could have drawn, and 

12 they just went by the wayside. 

13 JUDGE GARCIA:  And Congressman Smith wanted that 

14 district? 

15 MR. VERA:  Yes.  This is Congressman Lamar Smith's 

16 proposed district to the legislature for Dallas. 

17 JUDGE GARCIA:  Right. 

18 JUDGE SMITH:  Which would have the two -- 

19 MR. VERA:  Well, this one is majority Latino 

20 district.  That is what that one is here right here.   

21 MR. KORBEL:  33.   

22 MR. VERA:  I'm sorry.  33. 

23 JUDGE SMITH:  33.  And then 30 would be what?  

24 MR. VERA:  It would just be a normal district, Your 

25 Honor.  This would have been the majority Latino district that 
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 1 Congressman Lamar Smith proposed to them as being a voting 

 2 rights district.  That's the way he labeled it. 

 3 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  Mr. Vera, can you go back to your 

 4 CD 6, that northern part?  I am curious, that northern part 

 5 that you claim could have been put into an area -- 

 6 MR. VERA:  CD 6? 

 7 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  Yes.  -- and made a combined 

 8 opportunity district?  What I am curious about is, that 

 9 northern part, where does it fit into this map of Congressman 

10 Smith in 33?  Where is it? 

11 MR. VERA:  Show them CD 6.  Can you show them that, 

12 George?   

13 Well, you see this area here that has been cut out?  

14 You can probably see it and show them better than I can. 

15 MR. KORBEL:  This is a larger presentation of the 

16 Smith map.  And instead of using primarily Hispanic 

17 population, this combines all of the minority populations. 

18 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  Right.  Correct.  My question is 

19 not clear.  Go back to that map that you just showed us that 

20 showed CD 6. 

21 JUDGE SMITH:  The one that goes down into Ellis 

22 County. 

23 MR. VERA:  CD 6, the one that goes down to the  

24 south -- 

25 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  There we go.  That northern part 
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 1 of that exhibit, where does it fit in Congressman Smith's map?  

 2 Or does it?  That's my question. 

 3 JUDGE GARCIA:  Where is it in relation to it, 

 4 Congressman Smith's map?   

 5 MR. KORBEL:  Judge, that would be part of this area 

 6 here.  You can see it comes -- it would come out here. 

 7 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  So Congressman Smith does include 

 8 that area that you all suggest should have been put into an 

 9 opportunity district? 

10 MR. KORBEL:  Yes, Judge. 

11 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  That was my question.  Thank you. 

12 MR. VERA:  Yes.  What he put in was that northern 

13 portion. 

14 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  Thank you. 

15 MR. VERA:  Let's jump forward to number 11, George.  

16 That would be the next one --   

17 During my opening, Your Honor, I talked to you about 

18 this Austin being the mother of all cities, I guess.  

19 Everybody has got an umbilical cord going to Austin.  This is 

20 district, coming out of Houston, CD-10.  There is downtown 

21 Houston way on the right, and there is Lake Travis on the 

22 northwest.   

23 All of these are fractured Latino communities, where 

24 you see the red, done for the sole purpose of keeping the 

25 Latino communities from being together.   

Karl H. Myers, CSR, RMR, CRR - (210) 212-8114



  2062

 1 See there?  And look what they put inbetween, all of 

 2 the white Anglo population.  Here, here.  All of this is white 

 3 Anglo.  And they put the minorities up here, right here, and 

 4 right here.  That is CD-10.   

 5 Of course, you have already seen Austin and San 

 6 Antonio, and I am not going to go over them again.  But you 

 7 have all of them, Dallas, Fort Worth, Corpus Christi, 

 8 everybody has to head to Austin.   

 9 Why?  That reasoning is beyond, I think, everybody's 

10 imagination.   

11 Go to the next one, George.   

12 Staying in the Houston area, this is where they drew 

13 Congressional District 36, removing -- this is the South 

14 Pasadena ship channel area, a very high concentration of 

15 Latino voters.   

16 Instead of connecting them to the congressional 

17 districts here that were also Latino, they took it all -- this 

18 is Congressional District 36, very high concentrations, you 

19 can see, of Anglo white community voters.   

20 They could have taken this and combined it with the 

21 Latino and African-American population to form an additional 

22 majority-minority district, with the majority being African 

23 American, but they don't.  They fracture it.   

24 Go to the next one, George.   

25 The next one shows, this is the Galveston, Jefferson 
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 1 County map.  I don't know what else to call it.  What they did 

 2 again, they took all of these Latino communities here, or 

 3 African-American communities, these little pockets, high 

 4 concentrations, could have been connected to the --  

 5 Show where it can be connected, George.  Show them 

 6 on the map. 

 7 MR. KORBEL:  In here.  Jefferson County sits right 

 8 in here, and you have a heavy minority population in Jefferson 

 9 County that could easily have been connected with them. 

10 MR. VERA:  Instead of joining them together to form 

11 another majority-minority congressional seat -- again, it 

12 would be majority African American -- they purposely fracture 

13 it away. 

14 JUDGE SMITH:  So this map that you are showing us is 

15 what could have happened?  It is not the proposed -- it is not 

16 the State's 36? 

17 MR. VERA:  No.  This is what they have actually 

18 done. 

19 MR. KORBEL:  This is, I believe, 12, Judge. 

20 JUDGE SMITH:  Okay.  Because it says -- all right.  

21 Fractured from 36.  I see what you are saying.  Okay.  So this 

22 is 12. 

23 MR. KORBEL:  This is, essentially, a noncontiguous 

24 district.  This is essentially a sandbar on Galveston Island.   

25 JUDGE SMITH:  Yes.  There is not even a highway 
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 1 there anymore.  It is all washed out. 

 2 MR. VERA:  And the last one, George.  I believe it 

 3 is number 14.   

 4 This is in the southwestern part of Houston, Judges.  

 5 Again, this is part of CD-7, again, where they take these 

 6 pockets of heavy concentrated Latinos, and instead of 

 7 combining them with other minority communities, again, to form 

 8 a majority-minority community -- again, the majority would be 

 9 African-American -- they break them away and put them in this 

10 CD-7 with a very, very high concentration of white Anglo 

11 voters. 

12 JUDGE SMITH:  Now, on that one, I would have some 

13 difficulty understanding your argument, because I think it is 

14 common knowledge that in north and west Harris County the 

15 Hispanic population is fairly dispersed, and that shows that.  

16 In other words, those pockets don't connect with each other.   

17 It seems to me that it would be pretty difficult to 

18 include those in one district without fragmenting the 

19 community of interest, which is the Anglo population, 

20 particularly in the northwest part of the county.  I am    

21 just -- that's a long-winded question, but I want to give you 

22 an opportunity to respond to it. 

23 MR. VERA:  Judge, and you are absolutely right, but 

24 that is exactly what they have done all over the Latino 

25 communities.  We are not saying they should do that.  We are 
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 1 just showing you how they do it.   

 2 It is selective rationale when it comes to breaking 

 3 a community, especially minority communities, because what you 

 4 are saying, for the most part, I agree with you.  It would 

 5 require them fracturing some Anglo communities, but they don't 

 6 have -- look at the shapes of these things.  That is what we 

 7 should be calling the deer.  There are the legs and the tail 

 8 and the head. 

 9 JUDGE SMITH:  Well, as compared to a lot of the 

10 districts, that's a pretty good-looking district to me.  

11 (Laughter.) 

12 MR. VERA:  You are right, compared to some.  And 

13 George had all of these little toys that we cut out that I 

14 think we were going to use, but I didn't. 

15 Judges, you know, again, I am not going to repeat 

16 everything that has been said so eloquently by Mr. Garza, 

17 Ms. Perales and Mr. Gray, but I think, you know, two things 

18 are important, to my mind, and what I am going to close with.   

19 This whole argument of Democrats versus Republicans, 

20 that same argument has been used for 40 years.  It is the same 

21 argument every time we do a district.  It is not about race.  

22 It is about politics.   

23 The law allows, as you well know, always give a 

24 neutral reason.  Well, the reason I find that sometimes -- it 

25 is not amusing, but I have been before you several times, both 
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 1 Justice Garcia and Justice Rodriguez, and you sit in this 

 2 courtroom every day listening to people who do some of the 

 3 most hideous, horrible things, but they all have an excuse.  

 4 They all have a neutral reason to why they did what they did.  

 5 It is never their fault, but they knew what the outcome was 

 6 going to be, and they got caught, but they still have a 

 7 neutral reason to do it.   

 8 In this case, I guess what bothers me the most is 

 9 two things that I was thinking about.  You know, when I did 

10 the Miss San Antonio case -- I was smiling a while ago, 

11 because she actually walked in to watch us.   

12 She is very young.  She is only -- I guess she just 

13 turned 18.  She was 16 when we started this mess.  It turned 

14 out great.  So she just went through a big, massive fight of 

15 her own, because she was discriminated against.   

16 And I was worried to death during that whole case, 

17 and I was reading all of this law.  I was going back to the 

18 old English law trying to find a way to convince the judge 

19 that we were entitled to specific performance.  She was 

20 entitled to her crown.   

21 And I said, what am I going to do?  And I was 

22 reading one of these old English cases and it was talking 

23 about equity, and I will never forget the judge, the lord that 

24 was overseeing and hearing the case.  He looks at the 

25 barrister and he says:  Justice is blind, but it is not 
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 1 stupid.   

 2 And that stood out in my mind like, wow.  You know, 

 3 people are always going to come up with a reason to do 

 4 something.  It doesn't mean we have to believe it.   

 5 I have always believed that we have a higher calling 

 6 in doing what we do.  When I was little, my dad would make us 

 7 stand every time the Pledge of Allegiance or -- I'm sorry -- 

 8 the Star-spangled Banner, he would make us stand up and salute 

 9 while they were playing the Star-spangled Banner.  

10 He was very proud.  But I would question him and 

11 say:  Dad, why is this happening?  When we see all of these 

12 riots and police beating up on Black Americans and Latino 

13 Americans and turning the dogs on them.  Why is that 

14 happening?   

15 And my dad would always tell me:  That is my 

16 generation, son.  It will end by the time you grow up.   

17 Well, I am 55 now, and my grandson, who is now 18, 

18 when we fought, all of us here together, in Balderas and LULAC 

19 back in 2003, in the Supreme Court, 2006, when Ms. Nina 

20 Perales eloquently argued the case for us.  And my grandson 

21 was telling me, he says:  Grandpa, why are we doing this?   

22 And now he is 18, going to be 18, getting ready to 

23 graduate from high school.  And the other day he says:  

24 Grandpa, when is this going to end?   

25 I can't give him an answer.  I believe my dad, that 
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 1 it was going to end by the time I grew up, and it didn't 

 2 happen.   

 3 So I think this is what this case is all about.  It 

 4 has been 40 years.  The State has never, ever been able to 

 5 completely preclear a plan, either through the Department of 

 6 Justice or through this Court, and it has been the same 

 7 argument for 40 years that has never been accepted, when it 

 8 comes to racial gerrymandering, and it should not be accepted 

 9 by this Court.   

10 The League of United Latin American Citizens urges 

11 you to find all of the constitutional violations and the 

12 voting rights violations in the congressional redistricting 

13 plan and to give us an opportunity to give you a remedy, a 

14 statewide remedy for the plan.  Thank you. 

15 JUDGE GARCIA:  Thank you, Mr. Vera.   

16 Mr. Rios. 

17 MR. RIOS:  Thank you, Your Honors.  Rolando Rios for 

18 Congressman Henry Cuellar.   

19 Our claims are related to the congressional district 

20 plan, and they are limited to Section 2 claims under the 

21 federal Voting Rights Act.   

22 As I mentioned to the Court in my opening statement, 

23 the federal courts have been the sole vehicle for minorities 

24 in Texas to gain access to the political process.  The Equal 

25 Protection Clause of the United States Constitution has been 
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 1 interpreted by Congress through the Voting Rights Act and by 

 2 the courts through Thornburg vs. Gingles to prohibit the use 

 3 of any election system or device that has the effect -- and I 

 4 underline the word "effect" -- of prohibiting the minority 

 5 community from being able to elect candidates of their choice.   

 6 The State has attempted, as it has done in the past, 

 7 to defend themselves by claiming that what they did was simply 

 8 politics.  They were simply trying to maximize their political 

 9 power and diluting the voting strength of minorities has 

10 nothing to do with it.   

11 This is nothing new.  Both political parties in 

12 Texas have used it.  In 1990, when the Democrats controlled 

13 both Houses of the legislature and the governor's, 1990 

14 redistricting led to litigation as well, and their excuse was 

15 partisan politics.   

16 Again, I emphasize the word "effects," because 

17 partisan voting is not an excuse or a safe harbor to hide 

18 racially polarized voting.  Dr. Alford's example, when I 

19 talked to him here, and his example of at-large voting 

20 statewide would lead to all Republicans being elected.   

21 He agreed with me on two facts in that hypothetical.  

22 Number one, that the choice of the minority communities would 

23 be defeated; and number 2, that whites vote as a block to 

24 defeat the choice of the minority community.  So partisanship 

25 is no excuse.   
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 1 Elections in Texas continue to be racially 

 2 polarized.  The case law is clear that plaintiffs must prove 

 3 that polarized voting exists and it is a cornerstone to any 

 4 voting rights claim under Thornburg vs. Gingles.   

 5 The word "polarized voting," what is polarized 

 6 voting?  It has been defined by a number of experts as where 

 7 minorities and nonminorities vote differently.   

 8 Dr. Engstrom's tables, at tables 4 and 5, make it 

 9 clear that Texas continues to have a high degree of racially 

10 polarized voting.   

11 Racially polarized voting, Your Honor, doesn't mean 

12 that people are racists.  What it means is that people vote 

13 their interests, and often, when an Anglo goes to vote and 

14 sees on the ballot a Hispanic name and an Anglo name, the 

15 Anglo will vote for the Anglo name, not because they are a 

16 racist, but because they perceive that person or that 

17 candidate to represent their interests.   

18 We vote along what we perceive to be our interests.  

19 Conversely, when a Latino goes to vote and sees a Hispanic 

20 name and an Anglo name, they may vote for the Hispanic, 

21 because they perceive that the Hispanic will represent their 

22 interests.   

23 And this is voting along what a person thinks is 

24 their interests.  And that is what is beautiful about this 

25 country and the democratic process.  You can vote along racial 
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 1 lines, if you want.   

 2 And there are a lot of reasons to vote along racial 

 3 lines, and this country is built upon defending the right to 

 4 vote, however you want.  However, when the effect of that 

 5 pattern or the way people vote creates the effect that the 

 6 minority community will not be able to elect candidates of 

 7 their choice, and their voting conceivably is frustrated by a 

 8 white voting block, then the Court must intervene and issue an 

 9 injunction.   

10 The number of minorities continue to increase in 

11 Texas.  Because of the increased growth in Texas, Texas was 

12 entitled to four new congressional districts.  Four new 

13 congressional districts in Texas, 32 and 36, that is the 

14 largest increase in the country.  

15 Approximately four million people was the increase 

16 here in Texas, 90 percent due to the growth of the minority 

17 population.  As Congressman Cuellar testified, nonminorities 

18 caused ten percent of the growth, yet they got four new 

19 congressional districts.   

20 The facts show that the increase in the minority 

21 population results in the citizen voting age population in 

22 Texas to be approximately 25 percent of the total population.  

23 Proportionately, if we use CVAP, we would be entitled to nine 

24 of the 36 congressional districts.  25 percent, nine.   

25 The main line drawer for the State of Texas, Mr. 
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 1 Downton, testified that the State had given him direction to 

 2 try and draw a CVAP district in Dallas.  He said he couldn't 

 3 do it and he stopped.   

 4 In cross-examination, I asked him:  Isn't it 

 5 possible you could have drawn a combined minority district in 

 6 Dallas that would be over 50-percent CVAP?  He admitted that 

 7 that was true.   

 8 The State claims we have created some additional 

 9 Latino districts, CD-23.  In their plan, they claim it is a 

10 minority district.  However, when we look at the way those 

11 three congressional districts performed, they do not allow the 

12 Latino community to elect candidates of their choice.   

13 And when asked to characterize -- duplicitous of the 

14 State's claims, they claim that Cameron, Nueces County -- the 

15 Nueces County district is a new Latino district, when 

16 everybody knows that that district was represented by 

17 Congressman Ortiz for 28 years.   

18 And the other Latino district that they claim in 

19 Austin, everybody knows that Congressman Doggett has been the 

20 choice of the Latino community for many, many years, so there 

21 are no new Latino districts, even though they gave them new 

22 numbers.   

23 Congressman Cuellar's main testimony was the 

24 process.  Being involved in Texas politics for at least four 

25 redistrictings, Secretary of State, et cetera, he was well 
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 1 aware of the process that Texas normally uses for 

 2 redistricting congressional district.   

 3 And there has always been some deference to the 

 4 congressional delegation on how the districts should be drawn.  

 5 And, indeed, the Dallas district that was reflected in Lamar 

 6 Smith's proposal was one that we worked with with Congressman 

 7 Cuellar and Lamar Smith.   

 8 We were very excited at that time, because it seemed 

 9 possible that we might, for the first time in the history of 

10 Texas, get two new Latino districts, because the leadership, 

11 the Republican leadership was for it.  So we were very excited 

12 and completely disappointed when we saw what came out.   

13 We would urge this Court to issue an injunction on 

14 the State's congressional redistricting plan and find that 

15 there is a Section 2 violation.   

16 We would ask the Court to restore the process that 

17 should have been in place and allow the congressional 

18 leadership to provide input, should the Court find violations, 

19 so that we can pose what we think is a fair remedy.  Thank 

20 you. 

21 JUDGE GARCIA:  Thank you, Mr. Rios.   

22 Ms. Riggs. 

23 MR. RIGGS:  Good morning, Your Honors.  May it 

24 please the Court.  In this case, the NAACP plaintiffs have 

25 brought claims of intentional discrimination under the Equal 
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 1 Protection Clause and vote dilution under Section 2 of the 

 2 Voting Rights Act.   

 3 Rather than being repetitive and going through 

 4 elements checklists, in an unnecessarily formalistic way, I 

 5 would like to bring the Court's attention to three legal 

 6 issues that I think are fundamental to the NAACP's case, and 

 7 then contextualize the evidence we offered, in light of my 

 8 discussion of those issues. 

 9 First, though, I would like to set out that in this 

10 trial, we have through the evidence established intentional 

11 discrimination in violation of the Equal Protection Clause and 

12 violation of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.   

13 We have established the existence of all of the 

14 Gingles preconditions and that under the totality of the 

15 circumstances, the votes of African Americans and other 

16 minority groups will be diluted if the enacted House and 

17 congressional plans are allowed to stand as is.   

18 But to go back to my specific goal for this short 

19 time that I am up here, the three issues that I would like to 

20 discuss are coalition districts, explanations for political 

21 cohesion and polarized voting, and evidence of intentional 

22 discrimination.   

23 In past Voting Rights Act cases, examinations of 

24 vote dilution have been frequently focused on one racial 

25 group, but in today's increasingly diverse society, and 
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 1 especially in Texas, there are situations in which more than 

 2 one racial group living in close proximity have shared 

 3 interests in voting patterns and could be drawn into a 

 4 district, such that the groups would constitute a majority and 

 5 could elect a candidate of their choosing.   

 6 The decision not to draw such districts can, with 

 7 the additional satisfaction of the other Gingles 

 8 preconditions, create Section 2 liability on the part of the 

 9 redistricting body. 

10 JUDGE SMITH:  You are talking about coalition 

11 districts? 

12 MR. RIGGS:  Yes. 

13 JUDGE SMITH:  I thought Bartlett said that the state 

14 can't be required to draw coalition districts. 

15 MR. RIGGS:  I think Bartlett was specifically 

16 answering the question of crossover districts and reserved 

17 judgment on coalition districts.  And let me get to that.   

18 The Supreme Court has not directly addressed the 

19 issue of whether coalition districts, that is, combined 

20 minority populations of 50 percent or more, could satisfy the 

21 first Gingles prong, but the Court has previously noted that 

22 racial minority groups could form coalitions with voters from 

23 other racial and ethnic groups.  That was in Johnson v. 

24 DeGrandy in 1994.   

25 Additionally, in Growe vs. Emison, in 1993, the 
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 1 court, for purposes of discussion of political cohesion, 

 2 assumed without deciding that coalition districts are 

 3 protected under the Voting Rights Act.   

 4 However, decisions from a number of lower courts, 

 5 including at least five cases from the Fifth Circuit Court of 

 6 Appeals, have accepted the proposition that minority groups 

 7 can be aggregated for the purpose of asserting a Section 2 

 8 claim.   

 9 Those cases include LULAC v. Clements, which said 

10 that if blacks and Hispanics vote cohesively, they are legally 

11 a single minority group; Overton v. City of Austin; Brewer v. 

12 Ham; Campos v. City of Baytown, which said that a coalition 

13 minority group is politically cohesive if it votes together; 

14 and LULAC v. Midland Independent School District.   

15 Other circuits considering the issue have agreed, 

16 and to date, the only circuit to take a contrary position is 

17 the Sixth Circuit in Nixon v. Kent County in 1996.   

18 This interpretation of the first prong of Gingles is 

19 fitting with the intent of the Voting Rights Act, which was 

20 designed to provide a remedy when a discrete political group 

21 is kept from participating in the political process.   

22 The reality in Texas is that there are a multitude 

23 of examples where multiracial coalitions exist and operate 

24 together electorally, and quite effectively, even according to 

25 Dr. Alford.   
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 1 Congressional Districts 9, 18 and 30 are excellent 

 2 examples.  In their testimony, Gerardo Interiano and Dr. 

 3 Alford both acknowledge that African-American voters were 

 4 electing candidates of their choice from these districts, 

 5 where the black population was substantially below 50 percent.   

 6 Dr. Alford explicitly agreed that Hispanic and 

 7 African-American voters in those districts were voting in 

 8 coalition in general elections.   

 9 Multiracial coalitions in Texas, particularly in 

10 urban areas, have achieved significant electoral success, and 

11 an interpretation of the first prong of Gingles that 

12 recognizes coalition districts serves to accommodate Texas' 

13 current political reality and fits with the intent of the Act.   

14 In light of this discussion of the ability of 

15 coalition districts to satisfy the first prong of Gingles, I 

16 would like to turn to some of the coalition districts that the 

17 NAACP plaintiffs presented to the State legislature and to 

18 this Court.   

19 First, I would like to discuss the two new proposed 

20 congressional districts in the Dallas-Fort Worth area.  In 

21 plan C-193, the effectiveness and integrity of Congressional 

22 District 30, currently represented by Congresswoman Eddie 

23 Bernice Johnson, is maintained.   

24 Additionally, NAACP plaintiffs proposed a new 

25 African-American opportunity district and a new Latino 

Karl H. Myers, CSR, RMR, CRR - (210) 212-8114



  2078

 1 opportunity district for the area.   

 2 Congressional District 34 is the African-American 

 3 opportunity district.  Like Congressional District 30, it is a 

 4 coalition district.   

 5 CD-35 is the Latino opportunity district.  Again, 

 6 like CD-30 -- like CD-30 and proposed CD-34, it is a coalition 

 7 district.  That district is a Latino and African-American 

 8 coalition district.   

 9 The NAACP plaintiffs and other parties introduced 

10 extensive evidence in support of the viability of these 

11 districts and of the cohesion of multiracial coalitions in the 

12 Dallas-Fort Worth area.   

13 The performance of the existing coalition district, 

14 CD-30, provide some -- from which Eddie Bernice Johnson was 

15 elected, provide some of the strongest support in favor of our 

16 argument that coalitions exist and perform electorally in that 

17 area.   

18 Mr. Fairfax testified that the districts drawn in 

19 this area were compact, complied with traditional 

20 redistricting criteria and could be enacted by a state 

21 legislature.   

22 Dr. Murray's homogeneous precinct analysis in Dallas 

23 County showed very high levels of racially polarized voting, 

24 with African Americans and Latinos preferring one set of 

25 candidates and Anglo voters preferring different candidates.   
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 1 Dr. Kousser's statewide analysis of 2010 general 

 2 elections indicated that Latinos, African Americans and Asian 

 3 Americans supported Latino Democratic candidates.   

 4 Evidence presented by Congresswoman Johnson 

 5 powerfully describe the communities of interest formed by 

 6 multiracial groups in her district and how they have voted for 

 7 her and for other minority candidates in the area.   

 8 Congresswoman Johnson spoke extensively to 

 9 black-brown coalitions and black-brown-Asian coalitions in the 

10 area.  The testimony of Mr. Chin addressed how Asian Americans 

11 work with other minority groups in the Dallas metroplex area.   

12 A proffer from Dr. Juanita Wallace describes a 

13 black-brown coalition, and a proffer from Anthony Bond 

14 described local electoral successes that the coalitions of the 

15 three minority groups have achieved.   

16 Now, if I can move on to the new opportunity 

17 districts for the State House.  The Texas Legislative Black 

18 Caucus introduced a plan H-202, which created several new 

19 opportunity districts that satisfied the Gingles first 

20 precondition.   

21 First, I would like to look at Harris County and 

22 districts 137 and 149.  H-202 maintains those two minority 

23 districts in Harris County, which, because H-283 combined them 

24 into just one, provides one additional minority opportunity 

25 district.   
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 1 In the benchmark H-100 and the proposed H-202, both 

 2 of these districts were coalition districts in which the 

 3 minority coalition comprised a majority of the voters.  These 

 4 districts were electing candidates of choice of coalition 

 5 voters, Representatives Hochberg and Vo.   

 6 JUDGE SMITH:  You are talking about -- yes, that was 

 7 my question.  You just said it, Hochberg and Vo.  Okay. 

 8 MR. RIGGS:  Yes.   

 9 In H-202, House District 31 is an African-American 

10 and Hispanic coalition district.  These two groups meet the 

11 first prong of Gingles.  House District 147 is an 

12 African-American, Hispanic and Asian coalition district with a 

13 history of electing an Asian candidate, the candidate of 

14 choice of each of these groups.   

15 This Court has been presented with extensive 

16 evidence in support of why the Voting Rights Act compels the 

17 drawing of these districts.  Mr. Fairfax testified that these 

18 districts were compact, comply with traditional redistricting 

19 criteria and could be enacted by a state legislature.   

20 Like with Dallas County, Dr. Murray's homogeneous 

21 precinct analysis showed astonishingly high levels of racially 

22 polarized voting, with African Americans and Latinos voting 

23 together.   

24 Congresspersons Sheila Jackson-Lee and Alexander 

25 Green testified about multiracial coalitions in the districts 
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 1 they represent and the racially polarized voting in the Harris 

 2 County area.   

 3 Rogene Calvert testified to the powerful Asian- 

 4 American, Latino and African-American coalitions in the 

 5 greater Houston area.   

 6 During the cross-examination of Gerardo Interiano, 

 7 we learned how certain members of the Harris County delegation 

 8 were very opposed to the combining and, thereby, the 

 9 demolishing of these two important minority districts, and 

10 this, in addition to the fact that Ryan Downton tried to 

11 assert that Democrats from Harris County approved the plan 

12 from Harris County. 

13 H-202 also created a new African-American 

14 opportunity district in Dallas County, House District 107.  It 

15 is a Hispanic and African-American coalition district.  Much 

16 of the same evidence that would support the drawing of a new 

17 congressional district in the Dallas-Fort Worth area supports 

18 the drawing of this district.   

19 Like with the other districts I have discussed, Mr.  

20 Fairfax was of the expert opinion that the district was 

21 compact, complied with traditional redistricting criteria, and 

22 could be enacted by the state legislature.   

23 Finally, the plan H-202 offered by the Texas 

24 Legislative Black Caucus created two new -- two additional 

25 minority districts, House District 26, an Asian opportunity 
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 1 district in Fort Bend County, and House District 54, an 

 2 African-American opportunity district in Bell County.   

 3 Both of these districts are coalition districts, and 

 4 both were evaluated by Mr. Fairfax and were found to be 

 5 compliant with traditional redistricting criteria.  

 6 In a proffer, lay witness Phyllis Jones documents 

 7 her experience working with multiracial coalitions in Bell 

 8 County to get the candidates of choice of the coalition 

 9 elected into public office.  She also speaks anecdotally to 

10 the continuing problems with racially polarized voting and 

11 racial discrimination in Bell County.   

12 With regards to the district in Fort Bend County, 

13 much of the evidence supporting the creation of minority 

14 opportunity districts in neighboring Harris County also 

15 support the creation of a new Asian opportunity district in 

16 Fort Bend County.   

17 Now to my second topic, reasons for political 

18 cohesion and polarized voting.  Every plaintiffs' expert that 

19 has testified in this matter has found significant levels of 

20 racially polarized voting in Texas.   

21 Obviously, different methods and different -- 

22 different methods of analyses and different data examined led 

23 to slight variations and interpretations, but several experts 

24 testified that despite the methodological variation, the data 

25 was in agreement.   
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 1 In his report, Dr. Alford didn't dispute a lot of 

 2 that evidence, instead, disputing all of the other experts' 

 3 interpretation of that evidence, and instead of explaining it 

 4 in terms of race, he explained it in terms of partisanship.  

 5 Where we find the distinction between these two explanations 

 6 for variations in voting is in the rest of the evidence, the 

 7 historical and qualitative evidence.   

 8 Starting generally and working our way into that 

 9 distinction, the second prong of Gingles does not require a 

10 perfect record of political cohesion between minority groups 

11 but, rather, evidence indicating that minority voters usually 

12 vote together.   

13 The Supreme Court in Gingles noted that a showing 

14 that a significant number of minority group members usually 

15 vote for the same candidate is one way of proving political 

16 cohesiveness necessary to a vote dilution claim and 

17 consequently establishes minority block voting within the 

18 context of Section 2.   

19 Moreover, the Fifth Circuit has held that the 

20 determinative question is whether black-supported candidates 

21 receive a majority of the Hispanic and Asian vote, whether 

22 Hispanics-supported candidates receive a majority of the black 

23 and Asian vote, and whether Asian-supported candidates receive 

24 a majority of the black and Hispanic vote in most instances in 

25 the area. 
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 1 In Gingles, in a plurality opinion joined by three 

 2 other justices, Justice Brennan stated the legal concept of 

 3 racially polarized voting, as it relates to a claim of vote 

 4 dilution, refers only to the existence of a correlation 

 5 between the race of the voters and the selection of certain 

 6 candidates.   

 7 In order to prove a prima facie case of racial block 

 8 voting, plaintiffs need not prove causation or intent.  

 9 Justice O'Connor's concurrence distinguished Brennan's opinion 

10 in that it would allow for political affiliation to 

11 potentially rebut a case of racial bias.   

12 After Gingles, some courts wanted evidence of the 

13 causes of racially polarized voting and some did not.  The 

14 Fifth Circuit was one of the districts, one of the circuits 

15 that wanted to talk about causation.   

16 However, even in the LULAC v. Clements decision, 

17 where the Fifth Circuit said that where evidence on the 

18 state -- shows that divergent voting patterns among white and 

19 minority voters are best explained by partisanship, a 

20 plaintiff hasn't established racial block voting, the Fifth 

21 Circuit didn't explain exactly what a plaintiff would have to 

22 prove in order to establish racial block voting.   

23 An extreme interpretation of the Fifth Circuit's 

24 causation analysis in both dilution cases is not consistent 

25 with congressional intent and is not consistent with Supreme 
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 1 Court precedent.   

 2 First, if LULAC v. Clements is interpreted to 

 3 require that plaintiffs prove the intent of voters in casting 

 4 votes the way that they do, the circuit has effectively undone 

 5 what Congress did in 1982, and reestablished the enormous 

 6 burden of proving intent in order to prevail in a Section 2 

 7 case.   

 8 That certainly cannot be what Congress intended, 

 9 given that Congress amended Section 2 in 1982, in response to 

10 the Supreme Court's decision in Mobile versus Bolden.  

11 Congress explicitly created a vote dilution remedy for 

12 plaintiff without requiring them to prove discriminatory 

13 purpose.   

14 Moreover, this interpretation would not be 

15 consistent with the Supreme Court precedent, in that it would 

16 be increasing the Gingles threshold burden.  The argument 

17 advanced by Dr. Alford yesterday that where there are both 

18 racial and partisan patterns of voting, you just have to stop 

19 there and there can be no successful Section 2 claim doesn't 

20 fit.   

21 All that being said, when there is some correlation 

22 between partisanship and race when it comes to voting, 

23 contextualizing that correlation can help determine which is 

24 more significant in causing the voting patterns.   

25 Even when we are requiring more than mere 
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 1 correlation in LULAC v. Clemens, the Fifth Circuit agreed that 

 2 plaintiffs in that case were correct in arguing that courts 

 3 should not summarily dismiss vote dilution claims in cases 

 4 where racially divergent voting patterns correspond with 

 5 partisan affiliation.   

 6 Statistics need to be placed in historical context.  

 7 They should not be divorced from the qualitative evidence and 

 8 testimony.  This sort of contextualization is what will 

 9 instruct the Court on untangling what may superficially seem 

10 like an inextricable intertwining of racial and partisan 

11 motivations, and this fact-intensive, case-specific, 

12 totality-of-the-circumstances approach is consistent with 

13 congressional intent and Supreme Court precedent.   

14 The contextual facts significant to teasing apart 

15 racial and partisan motivation in the instant case are the 

16 pieces of evidence relating to the long history of racial 

17 discrimination in voting in Texas, as documented in 

18 Dr. Burton's expert report and as expected to be covered in 

19 his post-trial deposition, and as also discussed by Dr. Murray 

20 on the stand and in his report.   

21 Racial appeals in voting, as discussed by Ms.  

22 Guerra, documented in Dr. Burton's expert report, and in 

23 Mr. Turner's offer of proof provide more context.  The 

24 enormous disparities between white and minority residents in 

25 the state, in the areas of employment, education and health 
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 1 and other fields is yet more context.   

 2 These disparities, again, are documented in Dr.  

 3 Burton's expert report.  These disparities don't fall along 

 4 partisan lines.  They fall along racial lines.  There are a 

 5 multitude of pieces, of other pieces of evidence that help 

 6 contextualize why race provides a much better explanation for 

 7 voting polarization than does politics.   

 8 The best evidence is the consistent, uninterrupted 

 9 use of minority voting rights by the conservative white 

10 political establishment in power since Reconstruction, 

11 regardless of partisan affiliation.   

12 The only way to conclude that partisan affiliation 

13 is indistinguishable from race is to disregard this 

14 historical, uninterrupted racial discrimination recounted by 

15 Dr. Burton, Dr. Murray and Dr. Tijerina.   

16 Finally, in my discussion of intentional 

17 discrimination, I not only want to discuss how the -- address 

18 how the evidence presented in trial fits into the requirements 

19 for proving intentional discrimination under the Fourteenth 

20 Amendment, but I also want to explain how intentional 

21 discrimination affects the other two subjects I have already 

22 discussed; that is to say, Texas is where it is today because 

23 of the historical and continuing intentional acts of 

24 discrimination designed to dilute and minimize the voice of 

25 minority voters.   
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 1 This has affected the formation of political 

 2 coalitions amongst minority groups and it has affected the 

 3 findings of political cohesion in the Fifth Circuit.  But 

 4 first, plaintiffs do not need a smoking gun to prove 

 5 intentional discrimination and violation of the Fourteenth 

 6 Amendment.   

 7 Plaintiffs are not even required to prove that 

 8 racial considerations predominated.  Rather, they just must 

 9 prove the discriminatory intent was one of the motivating 

10 factors.   

11 The Supreme Court, in Village of Arlington Heights, 

12 offered some examples of -- evidence sufficient to establish a 

13 prima face case of intentional discrimination.  These examples 

14 include troubling legislative history, a pattern of 

15 discriminatory events, departures from usual procedures and 

16 evidence of disparate impact. 

17 Evidence presented in this case met every item on 

18 the Arlington Heights list.  Even beyond that case, it is 

19 instructive to look to other courts who have found intentional 

20 discrimination in voting rights and redistricting, examine 

21 what kind of -- what kinds of evidence those courts found 

22 persuasive and then compare those to the evidence of 

23 intentional discrimination in this case. 

24 JUDGE SMITH:  Do you agree with Mr. Rios' statement 

25 that racially polarized voting doesn't mean that people are 
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 1 racist? 

 2 MR. RIGGS:  Yes.  And neither does saying that there 

 3 was -- discriminatory intent cannot -- can't be simplified to 

 4 name calling either, that this is a complicated factual 

 5 analysis guided by lots of court precedent, and teasing out 

 6 improper intent from that is what the Court should be focused 

 7 on, rather than assigning terms. 

 8 In Garza v. County of Los Angeles, a district court 

 9 found the county supervisors had intentionally discriminated 

10 against Hispanic voters.  The Ninth Circuit upheld this 

11 decision.   

12 Specifically, the district court noted that the 

13 county supervisors knew that the protection of their five 

14 Anglo incumbencies was going to cause continued fragmentation 

15 of the Hispanic vote, that that fragmentation was a 

16 foreseeable consequence of the adoption of the redistricting 

17 plan.   

18 The district court found that the plan split a core 

19 of Hispanic voters in half, fracturing the voting block.  The 

20 Court also found that the board appeared to ignore the three 

21 proposed plans which provided for a bare Hispanic population 

22 majority in the district.   

23 Finally, the Court found that the board of 

24 supervisors in adopting the plan acted primarily with the 

25 objective of protecting and preserving the incumbencies of 
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 1 five supervisors or their political allies, all while knowing 

 2 the plan would continue to fragment the Hispanic population 

 3 and further impair the ability of Hispanics to gain 

 4 representation on the board.   

 5 There is lot of evidence in this case that parallels 

 6 the evidence that the Garza court found persuasive.   

 7 In a little older, but still relevant case, the 

 8 United States Supreme Court reviewed a district court's 

 9 finding of intentional discrimination in a county's method of 

10 election in the case Rogers v. Lodge from 1982.   

11 In finding that the county maintained the quote, 

12 unquote neutral in origin election system for invidious 

13 purposes, that is, to exclude the minority community from the 

14 political process, the district court looked at a number of 

15 factors.   

16 They looked at what are known as the Zimmer factors, 

17 which later became known as the Senate factors after the 1982 

18 amendments.   

19 Zimmer factors include the history of official 

20 discrimination, the extent to which voting is racially 

21 polarized, voting practices or procedures that may enhance 

22 opportunities for discrimination, disparities in education, 

23 employment and health and other areas, racial appeals in 

24 voting, the record of election of minority candidates, and the 

25 responsiveness of elected officials to minority needs.   
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 1 The ultimate issue in a case alleging 

 2 unconstitutional dilution of the votes of a racial group is 

 3 whether the districting plan under attack exists because it 

 4 was intended to diminish or dilute the political power of that 

 5 group.   

 6 The task for the fact finder is to determine under 

 7 all of the relevant facts in whose favor the aggregate of the 

 8 evidence preponderates.   

 9 Even though the Court in Mobile v. Bolden held that 

10 proof of intentional discrimination is necessary to prove a 

11 violation of the Equal Protection Clause, the Court in Rogers 

12 v. Lodge indicated that the Zimmer factors were still relevant 

13 inquiries in examining indirect evidence of purposeful 

14 discrimination.   

15 In many ways, in voting rights and redistricting 

16 cases, these factors are even more useful and flushed out than 

17 the Arlington Heights factors and provide a useful framework 

18 for assessing the evidence before the Court.   

19 For example, evidence of historical discrimination 

20 is relevant to drawing an inference of purposeful 

21 discrimination, particularly in cases where the evidence shows 

22 that discriminatory practices were commonly utilized, that 

23 they were abandoned when enjoined by courts or made illegal by 

24 civil rights legislation, and that they were replaced by laws 

25 and practices which, though neutral on their face, surface to 
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 1 maintain the status quo.   

 2 Section 2 liability found in the state of Texas in 

 3 the last redistricting cycle further supports this.  In 

 4 assessing whether there was intentional discrimination, this 

 5 Court is, of course, not limited to the Zimmer factors, but 

 6 they help factor in relevant facts into the analysis.   

 7 The evidence presented in this case in support of a 

 8 finding of intentional discrimination is extensive under both 

 9 the Arlington Heights factors and the Zimmer factors.   

10 From Representative Turner and Representative 

11 Martinez Fischer, we heard about the racial tensions of this 

12 legislative session.  We heard about the racial animus 

13 manifesting itself in bills that the Latino and 

14 African-American caucuses were united in opposition to, such 

15 as the voter ID and the voter assistance bills.   

16 We heard from Representative Turner how different 

17 this redistricting cycle was from the ones before it, two of 

18 which he was involved in.  He testified to the rush process, 

19 the lack of transparency, the lack of public involvement.  He 

20 testified that the concerns of minority representatives, 

21 especially those in the Legislative Black Caucus, were not 

22 actively sought out.   

23 Moreover, we heard the numerous contradictions 

24 between what the leaders and map drawers in the state 

25 legislature said they were doing versus what they actually 
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 1 did.   

 2 According to them, it was a member-driven process, 

 3 unless a minority member of the legislature had a question for 

 4 Ryan Downton, then it wasn't an open-member process.  It was a 

 5 process open to suggestions from members, but only if those 

 6 suggestions were minor tweaks that were just a nod to 

 7 inclusion, as Representative Turner testified.   

 8 Ryan Downton testified that Representative Turner's 

 9 suggestions for his districts couldn't be accommodated because 

10 they had to keep his numbers up, but Representative Turner was 

11 the one who suggested tweaks to raise his numbers after the 

12 plan came out -- after the plan that came out of committee 

13 didn't do so.   

14 Ryan Downton also admitted to the fact that 

15 traditional redistricting -- that a traditional redistricting 

16 criteria or principle is to take the protected districts and 

17 maintain the core and integrity of those districts.   

18 He denied having failed to use this traditional 

19 principle, but in his deposition, he specifically testified 

20 that he did just that, simply redrawing the protected 

21 districts without regard to their historic force on the 

22 communities of interest.   

23 Downton also testified that the Harris County 

24 delegation agreed to the State House plan, including 

25 Representative Turner.  He then changed his testimony to say 
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 1 that Democrats acquiesced in support of the Harris county plan 

 2 after they were instructed they could not touch the Republican 

 3 districts.   

 4 And then he again changed his testimony to afford 

 5 that Representative Turner was not happily -- happy initially, 

 6 but that he was satisfied with the map, and then he changed 

 7 his testimony again to admit that Turner did not want areas 

 8 across 290 and also wanted a Hispanic neighborhood back in his 

 9 district, and that when the Republicans would not give him 

10 those things, he was very unhappy with the result. 

11 Ryan Downton also admitted that he had some 

12 awareness of the location of Hispanic populations in the 

13 Dallas-Fort Worth area, and that he was aware that the 

14 northern squiggly part of CD-35 is a Hispanic area, but then 

15 he went on to say that he didn't know in the state of Texas, 

16 as we currently sit, Anglos overwhelmingly vote for Republican 

17 candidates and minorities overwhelmingly vote for Democratic 

18 candidates.   

19 And he denied any knowledge that in Hidalgo County 

20 that drawing -- in drawing Congressional District 41 that the 

21 majority of the highest concentrations of white voters in the 

22 county were included in 41, since he claimed to only look at 

23 election results. 

24 Finally, there was a contradiction in testimony of 

25 Ryan Downton, Gerardo Interiano and Chairman Solomons about 
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 1 whether map drawers were instructed to draw maps that would 

 2 reelect incumbents or reelect Republicans, with both Ryan 

 3 Downton and Gerardo Interiano testifying to that, to that 

 4 fact, and Chairman Solomons denying that he gave that 

 5 instruction to anyone. 

 6 We have heard that the state legislature had -- we 

 7 heard from the congresspeople about the very specific changes 

 8 made to their district that could have no other explanation 

 9 but to undermine -- but being intended to undermine the 

10 ability of voters in the district to continue electing the 

11 candidates of choice.   

12 All three congresspersons testified that their 

13 districts lost business centers, that their offices were drawn 

14 out of their districts, and Dr. Murray in his report detailed 

15 the changes to Congressional Districts 9 and 18 and how it was 

16 detrimental to the future performance of those districts. 

17 JUDGE SMITH:  I can sort of understand the argument 

18 about moving the headquarters out of the district, for 

19 certainly the convenience of the constituents, but I don't 

20 understand -- I can understand why a member of Congress would 

21 not want to lose a business center or something like the 

22 Astrodome or the rail line, but I don't understand how that 

23 affects the ability of the voters in that district to elect 

24 the member of Congress of their choice.   

25 MR. RIGGS:  It certainly --  
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 1 JUDGE SMITH:  Can you elaborate on that a little 

 2 bit? 

 3 MR. RIGGS:  Of course.  I'm sorry.  It certainly 

 4 affects their relationship with whoever does get elected, and 

 5 it can affect their ability to relate to the elected 

 6 individual. 

 7 So, for example, Congresswoman Lee testified about 

 8 how her office had been in a federal building, a regularly 

 9 identifiable place, for a very long time, and that the 

10 community had come to depend on that availability and that 

11 centrality of that location, and given the move, a disconnect 

12 between the voters and their accessibility to the candidate 

13 that they want to elect; that could affect --  

14 JUDGE SMITH:  Well, I can understand that, and it 

15 was also called the Mickey Leland Building, which was very 

16 important, because he formerly held that position.  I can 

17 understand that as to the headquarters, but, again, I don't 

18 understand the argument as to the business centers, as to the 

19 ability of the voter or a set of minority voters to elect a 

20 candidate of their choice.  I don't see how those two things 

21 are connected. 

22 JUDGE RODRIGUEZ:  Yes.  The claim was that economic 

23 engines were taken out of certain districts.  And so the 

24 question is, how does that affect the ability to elect a 

25 candidate of your choice? 
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 1 MR. RIGGS:  I think it goes to the core and the 

 2 integrity of the district and the folks who live in the 

 3 district, and that if a district loses economic generators and 

 4 jobs and employment, that is going to have an impact on how 

 5 folks live and work and move within the district, and it can 

 6 drive folks out and break up the integrity of that district.  

 7 So I think that is one example of that. 

 8 We have heard that the state legislature had before 

 9 it numerous plans that expanded the ability of minority voters 

10 to elect candidates of their choice, and they ignored those 

11 plans, like in the Garza case.   

12 Dr. Burton's report goes through the Zimmer factors 

13 in great detail and finds that all of them are present in this 

14 case.  All of this evidence and more supports a finding of 

15 intentional discrimination on the basis of race.   

16 It explains why minority coalitions develop on the 

17 basis of shared experiences of being discriminated against, 

18 and it explains why race is the most -- most and more possible 

19 explanation for polarized voting patterns between whites and 

20 nonwhites.   

21 All of the evidence supporting a finding of an equal 

22 protection violation and a Section 2 violation in this case 

23 will be detailed and briefed in post-trial briefing for the 

24 NAACP plaintiffs, but I wanted to flag these three issues for 

25 your consideration as you begin going through all of the 
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 1 evidence before this Court.   

 2 Thank you for your time. 

 3 JUDGE GARCIA:  Thank you.   

 4 Mr. Bledsoe. 

 5 MR. BLEDSOE:  May it please the honorable members of 

 6 this panel.  What I attempted to do is listen to the direction 

 7 that we received from you in reference to possibly citing 

 8 matters in the record that might be important.   

 9 One of the things that I wanted to -- starting out, 

10 though, in reference to one of the questions that was just put 

11 to Ms. Riggs, to add to her statement, I agreed with all that 

12 she said, but would also say that one of the things, when you 

13 take an economic engine out of a district, is you compromise 

14 the ability of a minority candidate, particularly to fund 

15 raise, especially someone like an incumbent congressperson 

16 like we have now.   

17 And we saw the issues that were involved in the 

18 other -- the issues with the South Texas district that, of 

19 course, that Mr. Vera and Mr. Korbel talked about this 

20 morning, in terms of, if you have got one well-funded 

21 candidate and another one that is not well-funded, and I think 

22 it is very clear that the minority candidates would have more 

23 difficulty in obtaining the funding.   

24 Now, the other thing I think that was clear from the 

25 testimony was that there would be jobs that would be provided 
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 1 as a result of the economic engine.  And what that relates to 

 2 directly is voter apathy, because, obviously, if you have an 

 3 underemployed community, that is going to drive down the 

 4 interests of the voter and the ability of the voters to join 

 5 together and vote to elect a person of their choice.  So I 

 6 think that removing the economic engine does have a major 

 7 impact on a district.   

 8 There are several things I would like to mention in 

 9 reference to the congresspersons, starting out, and then I 

10 would like to go over some of the additional items and add 

11 some additional commentary of what has occurred, to give you 

12 some cites in the record.   

13 But in reference to one of the things that is 

14 common, and I think this goes to the issue of intentional 

15 discrimination, we look at three African-American 

16 congresspersons, the only three in the state of Texas, and we 

17 see that each one of them sought to work with leadership.   

18 You can tell that they all have respect for 

19 Congressman Smith.  And after having a meeting, they were 

20 assured that they would be able to have subsequent meetings to 

21 sit down with leadership and help draw their districts, and 

22 they all said that the meeting that was promised never came 

23 forward.   

24 So there was never a meeting, even though they met 

25 in good faith, wanted to work with others.  And they did make 
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 1 suggestions to people in the state of Texas about how their 

 2 districts would look.   

 3 Both Congressman Green and Congresswoman Lee 

 4 traveled to Austin, and Congresswoman Johnson actually 

 5 tendered a district for herself and a new Latino district in 

 6 the Dallas-Fort Worth area, and they all said that what 

 7 ultimately came out looked nothing like what they had wanted 

 8 or recommended.  So that happened to all three of them.   

 9 Now, each one of them, I don't know what the -- if 

10 we did the mathematics on this and tried to find out what the 

11 likelihood would be for this to happen at random, but three 

12 out of three had their offices removed from their districts, 

13 three out of three.  I think that is a pretty, pretty awesome 

14 fact.   

15 Now, they were -- (Coughing in background) -- given 

16 courtesy copies of the map.  I think what is clear is that 

17 they were all surprised by the map when it came out.  And the 

18 other thing that you all have just talked about is the 

19 economic engine being removed from the districts.   

20 Now, it might be one thing that might have happened 

21 to one, maybe even two.  We have three out of three.  So, 

22 basically, and I think the term that at least two of them used 

23 on the witness stand was that they -- I am trying to think of 

24 the term.   

25 Basically, they just blanked the districts and took 

Karl H. Myers, CSR, RMR, CRR - (210) 212-8114



  2101

 1 out all of the economic power within the district, and that 

 2 greatly harmed them.   

 3 All of them said that important and vital 

 4 communities of interest were removed.  Not one, but all three.  

 5 And all of them have said that pressure was placed on their 

 6 district because there were needed, necessary and legally 

 7 allowed voting rights districts that should have been created 

 8 in adjacent areas, so that individuals within their districts 

 9 would have a voice.  We know that -- 

10 JUDGE SMITH:  Could you just help us a little bit 

11 with, as between Congresswoman Jackson Lee's district and 

12 Congressman Al Green's district, any of those important 

13 elements of the districts, such as downtown or MacGregor or 

14 any of those that were mentioned in the testimony, were any of 

15 them moved from one of those to the other, from the other to 

16 the one?   

17 I mean, were they swapped between those two, or were 

18 they moved to some third person's district? 

19 MR. BLEDSOE:  It was a combination of --  

20 JUDGE SMITH:  Could you fill us in on that? 

21 MR. BLEDSOE:  The Third Ward, MacGregor area was 

22 split, and some of that did go into Congressman Green's 

23 district.  The downtown area, I believe, went into Congressman 

24 Poe's district.  So there was -- basically, there were 

25 different things that happened.  One of the -- and I am trying 
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 1 to think if there was a --  

 2 JUDGE SMITH:  The medical center, what happened? 

 3 MR. BLEDSOE:  The medical center was split in three.  

 4 So the medical center was given, a part to Green, a part to 

 5 Lee, and a part to Poe, but I think primarily to Poe. 

 6 JUDGE SMITH:  What about the Astrodome, Reliant 

 7 Stadium? 

 8 MR. BLEDSOE:  That went from Green to Lee.   

 9 JUDGE SMITH:  And the -- 

10 MR. BLEDSOE:  That is very close to where his office 

11 is, actually, in fact. 

12 JUDGE SMITH:  And the South Main Street rail line 

13 that was referred to? 

14 MR. BLEDSOE:  That would have gone from Green to 

15 Lee.   

16 And so if we look at the configuration of each one 

17 of the districts, to follow along with this commentary, I 

18 think we can see the problem that we have.  I think there was 

19 some apparent acknowledgment by the State that we have three 

20 protected seats that would elect an African American that 

21 should be created.   

22 And so there was an attempt to create, but not to 

23 really make them performing districts in the way that they 

24 needed to be performing districts, but the packing, the 

25 unnecessary configurations were pretty enormous.   
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 1 Now, Dr. Murray details this, but each one of them 

 2 talks about this in their testimony.  Now, with Congresswoman 

 3 Johnson, I think it is very clear that there have been a 

 4 number of legitimate plans.   

 5 NAACP plans clearly meet the legal muster in terms 

 6 of numbers, effectiveness and all of that, according to the 

 7 testimony, compact, et cetera, so we know that additional 

 8 minority districts could have been created in that area, but 

 9 they pack everything that looked like a minority into 

10 Congresswoman Johnson's district, depriving people of the 

11 ability to go and have another seat, and that limits their 

12 voice, because it limits what the votes will be in favor of 

13 those same people in Washington, D.C.  

14 Besides the packing that went into 30, you know, 

15 important communities of interest were eliminated there.  You 

16 know, Balch Springs, there was a problem with, areas of people 

17 that have politically aligned with and worked with the other 

18 communities of interest within that district, to get things 

19 done, they were eliminated.   

20 So there were a number of things that were taken 

21 from that district that greatly compromised that district, and 

22 it really undermines African Americans and Latinos and Asians 

23 in the Dallas-Fort Worth area.   

24 Now, I think it is important to note that Dr. Murray 

25 testifies that, number one, Asians vote with African Americans 
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 1 and Latinos in Harris, Fort Bend and Dallas, Dallas-Fort Worth 

 2 areas.   

 3 And also, that the anti -- and one of the things 

 4 that is occurring now is this sentiment that is driving all 

 5 minorities into the Democratic Party is also affecting Asians, 

 6 because of the issues that are occurring in reference to the 

 7 Tea Party animosity also includes anti-Asian sentiment, so 

 8 that also impacts what has occurred in that area.   

 9 So if you add the Asian population, you are probably 

10 looking at about 90 percent in Congresswoman Johnson's 

11 district.  And when we showed it the other day on the screen, 

12 and asked for the B and H to be colored and shaded, we could 

13 see that there was a little white spot in the middle of the 

14 district that is clearly unnecessary and is not needed.   

15 Now, if we look at Harris County, what we can see 

16 about Harris County is the configurations were greatly 

17 changed.   

18 What Dr. Murray says is they basically, with CD-9, 

19 Congressman Green's district, that that one was different from 

20 the other two, in that they violated the traditional 

21 redistricting principle, and that traditional redistricting 

22 principle was to try to keep the shape and follow the contours 

23 of an existing district, so you could keep the core in place, 

24 but what he stated is that they gutted that core and they 

25 truly created a new district, creating a different core.  So 
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 1 CD-9 was greatly changed in that regard, and it greatly -- it 

 2 varied greatly from the original configuration.   

 3 JUDGE SMITH:  Now, one of the things that 

 4 Congressman Green mentioned several times in his testimony 

 5 that I want to ask you about, because -- and my question is 

 6 going to be whether any of the case law supports what he said.   

 7 He expressed considerable concern that in the newly 

 8 drawn district, there were a couple of areas, Sienna 

 9 Plantation, I believe, and another one that he mentioned, 

10 where he was worried that there would be new housing 

11 development there that would be -- this is my word -- upscale, 

12 but I believe he used a word similar to that.   

13 And I assume part of his concern was that those 

14 might develop into heavily Anglo areas that might dilute 

15 minority strength in the district.  He didn't specifically say 

16 that, but that is part of what I inferred from it.   

17 Is there any case law or are there any other factors 

18 that we should look at to tell us that we can properly 

19 consider that kind of future development in undeveloped areas?   

20 Because it seemed to me to be kind of an unusual 

21 theory that he was presenting there, and one that involves 

22 some real sensitivity in terms of an incumbent from one race 

23 expressing concern that members of another racial group might 

24 be ultimately moving into a, more or less, vacant area of the 

25 district. 
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 1 MR. BLEDSOE:  I do know that the Supreme Court has 

 2 talked about those kind of issues, in dictum, you talk about a 

 3 district and additions, that a district is changing or 

 4 evolving.   

 5 I know in the LULAC case, I guess they did talk 

 6 about that as well.  I can't cite a specific case where that 

 7 same issue is directly involved, but I definitely can brief 

 8 that. 

 9 JUDGE GARCIA:  Right.   

10 MR. BLEDSOE:  But what I would say is clearly that 

11 that undermines the effectiveness of Section 2, because it is 

12 almost like a slight of hand or a wicked gesture, because if 

13 you are entitled to have a district created in a certain way 

14 to guarantee that the minorities in that community will have 

15 an opportunity to elect a person of their choice, and then you 

16 set it up to where you know in years hence that growth will 

17 change the impact of that district, I think that clearly is 

18 not what Section 2 envisions.   

19 I think Section 2 meant for districts to be drawn so 

20 that, to the extent practicable, in the future, if there is a 

21 continuation and the act is extended, that that community 

22 still has an ability to elect a person of their choice and not 

23 include unnecessary growth areas that will undermine the 

24 integrity of that district. 

25 JUDGE GARCIA:  Perhaps you can include that in your 
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 1 trial brief. 

 2 MR. BLEDSOE:  Thank you.   

 3 The other thing I would say in reference to the 

 4 districts is the idea, I want to make it very clear in our 

 5 mind that there is no contradiction between saying a district 

 6 provides for tension and that there is a coalition between 

 7 African Americans and Latinos, because I think the evidence is 

 8 overwhelming, I think, in that regard, that the tension that 

 9 was talked about was prospective tension, not necessarily 

10 existing now.   

11 And the idea is, as the witnesses said, who were 

12 very candid on the witness stand, was that individuals, in a 

13 group, if the numbers are there, quite naturally will want to 

14 start saying:  Well, maybe someone from our community might 

15 want to run as well.  Even though we are partners over here, 

16 and we are having an effective partnership, that doesn't mean 

17 that we shouldn't have a representative.   

18 And there is a second complement to that.  You get a 

19 second vote in Congress, the legislature, wherever you might 

20 be.  Because if you look at like our voting record, where you 

21 can see so many gaps with so many individuals that -- Anglo 

22 Texans on the NAACP report card, but you see passing grades, 

23 usually high grades with the Latino members of Congress from 

24 Texas, so there is a clear partnership there.   

25 So there is an extra vote that benefits those 
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 1 individuals, so there is an additional need to want to have 

 2 that district created, so that we don't have so few votes in 

 3 Congress.   

 4 So I think, very clearly, it is important that we 

 5 recognize there is no problem saying that there is tension, 

 6 but when you -- and I think with Dr. Murray, what he indicated 

 7 is, it is kind of a wicked design.   

 8 When you set that up, you know, with Congressman 

 9 Green's district, there are actually more, a larger Hispanic 

10 population than an African-American population, and dynamics 

11 relating to that population will change over time.   

12 That population, there will be more citizenship, the 

13 voter registration numbers, et cetera, will change, and that 

14 was unnecessary.   

15 What Congressman Green said is that the big problem 

16 with that is not that you join the two together to form a 

17 district, because he thought that you could and should, but 

18 that when you didn't have to do that, and you put all of those 

19 unnecessary numbers in there, that is the problem.   

20 Now, on the issue of a coalition, one of the things 

21 I wanted to point out to you is that Congresswoman Lee was a 

22 member of the Judiciary Committee, and both Congressman Green 

23 and Congresswoman Johnson were members of Congress when the 

24 Act was extended, and they clearly think that coalition 

25 districts were something that were contemplated by them when 
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 1 the Act was adopted.   

 2 So not only do we have our interpretation of 

 3 Bartlett that we think would -- was trying to distinguish 

 4 possibly from voting rights purposes, between crossover 

 5 districts and coalition districts, but we have members of the 

 6 United States Congress who believe that it is proper to join 

 7 African Americans and Latinos together as a group to form a 

 8 district.   

 9 Now, one of the things that we have heard, 

10 obviously, is that the explanation for polarization is party, 

11 and we think the evidence indicates clearly that that is not 

12 the case.   

13 Now, first of all, there was no disaggregation or 

14 any specific kind of analysis done by Dr. Alford, and I think 

15 clearly, if one looks at the totality of his testimony, he 

16 would be deferring to Dr. Murray on such issues.   

17 But I think it is clear -- now, one of the things 

18 that, like Mr. Garza talked about this morning, was the 

19 prospect of looking at races, where party didn't matter, and 

20 to use those races to take a look and see if there was 

21 polarized voting.   

22 And I wanted to call your attention to several of 

23 that Dr. Murray discussed that are in the outline.  I think 

24 that the Victor Carrillo race is clear, when you have a 

25 well-funded Latino candidate who is an incumbent in the 
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 1 Republican primary, and he loses overwhelmingly in that 

 2 primary to an individual who is not known, but has an Anglo 

 3 name and doesn't have funding.   

 4 And then you have Leo Vasquez, a tax assessor 

 5 collector who is up for reelection in Harris County, and 

 6 during this great wave in 2010, he also loses to what appeared 

 7 to be an inferior candidate as well.  So it wasn't a party 

 8 issue in those situations.   

 9 But it occurs with Democrats as well, because if we 

10 look at the Democratic sweep, basically, in Harris County in 

11 2008, there was enough support for those democratic candidates 

12 to win, except for those handful, and you have the new Exhibit 

13 632 that has been put into evidence, and you heard the 

14 testimony from Dr. Murray, Congressman Green, about the fact 

15 that the individuals who appeared to be African American, at 

16 least two of whom were, or who had the foreign-sounding names, 

17 that they lost.   

18 So that is a situation where all people on the 

19 Democratic side are getting support, except this particular 

20 core group.  So that is -- party does not explain that 

21 distinction.   

22 So I think there are clearly races here that defy 

23 that explanation.  But the only true analysis that was done on 

24 this issue was done by Dr. Murray.  And first of all, we can't 

25 say -- we can't take a result in this case and say the result 
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 1 is going to undermine showing causation.   

 2 There is no interpretation of why there is that 

 3 divide, and Dr. Murray indicated that 15 years ago in his 

 4 report, because of actions that were being taken against 

 5 African Americans and Latinos, you basically ended up with 

 6 this divide for the last 15 years, where Anglos vote in the 

 7 Republican primary and minorities vote in the Democratic 

 8 primary.   

 9 And he said that this goes all the way back to the 

10 time of Barry Goldwater, and finding out that you can use 

11 wedge issues to divide minorities from others.  And because of 

12 that, you -- and because of the same types of activities that 

13 we are complaining about that continue to infect our process, 

14 because of -- well, let's see here.   

15 If I might, Dr. Alford admitted that there has been 

16 no change in voting behavior in Texas in the last decade.  And 

17 so one of the things I want to point out here is in reference 

18 to this issue that we are discussing now, in reference to 

19 whether or not there continues to be racially polarized 

20 voting, that there is some other explanation.  As Dr. Murray 

21 has indicated, this all goes back to 1964, and the continued 

22 efforts to divide and put minorities in one party.   

23 You know, I asked very pointedly a couple of 

24 questions of Dr. Alford.  I said:  Dr. Alford, has there ever 

25 been a defining moment or something that occurred that changes 
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 1 whether or not we have racially polarized voting?   

 2 He said:  No.  He couldn't point to anything that 

 3 occurred.  So if we have a 2006 finding that this is the case, 

 4 then I don't know what has occurred between 2006 and today 

 5 that means there is no racially polarized voting.   

 6 I want to point out a couple of things here to you 

 7 that are in the -- that are things I want you to direct your 

 8 attention to that you asked for.   

 9 Dr. Murray discusses the Southern Strategy and how 

10 this is all part of the Southern Strategy on page 863, line 8.  

11 And he says that the mistreatment by the State of Texas of 

12 minorities under the -- in reference to the congressional 

13 plan, that that mistreatment is a result more of racially 

14 polarized voting than it is of partisanship.  He makes that 

15 specific declaration.   

16 He goes on further and indicates that 80 percent of 

17 Latinos vote for a Democratic candidate, over 90 percent of 

18 African Americans, and the Anglos vote predominantly for 

19 Republican candidates.  There is clearly a divide.   

20 Now, he says this problem that he has identified has 

21 been ramped up, because of what is called the Obama effect, to 

22 be very honest and real about that.  So not only do we have a 

23 racial divide in 2008, that showed only one out of four white 

24 Texans voted for President Obama, but we also -- what we found 

25 is that this has infected the new process.   
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 1 Now, he stated that one of the issues and the 

 2 problems that this Court is looking at is obviously the 2010 

 3 election, how this 2010 election allowed people, who would 

 4 normally not have won an election, to win in districts that 

 5 have been performing districts.   

 6 And what he has indicated was that we had a 

 7 different electorate at that time, because of the Tea Party 

 8 involvement.  And because of the Tea Party involvement and the 

 9 anti-Obama effect that occurred, that 85 to 90 percent of 

10 conservative white voters that were older actually turned out 

11 to vote and they skewed the electorate and voted in great 

12 numbers against minority candidates.   

13 In reference to -- one of the items I know that we 

14 want to be -- that we need to prove to you is that, of course, 

15 there has been a continuation of race being injected into the 

16 campaign.   

17 And I wanted to show you, I wanted to go over here, 

18 there has been some discussion -- I think the Court can even 

19 go to a web site, that I want to make it very clear, one of 

20 the things we are going to have is an offer of proof from the 

21 person who is the subject of this, and talk about exactly what 

22 the circumstances are in reference to this.   

23 Now, we take this one, and when you say Mercedes and 

24 received welfare, I think one of the things that we saw 

25 yesterday was, Dr. Alford, to him, that clearly indicates 

Karl H. Myers, CSR, RMR, CRR - (210) 212-8114



  2114

 1 race.   

 2 He said:  I don't know about the others, but to me, 

 3 that clearly indicates race.   

 4 So we have the State's expert acknowledging that 

 5 this is clearly a racial appeal.  And we have Representative 

 6 Turner, we have -- obviously, his skin is darkened, more on 

 7 others than this one.  But you have the car and the Cadillac, 

 8 and those are clear code words.   

 9 Absolutely, they are code words intending to tell 

10 whites that this guy is going to help minorities have a good 

11 time on your tax money, and that is clearly what this is.   

12 The next one.   

13 And this is the same thing with the car, that he 

14 would love to have the car associated next to him.   

15 Now, this one here, you see the eyebrows.  That is 

16 one thing that he will point out.  You see how the eyebrows 

17 were changed, and you see in the back the Chinese flag?  That 

18 is clearly a racial appeal, and you see his skin is definitely 

19 darkened in this one.   

20 So it is clear that they are trying to make a racial 

21 appeal in this situation here, even changing what the 

22 candidate looks like.  And obviously darkened, in bed with 

23 President Obama.   

24 The next one, show me the one with the flag on the 

25 lapel.  There it is.   
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 1 And in this one, we heard him acknowledge too that 

 2 if you -- with the Mexican flag, that that is -- so the State 

 3 may want to debate a gap.  We don't think he has a gap that 

 4 has increased in size, but we wanted to show this, because 

 5 this does impact the area that we are talking about.   

 6 This is a race that was there in Arlington, Tarrant 

 7 County, and so it is one of the areas that we are asking this 

 8 Court to draw the district, and I think you can see a direct 

 9 racial appeal that obviously occurred during that time.   

10 I mean, that is clear with the Chinese flag in the 

11 back and the Mexican flag there on the lapel.  That is a 

12 straight-up, direct appeal, just like the welfare issues that 

13 were on the previous ones.   

14 I do want to say, in reference to -- when you look 

15 at the issue of credibility, I want to just briefly visit 

16 that.  I don't think it is credible.  I think that Ms. Riggs 

17 covered that in great detail.   

18 But I think that -- it was Mr. Interiano, for 

19 example, when he says that he goes to sit down with 

20 legislators that are seeking to preserve their seats, 

21 including like Mr. Pena, for example, and so you are trying to 

22 preserve your seat, that you don't talk about race, that you 

23 go down to the block level and you are trying to draw it up, 

24 and you have such familiarity with a county the size of 

25 Hidalgo County, that you can look at a -- you can just look at 
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 1 blocks and start saying, take this part and map that part, and 

 2 race not be a consideration.   

 3 I think that defies logic.  I think that is clearly, 

 4 clearly not credible, and I think that would impact his 

 5 testimony otherwise.   

 6 I think the other matter relates to Interiano and 

 7 Representative Turner.  I want to make it very clear to the 

 8 Court, I think Representative Turner was very clear that he 

 9 did not like his district, and we have five separate answers 

10 for Mr. Downton about what the position was with Mr. Turner.   

11 If you go through and look at that, and I guess it 

12 is -- let's see here.  It starts on page 935 to 939, where 

13 they discuss that, but you get five different answers that 

14 will suggest whether or not Turner was with the proposal, 

15 against the proposal, or if he was against the proposal why he 

16 was against the proposal.  So I think that, again, shows the 

17 lack of credibility. 

18 JUDGE SMITH:  Chairman Solomons mentioned that he 

19 had heard from Turner in the hallway also, did he not?   

20 MR. BLEDSOE:  He did.  

21 JUDGE SMITH:  That Turner said he didn't like the 

22 district? 

23 MR. BLEDSOE:  He did.  He did.  He indicated that 

24 Chairman Turner was not happy with the bill.   

25 And one of the offers of proof they were going to 
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 1 tender is from Representative Dawnna Dukes, and Ms. Dukes will 

 2 talk about what actually happened, this little back room 

 3 meeting and what did take place, and that Representative 

 4 Turner was not a part of that, and he was always displeased 

 5 with what was going on with his district.  So I think that is 

 6 important to note that.   

 7 But also, one of the things that when we start 

 8 talking about whether or not this was intentional, start 

 9 talking about whether or not this is intentional, and we look 

10 at all of those things that happened with the African-American 

11 congresspersons, and then let's talk about the issues that 

12 occurred with the members of the legislature.   

13 I think it is clear, when we look at what happened 

14 with the members of the legislature, that this was clearly 

15 extraordinary.  This was so different from what occurred in 

16 the past.   

17 And one thing Chairman Solomons did acknowledge was 

18 that there was no public testimony after the maps came out.  

19 Now, I mean, that is kind of incredible, to me, that you put 

20 out the House map and then there is no public testimony.   

21 There was time for it.  You couldn't say the end of 

22 the session would make a difference, in the sense that the map 

23 passed out with a month or so left in the session.  So there 

24 time for the public to have input.   

25 But what Representative Dukes will say, and you  
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 1 heard Representative Turner say, this was just given to us.  

 2 It wasn't like:  Take it or leave it.  It was:  Take it.  And 

 3 that's exactly what we are talking about.   

 4 The same thing with the congressional map with the 

 5 level of input.   

 6 I would like to direct your attention to several 

 7 items, that we started talking about what could have been done 

 8 and some Gingles proffers.  One thing that -- in C-194, there 

 9 are two maps that would provide for Latino opportunity in the 

10 Harris County area, one that would be a continuation of 29, 

11 and an additional one, to show that that could be done.   

12 There is, in C-201, a proffer that actually shows 

13 Travis County, and actually shows where you can take an item 

14 from Mr. Garza's C-164, where there is a map that would allow 

15 a San Antonio person to win and become a member of Congress, 

16 but not split the community in Austin, to disenfranchise 

17 minorities, or especially African Americans in the Austin 

18 area.   

19 And then in the Austin area, to do something -- I 

20 think Mr. Korbel's plan might be better, but it actually would 

21 be a district that would be majority African-American and 

22 Latino, except when you add the citizenship numbers, it is 

23 only about 45 percent or so, but still, it would be an 

24 effective coalition district, in our opinion.   

25 So what we would ask this Court to do would be, we 
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 1 think that all three of the current African-American 

 2 congressional districts should be changed.  We think that if 

 3 you start looking at fairness that there should be at least an 

 4 additional African-American opportunity district.   

 5 Further, I think you heard what Dr. Murray said, 14 

 6 to 16 for African Americans or Latinos would be a fair number, 

 7 if one is trying to be fair.  The next question --  

 8 JUDGE SMITH:  So the additional -- excuse me.  The 

 9 additional African-American opportunity district, would that 

10 be Harris or Dallas?  It would have to be just one or the 

11 other, right? 

12 MR. BLEDSOE:  Yes, Your Honor.  Dallas-Fort Worth. 

13 JUDGE SMITH:  Well, it could be in Harris or it 

14 could be in DFW; is that right? 

15 MR. BLEDSOE:  I think Dallas-Fort Worth would be the 

16 appropriate -- 

17 JUDGE SMITH:  All right.   

18 MR. BLEDSOE:  We tried to draw one, and we know 

19 there needs to be a new Latino district in Harris County, so I 

20 don't think those two would mesh.   

21 JUDGE SMITH:  All right.   

22 MR. BLEDSOE:  So our position is that there should 

23 be one in Dallas-Fort Worth. 

24 JUDGE SMITH:  Okay. 

25 MR. BLEDSOE:  We also would ask that the Court take 
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 1 a look at the overriding factor of -- and I know that maybe 

 2 there is not strong case law to support this, but -- 

 3 JUDGE GARCIA:  Try the best you can. 

 4 MR. BLEDSOE:  Thank you, Your Honor.   

 5 If we end up with a map, we know the Southern 

 6 Strategy, and this would be kind of like an extension of the 

 7 Southern Strategy.   

 8 If you do end up with 26 districts that are 

 9 dominated by white voters, and all -- and ten districts 

10 dominated by minority voters, and you end up with all 

11 Democrats that are minorities and all whites that are 

12 Republicans, I don't think that is something that we want to 

13 see.   

14 And I think that clearly you look at the value of 

15 the vote.  Over 50 percent of this state is African-American 

16 or Latino, yet it only would have influence over 28 percent.  

17 And the other factor that I think is really crucial and 

18 important to look at is, right now, with the influence 

19 district in Travis County that eleven out of 32 seats are 

20 seats that were minority, either can dominate the election or 

21 can influence the outcome of the election.   

22 So under anyone's math, if you have eleven out of 

23 32, and you move to ten out of 36, you are much worse off.  

24 Once you get inside that ten out of 36, and you see that there 

25 are some real issues, specifically with CD-9 and CD-30 down 
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 1 the road, that is not a good thing.   

 2 So we think clearly that there has been overwhelming 

 3 evidence that the plaintiffs have presented in this case.  We 

 4 think that, both in terms of the House map and the 

 5 congressional map, that they should be eliminated.   

 6 And we would point your attention to one thing that 

 7 shows the consequence of these -- that Judge Smith said 

 8 earlier, and Judge -- that Dr. Burton talks about the 

 9 connection between the problems facing minority communities in 

10 voting, and that is tied up in his expert report.   

11 But if you look at the voting record from ten years 

12 past on NAACP issues, and the United States Congress for the 

13 Texas delegation that are included in our exhibits, you will 

14 see a whole lot more Fs today than you saw before.   

15 That is because we have a more hostile Congress.  

16 They are not supportive of our issues, and that is why this is 

17 so important to members of the minority community to try to 

18 get people that will be responsive to their needs.   

19 Thank you. 

20 JUDGE GARCIA:  Thank you.   

21 We will recess now and reconvene at 2:15, and when 

22 we return, we will begin with Mr. Hicks.  Okay?  Thank you.   

23 (Brief recess.) 

24 (Change of court reporters.) 

25 *-*-*-*-*-*-*-* 
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JUDGE GARCIA: Okay.

MR. HICKS: May it please the Court, Your Honors.

Renea Hicks for the Rodriguez plaintiffs.

We have statutory and constitutional claims concerning

just congressional districts and the claims that run across the

state more or less. We have a claim for the creation of an

additional Hispanic opportunity district in the Dallas/Fort Worth

area. We have a claim for a creation of an additional Hispanic

opportunity district in Harris County. We have a claim to

restore District 23 as it is under 185 to restore it to a viable

Hispanic opportunity district.

We have a claim to add an additional Hispanic

opportunity district coming out of the Rio Grande Valley, and do

that by reuniting Nueces County, this historic base. That's the

basic idea there.

And then we have a constitutional claim to reunite the

operating tri-ethnic voting coalition in Travis County in current

congressional District 25 that is -- the part that's in that

county, in Travis County. So that's where our claims are.

What I want to do is address two broad areas and then

one more particular area that's different for us than anywhere

else I think. I want to address the Gingles two and three

factors with respect to racially polarized voting and then I want

to address the citizen voting age population data and the

testimony that Dr. Ansolabehere provided with respect to ACS
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2005/2009 survey being out of sync with the census and how to --

ways to bring it into sync. And then the last part will be

about -- briefly about the tri-ethnic voting coalition in Travis

County and the constitutional claims we have there.

With respect to racially polarized voting I think

we--everybody here on our side of the "v"--have established

racially polarized voting across the board sufficient to satisfy

the second and third Gingles factors.

The one exception where there hasn't been racially

polarized voting, at least as to the third Gingles factor with

regard to crossover voting, is in Travis County.

Again, I think it's nearly uniform across the spectrum

of the plaintiffs' experts that Travis County is different than

the other counties in Texas with respect to that matter, and that

Anglo block voting is, especially by Texas standards anyway,

fairly significant. And it is significant; in fact, approaching

the 50 percent mark. There are variations on a continuum from

somewhere in the low 40s to somewhere in the low '50s. We're

happy -- we think it's sufficient that it's in the high 40s. We

think that's clearly established in the record and unrefuted by

the state.

So Travis County -- put that aside for now and I'll

come back and talk to that at the end when I talk about the

broader issues of racially polarized voting.

I believe Dr. Alford offered an opinion based on any
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data and analysis that really disagrees with the fact that we've

established racially polarized voting as it's understood under

the traditional second and third Gingles factors.

He hypothesized -- I think that's all he did. He

hypothesized that there might be an alternative explanation, that

is partisan voting patterns, but I don't think -- and he offered

a broad opinion that he thought that might better explain it, but

there is no detailed evidence working across the spectrum

establishing that -- a better explanation for the voting patterns

everybody on our side has found than a better explanation or

intervening explanation has to do with partisanship. Instead

it's just a hypothesis.

And I believe that at the end of his testimony he

essentially admitted that, first, that hypothesis that he

has -- he has laid out there -- and the way to look at this is a

new way that no court has adopted of looking at the issue of

racially polarized voting.

And I think he said at the end that he

basically -- it's either a dead end or it's going down a street

which he doesn't know the end of because he said he knew no way

out of this at this point. He hasn't come up with a way to

reconcile his view of racially polarized voting, his intervening

cause idea and section two of the Voting Rights Act. I believe

that's the sum and substance of the concluding exchange he and I

had when I cross-examined him. He said it's a new world.
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But that doesn't help much frankly. It doesn't help

Your Honors a bit. And that new world would take the Supreme

Court saying here's the new world. It doesn't take this Court

which is bound to follow the Gingles factors and the decision,

the 1986 landmark decision in Gingles.

In fact, the problem with Dr. Alford's hypothesis seems

to me to be clearly exposed for the problem it presents. If you

go back and look at the white primary cases of Texas, under his

explanation and his approach it seems to me that the white

primaries and the doctrine the Democratic party set up would

never have been knocked out because the basis -- the ultimate

cause and reason for the exclusion and all of these mechanisms to

exclude black voters at the time from participating in the

Democratic primary was to maintain the hegemony of the Texas

Democratic Party.

It wasn't race. It was the only way that they

could -- we all know it was race at some level, but they could

have defended saying Dr. Alford has said it's partisanship over

race because we're trying to protect the hegemony of our party.

And they could have gotten away with it under that hypothesis.

So I think that exposes the hypothesis for the problem

it presents. It effectively in the south -- in every area of the

south where the Voting Rights Act has strongest sway and

strongest application it effectively allows an escape hatch from

section two by telling legislate -- legislators, state, any
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partisan election process and redistricting process -- it tells

them you can get away with this if you just emphasize everything

you do is for partisan reasons. You can get away with it because

there's no standards for partisan gerrymandering as this court

has concluded earlier. We've been unable to offer Your Honors

one under your view of the standards.

There's no standards for partisan gerrymandering so

they can say we're home free on partisan gerrymandering. Oh, by

the way, because it's such strong partisan gerrymandering you

can't ever make out section two plan. That can't be the law. It

just can't be the law.

I don't think, though, Your Honors have to test the

hypothesis in this case. And the reason is, as I've said, there

is no proof to support the hypothesis. In county after county

after county there is no proof that establishes this hypothesis.

It stays a hypothesis through the whole process.

And this, in fact, is what distinguishes the situation

here from the matters that were addressed in the LULAC v Clements

en banc decision to the 5th Circuit, which I suspect is the one

Mr. Schenck popped up about to object yesterday when I had asked

a question of Dr. Alford.

This situation is -- the situation I described

distinguishes this situation from the one that was present there.

And I know something about that case because I was the state's

lead lawyer in that case and I was the one that argued the case
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en banc to the 5th Circuit. I was the one that briefed the case

for the state. And there's a big difference between this case

and that case, and that is there the court concluded that it had

been established that there was causation.

Now, put aside whether -- for a second the

elements that Ms. Riggs discussed about how you have to unravel

this through the totality of the circumstances analysis. Put

that aside for a second, although I think that's an excellent

alternative or additional way to look at this situation.

But in that case if you read the opinion, and it

is a hundred and some odd pages long going through nine -- the

analysis of nine counties. And what they conclude -- after the

broad discussion about the role of partisanship versus race in

these analyses what the Court concludes is they do a detailed

county-by-county analysis--Jefferson County, Baylor County,

Harris County, Tarrant County, Dallas County, Travis County --

there are nine counties. I've forgotten -- Midland County, Ector

County. They go through a detailed analysis and conclude that I

think in every one of those counties -- some of them may go a

little further, but they conclude the proof had been that

partisanship better explained the outcomes there than race did.

There was proof in that situation.

So what LULAC v. Clements -- if you read what you

might call the theoretical introduction to the detailed analysis

where there is a discussion about Justice O'Connor's concurrence
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in Gingles and what that means -- if you read that carefully you

will see it sets up a shifting burden of proof situation.

And what it basically says is if we come in and

prove what we've proved here, which is there is racially

polarized voting under what everybody understands to be the

established analysis under Gingles -- if we come in and prove

that then if the State wants to say, well, there's a better

explanation, an alternative explanation, we can trump you on that

somehow, the burden shifts to them to prove it as they -- I think

the phrase is, "The state's parrying must be to establish this."

And Justice -- the section of LULAC v. Clements

that has this discussion has a long excerpt from Justice

O'Connor's concurrence. And in that--I wish I had it with me,

but I forgot to bring it up--she starts off saying, in the event

such and such, then it must be proved such and such.

Now, they didn't have to get into the shifting

burdens there because the state shouldered the burden. Here it's

just like in every -- really in just about every major civil

rights statute of this era that establishes an effects test as

this statute does under section two. In every one of those the

court seemed to, for some reason, feel very uncomfortable with

the effects test in the context of race.

And what the courts do is -- it's happened in

Title VII. I know Title VII. That's the easiest one -- is they

set up these very complicated shifting burdens of proof. If you
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establish this the burden shifts over here and then the burden

shifts to fact. And that's exactly what the situation would be

here if LULAC v. Clements were the law of this country.

Now, it's the law in the 5th Circuit. It's an

en banc decision. I think, though, if you look at it there's a

big question about whether LULAC v. Clements, or the principle

that's established there anyway, should be the law of this

country.

If you look at the 2006 decision in LULAC v.

Perry, the Supreme Court, Justice Kennedy's majority opinion says

there's racially polarized voting across the length and breadth

of Texas basically. I'm sure that's not it. That's a

paraphrase, but that's essentially what he said.

And what kind of proof did they rely on? It's

exactly the same kind of proof we've had here of racially

polarized voting. They referenced Dr. Lichtman's very proud of

his record and his citation by the Supreme Court based on his

analysis in that case. It's the identical analysis. It's the

same way.

And I think the Supreme Court would have known enough

to say, well, it may look like that but there's a partisan

possibility. Instead they said there is racially polarized

voting.

And it is impossible to reconcile the approach that the

State seems to be taking through Dr. Alford's testimony with that
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conclusion. The State was a party in that lawsuit. It didn't

raise any claim that partisanship better explained things in the

Supreme Court decision there.

So they're changing -- they want to change the

rules but they don't want to have to prove their case under those

changed rules. Anyway, I think that's very important for the

Court to understand.

Another matter about this is, regardless, we have

established that the explanation is racially polarized voting and

racial voting. Not racism so much. That is a very complex term

and a very complex behavior to attack. That's the reason they

moved to the effects test in so many of these things because it

is so complex. And it's so intrusive, I guess you could say. So

instead the effects test has been set up.

But here, put aside everything else, we've shown

racially polarized voting kind of in the sense that Dr. Alford

was saying we ought to have to get at, putting aside the effects

test.

For instance, the testimony about the different

racial voting patterns that are in the primaries -- put aside

whether they established racially polarized voting at that level.

There might be some debate county by county or statewide about

what happens in the individual primary, say Democratic primary in

the different counties. There might be some debate about it,

but what is clear is there is different racially positioned or
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directed voting in the primaries. That's not partisanship, of

course, as somebody has said.

Well, those people go vote in the general

election. And when they go to the general election they don't

suddenly drop whatever those attitudes were that were there in

the primary that led to those different voting patterns.

There -- there -- there in -- they're in the general electorate

too.

They aren't the only general electorate. In fact,

there's another major general electorate that establishes part of

the general electorate that establishes that it isn't partisan

voting patterns. Dr. Alford testified that 40 percent of voters

across the country -- it may be voters or population, I don't

know which one for sure. 40 percent identified themselves as

independents.

If they want to vote for one of the two major

party candidates it may look on paper like it's a partisan vote,

but they're independents. And whether they may choose a Democrat

on the lieutenant governor race and a Republican on the

governor's race -- it's just like Ms. Winkler testified, one of

Mr. Gray's witnesses, the lady from Alief School District -- or I

think she was on the Alief school board or she had been. She

testified that she votes for the person. And I know every one of

us have been -- there have been a lot of people in dinner

conversation or at a bus stop or wherever where they say "I vote
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for the person, not the party." And the general electorate is

full of people like, full of people like that.

So to say just because there appears to be some

patterns that align with the individ -- with the parties in the

racially polarized voting analysis, it ignores -- and to say that

trumps everything, it ignores the fact that there's tons of

independents voting there.

And that's the reason we have uncertain -- a lot

of uncertainty in who is going to win an election, presidential

elections. In Texas we've never had much uncertainty anymore who

it's going to be gubernatorially, unfortunately, from my

perspective, but there is a lot of uncertainty when it comes to

general elections.

If it was partisan and it was as locked in as

Dr. Alford says at one point in his testimony then we would know

the answer every time, but we don't know the answer every time.

So my point is there are several reasons why the

State's apparent effort to say let's sneak partisanship in to

trump the racially polarized voting analysis -- why that must

fail. And, of course, given -- if that argumentative is

accepted, the argument I just made is accepted, then across the

board -- put aside Travis County. It's a special case. And I

know it drives people crazy when I say Travis County is a special

case, but I think the facts establish it. Putting that aside, we

have -- everybody on our side has established racially polarized
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voting at a legally significant level across the board in every

place where somebody is trying to get a district established

under section two of the Voting Rights Act. And to say that

Plan C 185 in my case--H 283 in the House case--that -- that it

is insufficient within section two of the Voting Rights Act.

And so I think, again, Travis County, exception

under the Gingles three factor, we've established the first two

Gingles factors at every spot where we have a claim.

Next I want to turn to the citizen voting age

population issue and this goes to the first Gingles factor. This

is somewhat of an odd situation that's been created because the

Supreme Court in Bartlett versus Strickland of course establishes

this bright-line rule, 50 percent. They don't say what precisely

there -- citizen voting age population, but they never quite get

to the holding that it's citizen voting age population. The 5th

Circuit and several other circuits have said it's citizen voting

age population that you have to use to meet the bright-line rule.

But what we have here -- and you-all have heard

Dr. Ansolabehere's testimony and it's unrefuted. Dr. Rives

didn't refute anything in his testimony having to do with the

merits of this particular argument in his opinion.

Dr. Ansolabehere said that data for citizenship that's been used

by the legislature and apparently completely unexamined by the

legislature -- this is not casting any aspersions on the Texas

Legislative Council. They gave the legislature the data they had
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and the legislature didn't say maybe we should look at this to

see if we can improve it, bring it into sync or whatever. They

didn't do anything. They just said we'll use it and it was very

convenient.

So that meant that they were taking data -- I

don't know if they knew it, but they should have known it. They

were taking data that was three years or so lagging behind the

census data. And then they were hanging their hat on the claims

in Dallas/Fort Worth and Harris County, those two places in

particular, that, gee, we would love to create a district like

Congressman Smith has -- has proposed or we'd love to create a

district in Harris County akin to what the Texas Latino

Redistricting Task Force or Representative Dukes in Plan 163 has

proposed. We'd love to do that but we just can't quite get there

on the citizen voting age population.

Now, in Dallas/Fort Worth the Texas Latino

Redistricting Task Force did propose a district that got past the

50 percent threshold even using the ACS data. They got past

50.4 or something like that. I don't remember the exact number

so they got past it. They showed you could do it even using the

ACS data.

But the state is not confined and we aren't

confined to that data to establish that we've met this Gingles 1

threshold set in Bartlett versus Strickland and fleshed out by

the citizenship requirement added in Valdespino versus Alamo
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Heights and similar cases like that.

Dr. Ansolabehere --

JUDGE SMITH: So to what extent then is the choice of

which numbers to use one of those things that's allowed to the

State as part of its legislative or policy judgment -- what have

the cases said about that?

MR. HICKS: Well, I don't know. They say the State can

rely on the safe harbor of the census. That much is clear and

that was -- actually LULAC versus Perry said that because in that

my clients had a claim on one person/one vote, trying to use

mid-census -- mid-decade census -- but -- mid-decade

redistricting with old census numbers. And the Supreme Court

said -- they rejected that. So they said it's a safe harbor to

use the census numbers for drawing lines.

JUDGE RODRIGUEZ: So why isn't it safe harbor to use

the old HCVAP numbers?

MR. HICKS: Because those aren't census numbers. The

Census Bureau can analyze -- collects that data, but it's not the

safe harbor and it's not -- I'm sorry. It's not the enumeration

that the census does every 10 years that the Supreme Court has

said you can use.

I think the Court has also said the State's -- Burns

versus Richardson is a 1966 U.S. Supreme Court case and they said

the states can use something else. But remember this is for one

person/one vote that they're using something else. It's not for
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purposes of the section two. It's another difference that I

should have mentioned upfront, but they said states can use some

other numbers for purposes of one person/one vote, some other

measure than the census, but it requires them to prove that it's

valid.

JUDGE RODRIGUEZ: So for this Gingles 1 what are you

proposing should have been used? The SSVR?

MR. HICKS: No. The Court -- the State -- this is the

reason I started this section with saying it's somewhat

complicated because --

JUDGE RODRIGUEZ: I'm confused. Go ahead.

MR. HICKS: Because the data that has been used is

wrong. We've established the citizenship data that's being used

by the state to say you can't meet the 50 percent CVAP threshold,

we've established that that is wrong. It's three years out of

whack.

And the trends, as Dr. Ansolabehere testified, are a

linear trend straight up. And he can trace it where you add

nearly 400,000 additional Hispanic citizen voting age population

in the whole state of Texas if you bring it into sync with the

census.

JUDGE RODRIGUEZ: So the numbers you claim then should

be extrapolated HCVAP numbers?

MR. HICKS: He said you could do that. He testified it

could be done. He hasn't done that yet because he can't go knock
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on the door of the census as an individual and say, would you

give me those numbers down to the levels sufficient to do

redistricting. He hasn't been -- you know, he can't do that.

And one of the points he made -- it might have been odd

for a professor to suggest to the Court that they could do

something like that, but one of the points he made in his

testimony was the Texas Legislative Council could go ask. The

Census has that -- has those numbers now. They won't release

them until December -- in the updated 2006 to 2010 level, they

won't release them until sometime in December when they redo

this. So they won't release them until then, but they can be had

before then. And there also can be an analysis done that

extrapolates to get them more in sync using this linear trending

analysis. He did do the trending down to the county level.

But to have the bright-line rule established and then

to say we are changing things so you can never approve this in

sync with the current data is to disenfranchise minority voters.

It's the direct -- there's a direct relationship between, say, we

don't have better -- we know they're wrong, but we don't have

better numbers than the ACS old survey numbers, so we'll just use

those. And if you can't meet that bright-line rule using those

inaccurate numbers then you're flat out of luck.

That seems a pretty harsh way to approach this whole

very serious inquiry on the Gingles 1 factor. Dr. Ansolabehere

here testified when he had taken the numbers in Dallas and
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Tarrant and Harris County, taken the numbers from statewide down

to the county level, he added, if I remember right, roughly

55,000 people of Hispanic citizen voting age population in the --

into Harris County.

He added -- it added -- he didn't add. The analysis

added around 25,000--but I may be off on the numbers--additional

Hispanic citizen voting age population in Dallas and Tarrant

counties together.

Now, that doesn't -- that doesn't put them into the

district, the demonstration districts that every one of us, I

believe, have drawn on those two areas, but he did say he was

confident that given the lag and given the trend, the Plan C 166

numbers, for instance, in the Harris County -- the demonstration

district in Harris County and the demonstration district in

Dallas/Fort Worth, he was confident that they were over

50 percent Hispanic citizen voting age population at this time,

now.

And to say that because the census has yanked their old

approach away, the Supreme Court has set a new rule, and we in

the 5th Circuit have added a citizenship requirement and we set

this up so you cannot prove your case on that issue is harsh.

It's seems wrong to me and it seems that, if nothing else, his

expert opinion with respect to our two demonstration districts

that they are over 50 percent citizen voting age population

suffices. It wasn't rebutted. There is no rebuttal of it.
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JUDGE SMITH: So you're not -- are you saying wait for

the new numbers or are you saying use the -- what I'll call the

linear projection?

MR. HICKS: The best thing would be to wait for the new

numbers, but I know this Court doesn't want to wait. We've got

an election coming up.

JUDGE SMITH: No. I'm just asking you what you're

asking for.

MR. HICKS: I know. I know. I don't know what to tell

you. I would say use the linear trending.

JUDGE SMITH: And what about -- there has been some

suggestion here, not a lot, about the phenomenon of out-migration

since '08. Is that something that needs to be considered in your

view?

MR. HICKS: Dr. Ansolabehere testified that his trend

analysis -- basically he rejected that testimony. He said he

thought it was wrong and he thought that in his -- his

analysis took that -- whatever that was that happened into

account. His testimony was that it took whatever that phenomenon

was was taken into account in his trending analysis. So my point

is this Court --

JUDGE SMITH: I guess I don't under -- I mean maybe --

perhaps he understands what he's doing, but it's not linear

anymore, is it? If -- if there was an out-migration then it

can't be linear from '07 --
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MR. HICKS: He testified that -- he disagreed with

Dr. Murray on that particular point. And so he said there's a

trend and it goes -- a linear trend as he's projected and that

this testimony about the out-migration does not affect the

projection of that linear trend.

I don't have, you know, the very words of his testimony

in front of me, not withstanding the fact we get daily copy. I

just don't have that in front of me to quote it back to Your

Honors. Of course in the post-trial briefing and I will address

that in more detail.

But I believe we can take that testimony and say that

we have met the 50 percent rule based -- because it is

unrebutted, with respect to our demonstration districts in both

Harris and in Dallas/Fort Worth. We don't even have a 50 percent

CVAP problem with respect to our demonstration district coming

out of the Valley in Plan C 166 because it's already over.

Plan C 190, the demonstration plan, in particular the

Dallas/Fort Worth part of it for the Texas Latino Redistricting

Task Force, I think it's congressional -- they label it District

6 -- District 6 in their demonstration map. They're already over

50 percent. So they -- they've cleared the hurdle for all of us

so to speak with that demonstration district even if the Court

rejects what I've talked about about the ACS and says it will

just use numbers that everybody knows are bad numbers.

Now, I want to turn to the part of our case that is, I
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guess, unique to us: Our constitutional claim with respect to

Travis County and the disruption of what Justice Kennedy in

Bartlett versus Strickland described as a crossover district.

And he was very careful, Judge Smith. He kind of

complained about the messy nomenclature and the inexact

nomenclature being used as coalition districts and so on. And so

he bore down in his opinion -- the court bore down in -- no, wait

a minute. It was Justice Kennedy's opinion, lead opinion for the

court. Justice Kennedy bore down and gave a very specific

definition of a crossover district, just kind of nearly like a

statutory definition. And he basically said it's a district in

which there is such a significant level of Anglo crossover

voting--he said white crossover voting--that those voters cross

over and vote in coalition with minority voters, both black and

in our case Hispanic. I don't remember in Bartlett versus

Strickland if Hispanic voters were involved. But they vote in

coalition with those minority voters so -- to support the

preferred candidate of the minority votes. So that's the short

version or maybe it's the long version of a cross -- of what a

crossover district is.

In Travis County our evidence is established that that

is exactly what exists in Travis County and in particular with

respect to current District 25, which is primarily located in

Travis County in the very area that Mr. Butts testified and that

Judge Biscoe from the Travis County Commissioner's Court
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testified is where this tri-ethnic voting coalition exists. That

is where that part of District 25, the current District 25, is.

And the congressional redistricting plan that was

drawn in Plan C 185 dec -- completely decimates those -- those --

that coalition in terms of congressional voting. It isolates

Hispanic and black voters across the whole county into

different -- four or five -- five different congressional

districts. Stratifies them, sends them off to Tarrant County,

Harris County, Texas A&M, the western side of San Antonio and

also the south side of San Antonio.

60 percent -- Dr. Ansolabehere testified

60 percent of the Hispanic population in Travis County is not in

District 35. So that shows -- and then the black population is

completely chopped up. Completely chopped up.

And you saw the testimony of Dr. -- of Dr. Butts. He

seemed like a professor. -- of Mr. Butts, and he showed you how

the lines were drawn, how the precincts were split to carve

people in and out of these districts. You saw what happened at

St. Edwards University with respect to the administration

building on one side, the dorm on the other. The dorm was put in

CD 35. The administration building with no voters--and that's a

split precinct--in CD 21. He showed you the arrowhead district

where they kept black voters and Anglo voters separate from each

other by splitting a precinct.

And those were just examples. I think
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Mr. Korbel's expert report talked about how 100 precincts are

split there through congressional redistricting. They've

completely carved up that coalition.

And Justice Kennedy's opinion in Bartlett versus

Strickland says -- he says you can't -- as Judge Smith said in

questioning somebody earlier, he said that the state is not

obligated to create col -- crossover districts, but Justice

Kennedy said -- specifically said a serious question under the

14th Amendment, the equal protection clause of the 14th

Amendment -- and he also mentioned the 15th amendment but you-all

have thrown that out of the case. Under the 14th Amendment a

serious constitutional question would be raised if the State

deliberately destroyed a crossover district.

And you can see why that presents a major

constitutional question because a crossover district is really

what section two of the Voting Rights Act is aspiring to. It's

hoping the country can get to this. Johnson versus De Grandy

talked about this. We want to have districts where people vote

in coalition and work with each other. And to have the State

deliberately destroy that is what has led Justice Kennedy to say

that's a serious constitutional question. And I think that

question is raised here and there is -- there is as blatant a

violation as you can get of it. There's no district in Travis

County that has more than 35 percent of its population in Travis

County.
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JUDGE SMITH: But under the old district that exists

today, which one is it that you're saying is being destroyed?

MR. HICKS: The particular congressional district is

District 25.

JUDGE SMITH: The current 25.

MR. HICKS: It's the one that was put in place on

remand from the Supreme Court in LULAC versus Perry when the

court redrew that district. It essentially pulled -- that was

the district that in the Tom Delay redistricting -- redistricting

had gone down to basically the Rio Grande River on the other side

of McAllen from a place similar to where this one is, where CD 35

is in Travis County here.

And so the new CD 25 that we're talking about that's on

the remedy, the Supreme Court pulled that back up as far as it

could and back into Travis County. Not entirely. I mean, there

are parts of the district right into Bastrop and some other

east -- south -- counties southeast of there, but 60 percent of

its population is in the very heart of where this tri-ethnic

coalition voting group operates and it has been destroyed.

And there's no question if you look at the 450 pages of

the congressional e-mails going back and forth about the planning

here, there's no question that it was intended directly to

destroy that coalition. That was the purpose of it, is to make

sure, you know, weird Travis County was made even more weird so

to speak by chopping it up this way.
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JUDGE RODRIGUEZ: Well, I don't recall a specific

reading of all those e-mails, but if there was an intent wasn't

that intent by his colleagues in the federal congress as opposed

to the state legislature or were there e-mails --

MR. HICKS: No, I understand, right.

JUDGE RODRIGUEZ: I mean, because here we're dealing

with intent of the state legislature.

MR. HICKS: That's a fair question. I agree. There

was pressure to do it is a better way to say it. And the

intent -- it couldn't be clearer. The intent could not be

clearer. You couldn't draw a better plan to chop up the

coalition than was done in this particular case.

JUDGE GARCIA: Right. And regardless of the

congressional intent the legislature adopted it.

MR. HICKS: It did it.

JUDGE GARCIA: Right.

MR. HICKS: And there was -- and Representative Dukes

for one -- there were others, but Representative Dukes, Donna

Dukes from Travis County, offered Plan C 166 which didn't do it.

So they were on notice that it didn't have to be done

essentially by offering this statewide amendment, a request that

it not be done, and they did it anyway.

Let me add one more very minor point about District 35

and it's only because the Court has not heard live testimony on

this.
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On District 35, the State's -- you heard Mr. Downton

testify that he considered it marginal -- I think he said

borderline compact. And you have not heard -- but you have not

heard the testimony of Dr. Alford and Mr. Giberson as given in

their depositions. Mr. Giberson is the State's expert that they

offered up on compactness. And Dr. Alford you know. Both of

them testified, not in response to questions --

JUDGE RODRIGUEZ: Is Dr. Alford no longer the State

witness?

MR. HICKS: I don't know.

JUDGE RODRIGUEZ: I guess that was a bad joke.

(LAUGHTER.)

JUDGE RODRIGUEZ: His name was brought up so much by

your side I was beginning to wonder.

MR. HICKS: And Dr. Alford -- not in response to

questions from me, but Dr. Alford testified that he did not

consider District 35 in Plan C 185 to be compact. He said it's

non-compact.

Mr. Giberson -- and this might have been in response to

questions from me, but I think somebody else asked the question

too. Mr. Giberson testified that he did not consider it compact.

He considered it non-compact.

And if you look at his analysis table--I don't remember

which table--as an exhibit to his report -- if you look at the

numbers, District 35 is easily under every measure that he uses



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

2147

to measure compactness the least compacted of all of those

districts.

So he said -- the State has basically said that's a

non-compact district. And so I just wanted to close with that.

Thank you.

JUDGE GARCIA: Thank you, Mr. Hicks.

Mr. Hebert.

MR. HEBERT: May it please the court.

The Congressional and State House redistricting cases

such as these often present complicated intent questions. And

I'm going to address the two major ones that usually come up in

these cases. So I'm going to try to cover topics that haven't

been addressed before by people on my side.

The first intent issue is under the Shaw v. Reno,

Johnson v. Miller, Vera v. Bush line of cases that talk about

whether race can be used in redistricting and whether it can be a

predominant factor when the state draws maps.

So we start with Vera v. Bush and the Supreme Court

says that "strict scrutiny will not apply merely because

redistricting is performed with consciousness of race." In other

words, race can be taken into account by the state and not

violate the constitution.

Where strict scrutiny comes into play is when the

plaintiffs rely on race and subordinate traditional redistricting

principles such as compactness, respect for political
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subdivisions, respect for communities of interest, things like

that, that when it becomes a predominating factor then the

district is subject to strict scrutiny. And as we know, strict

scrutiny is usually fatal in these cases.

In Vera v. Bush -- and I put the slide up. I don't

know if you can lower it at all, but it's the Supreme Court --

and I tried to give you pin cites for the members of the Court.

I think that is 517 U.S. 952.

Like this case, where the State says that they desired

to engage in partisanship where they had tried to protect

incumbents, it's a mixed motive case because clearly they also

tried to use race to create some minority opportunities

districts. We contend not enough, but they -- it's a mixed

motive case just like it was in Vera versus Bush.

And in that case the State of Texas conceded that they

had -- one of their goals was to create three districts that were

heavily minority, but they also cited evidence to the Supreme

Court that incumbency protection was also a factor in what they

did in the drawing of district lines, so the Supreme Court had to

untangle that.

The State also conceded in that case that the three

districts at issue were created for the purpose of enhancing

minority opportunities. And what that means is that Texas

used -- the means that Texas used to make its redistricting

decisions provides further evidence of how important race was
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back then.

And if you look at what the Supreme Court of the

United States said Texas did, they said that the primary tool

that they used in drawing districts was a computer program

called--you guessed it--Red Appl.

Red Appl permits redistricters to manipulate district

lines on computer maps on which racial data can be superimposed.

And at each change -- when you draw maps on Red Appl, on each

change Red Appl displays the updated racial composition.

Now, Judge Rodriguez probed this question when

Mr. Downton was on the stand. And he said, "Well, at what point

did you turn on the race" -- this is in the trial transcript

9-12. "At what point did you turn on the race or ethnicity

feature." And then he talked about, you know, "At any point did

you turn on the race?" "Yes," he says.

"And at what point did you turn on the feature?" Well,

the answer was, "As far as the feature we were always -- we were

conscious of the numbers so we would look at them throughout the

process before moving forward with the map."

So let's not pretend that the State didn't know exactly

what the racial implications were of what it was doing. It knew

it at every click of the mouse in drawing the map.

Now, there were many incumbent protection boundaries

the Supreme Court said in 1991 that were sabotaged by dividing

counties. And I put this up here because I think if you read it
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it sounds exactly like what we have going on in this case. For

the sake of maintaining the winning seats in the House,

congressmen or would-be congressmen shed hostile groups and

potential opponents by fencing them out of their districts. And

the legislature obligingly carved out districts of apparent

supporters of incumbents as suggested by the incumbents.

And here we have 463 pages of e-mails from

congressional members passed to the legislature and back to them.

And almost in every single one there's a reference to either

race, SSVR, Latino population. It's rampant throughout that

exhibit, 311. It's Exhibit 311 of the Latino Task Force. So

exactly what was happening in Vera v. Bush seems to have happened

here.

Now, there's been a lot of talk about, well, it's

partisan gerrymandering. Well, of course that's what the Supreme

Court was faced with in Vera v. Bush. The State said we were

just trying to protect the incumbents. And they said, well, yes,

you were but you also allowed race to play too much of a role in

the way you created these districts. And they said that it

had -- it had the effect of basically -- in large part the

political gerrymandering was largely accomplished by the use of

race as a proxy for partisanship.

So what they're doing here is they're saying, okay,

we'll go to any precinct that has Obama carrying 60 percent -- a

minority precinct -- well, we know that's a minority precinct so
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we're going to shift it over either to the minority district or

take it out of an Anglo district.

And again in that case you had people talking

about -- in Vera v. Bush -- again throughout the course of the

congressional process the lines were continuously reconfigured to

assist in protecting the Democratic incumbents in the Dallas/Fort

Worth Metroplex by spreading the black population to increase the

Democratic Party index in those areas. Now, they're quoting the

district court, the Supreme Court is, in this case.

Now, if you substitute spreading the black and add

Latino population in the Metroplex to include -- to increase the

Republican Party index in the other areas you have exactly what

happened here. They packed District 30, Congressman Eddie

Bernice Johnson's district, and notwithstanding the growth in

Dallas/Fort Worth they didn't draw a single new minority

opportunity district. Not a single one.

And I think it was Judge Garcia yesterday asking Mr. --

Dr. Alford -- and, again, you're right, Judge Rodriguez. We were

relying pretty heavily on Dr. Alford. Dr. Alford testified for

the State in Balderas. He testified for us in 2003 when we

challenged the 2003 map. Now he's back with the State. Maybe

the next round he'll be back on our side.

But, in any event, the point is we've got a situation

where you've got Republicans making requests, individual

requests, and getting them granted. And you don't have
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minority -- Anglos rather. And you don't have Democratic

minority members making those kinds of requests either.

Now, I want to just show you because in the Shaw v.

Reno case is what Justice O'Connor says that in redistricting

appearances matter. So let's look at some of these. And you

looked at these when Mr. Vera was here and he showed you how that

arm went up into Dallas. And then, of course, it creeps over

into the Arlington area of Tarrant County at the very -- at the

very far left.

And then we have District 9, another district that has

a bizarre shape. And shape matters in redistricting cases, in

these kind of cases.

District 12. We've heard about that, the finger or

lightning bolt that comes down into Tarrant County. It snakes

along here.

And by the way, there was some testimony -- I think

somebody asked Mr. Downton--it might have been the State's

lawyer--about, well, wasn't that bizarre, a little cut here and

there, wasn't that the Trinity River project made at the request

of Senator Granger -- I mean Congresswoman Granger.

Check out Exhibit 311, those 463 pages, which I just

did a moment ago. The word "Trinity" doesn't appear in any of

those pages. That's post-talk rationalization for trying to

engage in the racial and ethnic splitting of the Latino and

African American population in Tarrant County. And I'm going to
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show you in a couple of minutes exactly how that was done.

Here's Congressional District 18, Sheila Jackson-Lee's

district. There is no reason that this African American

opportunity district has to have a shape like that unless you

really want to bleach out black voters or Latino voters from

adjoining Anglo districts and pack them all in so that they can

have no impact anywhere else.

And then I think there may be one more, Congressional

District 29. And by the way, this is a district basically almost

identical to what it was before. It's a little worse now. But

this was a district in the 2003 trial that Dr. Alford testified

was an unconstitutional racial gerrymand.

And then the last one, Congressional District 33,

again, a district that comes down, snakes around and picks up

minority voters. And we have exhibits in the Quesada exhibit

book which overlay these districts into -- with race and

ethnicity so that you can see how the cuts go.

And largely what happens is -- you know, I started my

legal career in the school desegregation area a long, long time

ago when I was with the Justice Department. And the rule was,

you know, you couldn't assign students to schools on the basis of

race or ethnicity.

Well, basically what's happened here is they've

assigned voters to these districts on the basis of race or

ethnicity. And what they've done is they've carefully crafted
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the Anglo Republican districts in such a way as to put just

enough minority voters in there so that they can't pose any

threat to the Anglo incumbent, and then the rest of them get

packed into one district.

JUDGE SMITH: In your view all of these are packed, all

seven of them are packed?

MR. HEBERT: They're not packed. They're racial

gerrymanders. The only district that I'm contending is packed is

Eddie Bernice Johnson's district, which was already an

African American performing district. And they loaded it up. In

fact, that was her own testimony.

So that's the -- that's the evidence of racial

gerrymandering. And again we have, you know, a lot of exhibits

that I think will flesh that out and I will certainly cite those

in my post-trial brief.

The other issue of intent that comes up in these

cases is whether or not they engaged in a racially discriminatory

purpose aimed at Latino and African American voters when they

created the districts.

Now, I would argue that if you just start out with

the fact that -- and I know Dr. Alford hedged on this as much as

he could, but at the end of the day -- certainly the San Antonio

Express this morning picked it up. But at the end of the day he

conceded that not one new district for Latinos or African

Americans was created under the State's map.
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He talked about the swap which Judge Garcia on

number 27 and 34, and then he talked about 35 replacing 23, but

at the end of the day if you take out two and you put two in,

where's the new district? Well, it ain't there. That's the

answer.

And the fact of the matter is that in a State that

gained four seats on the backs of minority voters -- as I said in

my opening statement, it's inconceivable. It's tragic that

Latinos don't get one new seat and African Americans don't get

any new opportunities. It's tragic and it violates the Voting

Rights Act, and it's intentional.

And the way it's intentional is under the Village

of Arlington Heights versus Metropolitan Housing Corporation

case, the leading case on how to prove racial intent. It's still

the case relied upon by the Justice Department in Washington in

voting rights cases.

And they say, first of all, that you have to look

at the totality of circumstances here. You have to look at

whatever evidence you have that's available, both direct and

circumstantial.

And the first place to start is what's the effect

of the action. And I just told you what the effect was. The

effect is they didn't create any new opportunity districts.

Then you look at the historical background of the

decision. That's another evidentiary source. What's the
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historical background in Texas? Every decade they litigate and

they lose. That's a historical background. They have a long

history of discrimination against African Americans and members

of language minority groups too when they had information only in

English, for example, and many, many other examples. So there's

a history here.

So if the State had never engaged in discrimination,

the white crime area, the poll tax -- and we could go on and on.

If the State had never engaged in any discrimination and then

suddenly we were contending they would, you'd say, well, wait a

minute, they never did that before. But as I said in my opening

statement, it's like they're addicted to vote dilution here.

They do it over and over again. And it happened again this

decade.

The other factors you look at are the sequence of

events leading up to the decision. Well, let's look at the

sequence of events. There's an exhibit that we have called a

congressional time-line. I commend it to you. I don't have a

slide for it.

But in the congressional time-line, which is

Exhibit 6, a Quesada plaintiff's exhibit, they did a bait and

switch when they first put the congressional map up. First of

all, even though Congressman Smith gave the map to the

legislature in April, it never came out publicly. Nobody knew

that there was a map out there, you know, certainly for the
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minority community. It was kind of done -- and they kept it

there and they didn't introduce it. And then at the end of the

session they introduced the map.

When the map came out in the senate they scheduled

a hearing 48 hours later on the map. So everybody gets ready to

testify and 48 hours they show up. And what happens? Before the

hearing starts the chairman announces that he's got a committee

substitute. So everybody is prepared to talk about map A and the

hearing is on map B. And everybody says, wait a minute, we

didn't have an opportunity to do that.

And they really never did because then the map got

passed, it went over to the House, and in the House they had one

hearing and then they had one where the public wasn't allowed to

speak. They wouldn't allow any public testimony. And as I think

I'm going to show you in a moment with some slides, we're going

to see how that all played out.

Now, I talked about the effect and I want to just

come back to that for a minute. And if we could pull up Exhibit

26. There it is. It's going to take a minute to load. But what

you see here is you see the district coming down from the -- this

is Burgess's district, Anglo, comes in, makes this narrow here,

picks up. What we have happening, going on here, is that we

actually have six congressional districts, six in Tarrant County

that take a piece of the minority population.

David Hanna, from TLC, could you pull up the
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districts in Tarrant/Dallas County for a minute?

You have this coming down and picking up Latinos

and snaking around down here. These are black and Latino

population concentrations. So you have that on 26.

Then you've got 12 over here which comes around,

snakes around narrowly, then comes up the other side. That's a

totally different configuration of that district.

You have District 33 over here which comes in,

moves around, comes to pick up some population.

You have District 6, Joe Barton's district,

picking up some population, minority population all the way up

through there.

You've got 24 coming down and picking up some

growth. This is the DFW Airport area, but coming down into this

area here and picks up some.

And then you've got this little piece here

which -- actually there is a shading there, not on this map, but

there is a minority population in that top precinct right there.

And guess where that district goes? It goes to Austin, Texas.

It goes to Hays County actually and it even goes further than

that.

Now, when you slice and dice the minority

community like that -- and again we're looking at a huge -- if

you look at the two-county area--David, if you could pull back

and just show a county area--and you start slicing and dicing
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that many hundreds of thousands of 1.2 million people, the Latino

and black people in that area, you're absolutely -- you have to

go out of your way not to create another minority opportunity

district.

So let's go back to the issue of intent because I

want to finish up and move on to a couple of examples -- I want

to give you specific examples of racially discriminatory intent.

So we saw that. Let's move on to -- that's just

one example.

Now, minority senators in the senate, Senator

Zaffirini, a Latino, and Royce West, an African American from up

in Dallas -- here are quotes and this is Quesada Exhibit 3. And

West says, "For purposes of the record I didn't have any input

into the map 125." This is the early version of C 185. This was

kind of the first version that came out. "I never saw the map

before you published it."

Senator Zaffirini says to Senator Seliger, who's

the Anglo chairman of the redistricting committee, "I've been on

every redistricting committee since my election in 1986 and I

must say that I have never had less input into the drawing of any

map until this session."

And Zaffirini continues, and she says, "Were any

of the staff members involved in drawing this map either Latino

or African American?" And he says, "Well, not on the senate

staff but I think there might have been one in the speaker's
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office's people and that's Mr. Interiano, who is Hispanic."

And she says, "Well, were any members of the legal

team that you had hired, outside counsel, in the senate, were

they either Latino or African American?" "No," is the answer.

So then we have testimony from another

redistricting committee member here, Mark Veasey, who says, "I

can tell you from being a resident, a life-long resident of the

Metroplex, this is at his deposition at pages four and five, that

it's clear the census numbers back me up. The Metroplex is two

of the fastest-growing areas in the entire country for African

Americans and Latinos. And as a matter of fact, you could easily

draw a district, a Hispanic opportunity district and an

additional African American district in addition to Eddie Bernice

Johnson's.

And then he concludes and says, "And the state,

with the way the map was drawn, absolutely didn't afford minority

voters increased opportunities to elect a candidate of their

choice."

And he continues -- I'm not going to read all of

this, but if you check his deposition at page 5 he talks about

the most glaring example being what happens to minorities in this

area. And that would be one example, he says, of minorities not

being given an increased electoral opportunity.

He also says -- and I want to pause for a minute

on this. He says -- he's asked about whether or not they had
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meaningful participation. And he said, well -- and what would

that be? And he said, well, when you have hearings in --

throughout the state allowing African Americans and Latinos to be

able to come and testify for or against the districts.

They never did that here. That was a change from

even 2003 when the special session ran through what is called the

DeLay redistricting map. They did at least go around the state

and solicit people's views. And 91 percent of the people back

then said don't do re-redistricting, but they did it anyway, but

the fact is they gave people their due process.

And then he says, "I don't think those hearings

were done favorably so that African Americans and Latinos would

be able to have a voice in the proceedings."

And then he says and here's the critical thing.

This gentleman -- this is our client. This is our Quesada

plaintiff. He says, "I was a member of the redistricting

committee in the state legislature in the House. I would say

that a lot of the map drawing and a lot of the changes were done

in secret. They were done to keep the African American and

Latino members of the committee sort of discombobulated and not

really know what was going on. And I thought that was so unfair

and made the process and then the participation part of being

able to draw fair maps for all races impossible."

Now, we have two examples. I think Mr. Bledsoe

brought this out. This is further evidence of intentional
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discrimination and I'm going to get to this now.

We know that Congressman Al Green -- can you take

a look and tell us what impact C 185 has? And he says, "Well, my

district office, it's no longer there. It's been removed from

the district."

And then he says, "We tried to work

through" -- and these are trial transcript cites. "We tried to

work through some of the staff members to get that restored."

And at the end of the day he went to Congressman Smith--next

page--and he says, "By the time we got there time wasn't on our

side and I might add there was a reality we weren't going to get

a lot of our desires addressed anyway."

And I'm going to come to Judge Smith's question in

a minute because what impact does this have on voting.

"And so you made a proposal for modification that

was not accepted?" "Well, we tried to work out a proposal. I

did submit what I thought would work through Congressman Smith

and his indication was it just wasn't the time, it didn't get

done."

The next slide -- go back.

We also know that Congresswoman Eddie Bernice

Johnson testified that not only was her district office taken out

of her district, her home was taken out of her district.

Now, those are two African American members of

Congress. Sheila Jackson-Lee is the only other member of
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Congress who's African American and she testified that her

district was not -- district office was taken out, I believe.

So you have all three, which I think Mr. Bledsoe

referenced in his closing statement as something like

"remarkable." I'll say.

Do you know who else didn't get their district office

and have their district office taken out? Where we're sitting

right now: Congressman Charlie Gonzales' district. He had his

taken out too.

No, isn't it odd that four minority members had

their district offices taken out? Well, you can say that it's,

you know, serendipity, happenstance. Let's take a look.

Congressman Marchant. Here's an e-mail to Eric Opiela.

Again, this is -- you know, from -- and I cite it actually here.

It's a document that's been filed in the case but it's also in

Exhibit 311 of the Task Force. Oh, one change, it's easy -- this

is Anglo Republican. No population involved. My grandbabies go

to Hockaday school on Forest and Inwood. I have the north side

of Forest. Pete Sessions -- that's Republican Anglo

congressman -- has the south side. "Please go across the street

and pluck the campus out of Pete and put it in my district. I

will ask Burt to do it."

Mr. Hanna, can you drill down on that for us just

to show? Do you have the address of the Hockaday school? I

thought I gave it to you.
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While he's pulling that up let me just say in

response to Judge Smith, I tend to agree with you that it

really -- it's hard to imagine when somebody's district office

gets moved out what effect that has on the ability of minorities

within the district to actually go to the polls and elect the

candidate of their choice. I think it's hard to draw that

connection.

Ms. Riggs' answer I think gave a good answer in terms

of the constituent-representative relationships where people know

where they're going and the building is important and it's often

historic as you pointed out.

But the fact is that what -- why it's important

here is because it shows that -- and these e-mails, I think, are

going to show this--that when it came to Anglo members of

Congress they were willing to make the most absurd, is what

Chairman Solomons called, nickel and dime changes. That's what

he called them in Defendant's Exhibit 23. Nickel and dime

changes at the request of members of Congress. But a member of

Congress can't get their congressional district moved into their

office?

So here's the area here that we've been discussing.

Here is Forest Lane and here is Inwood Parkway and here is the

area. This is the campus in this area and this is Marchant up

here. And so he scoops down and gets this area right here just

because his grandbabies go to that school. Now, that's a petty
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change in my view and in the grand scheme of things it doesn't --

you know, it's not going to be like that one exhibit that makes

or breaks the case.

But let's go back to the next one because this

one -- this one is outrageous. Here's one from Congressman

Granger's office to Mr. Opiela saying, "Our office is located on

7th and Jones in downtown. There's no population there. We told

Charlie Geren about this problem and he said he'd work on this

today, that this has to be corrected."

Well, it was corrected. I'm not going to take the

time to pull up the map. It was corrected. And get this. It

wasn't her congressional office. She wanted her campaign office

in the district and she got it. Her campaign office. I mean,

that's just secondary compared to a member's district office

where you have your relationships.

And then a third one, Congressman Smith, he's

not -- he's not an innocent party in this. He says, "There's one

precinct which includes two condo buildings with many GOP

supporters and the San Antonio Country Club adjacent to my

district would really like to get it. Joe Straus would approve."

And of course he got it.

Let's go to the next -- now I want to move on from

those things because I think that shows the disparate treatment

of Anglo incumbents versus minority incumbents.

I want to talk a little bit about the population
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of the state and finish up in my closing. The percent of Texas's

population. It's 45 percent Anglo and somebody said majority

minority. 72 percent of the districts will now be dominated by

Anglos, 8 percent by blacks and 19 percent by Hispanic.

Let's go to the next slide.

If you look at VAP as opposed to total pop it's

still a disparity there. Now, 72, 49, 811, 1933. Next.

Now, as we said throughout this case, minority

population is responsible for 89 percent of the growth. Now,

probably the biggest joke in the entire transcript and record is

Chairman Seliger, the Anglo chair of the senate committee, where

he says -- and this is in Exhibit D-22 at page A-1, he said, "I'm

proud of the congressional plan because," quote, "the map

accommodates the population growth throughout the state."

I almost can't say it without bursting out

laughing frankly because this map does anything but respect the

population growth in the state.

Now, in North Texas between 2000 and 2010 -- and

I'm going to come back also to a question that I believe it

was -- that came up with Judge Rodriguez about HCVAP because I

want to talk about that and particularly as it affects North

Texas. But between 2000 and 2010 the Anglo population decreased

in this two-county area while the African American and Hispanic

population increased by 600,000. This is the DFW area. And only

42 -- 41 percent of the Dallas/Tarrant population is now Anglo so
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it's less than the state, but the Republican map, the Anglo-drawn

map, seven of the eight districts in North Texas are going to be

controlled by Anglos, 87 percent.

Now, Ms. Perales asked a question here about

C 122. She said -- this was of Mr. Downton. She asked him about

a map that had been created. And he said, "You know, I do recall

a map coming from the Latino Task Force, MALDEF," he says. And

she said, "You recall saying that you remember it was

approximately 45 percent HCVAP?" The Hispanic citizen voting age

population. And he says "Correct."

Then there was a time when Judge Rodriguez came in

and said -- and proposed a question: So what was the fallacy in

Congressman Smith's drawing? Did he not take HCVAP into

consideration or what was the mistake he allegedly made? And

Downton says, "Well, I don't know he made any mistake. I don't

think his district was a required district. It may have been a

permissible district, but there wasn't the legislative will to

pass that district unless it was a required district."

Then I asked in my one question -- I tried to do a

one-question cross-examination, but I said, "Did you ever attempt

to create a district in that area"--and Mr. Rios mentioned it in

his closing--"that combined African Americans and Latinos in the

DFW area to create a new Latino opportunity district?" He said,

"No, I never drafted that on my own."

Now, why is all that important? Well, the reason
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is because when they establish a 50 percent threshold and say if

you can't get over 50 percent HCVAP we don't have to draw the

district, that's a legally flawed argument. There is no such

rule that says you have to have 50 percent from the Supreme Court

of the United States, 50 percent CVAP. In fact, relying -- and

they get that from Bartlett by the way.

Now, Bartlett -- as we said before, Bartlett was a

district in which blacks were about 40 percent. There were no

Latinos in the district. And whites crossed over, just enough of

them with the black voters to elect their preferred candidate.

And the state tried to -- North Carolina tried to argue in that

case that that district was protected under section two. And the

Supreme Court said no, it's -- you have to get over 50 percent.

And they used the term "voting age population" pretty much

exclusively throughout.

Now, the 5th Circuit has interpreted that to mean

citizen voting age population. The Supreme Court, what I was

referring to earlier, has never decided this issue. And as

someone pointed out, there isn't language in Gingles itself that

talks about putting minorities together.

Now, nothing in Bartlett -- so that was a white

crossover. And the reason the Supreme Court said that is not

required under section two is because if you have whites voting

with the minority preferred candidate in sufficient number to

elect that person, then that affects the third prong of Gingles,
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the white block vote. That undermines that third prong. And so

the Supreme Court said that's not going to be a district that you

can say is required to be drawn under section two. You can draw

it if you want to but you don't have to.

Now, the 5th Circuit, as Ms. Riggs said, has held

that two minority groups can be combined to elect their preferred

candidate in Campos v. City of Baytown. I know it's a long quote

from Campos but I wanted to put it up. 840 Fed 2nd, 1240 to

1244. There is nothing in the law that prevents the plaintiffs

from identifying the protected aggrieved minority to include both

blacks and Hispanics. So you can combine them.

And it goes on with the rest of the quote. And it

says, "If together they are such numbers residing geographically

so as to constitute a majority in a single-member district, they

cross the Gingles threshold as potentially disadvantaged voters."

Now, when Mr. Hicks was just up here somebody

asked him--I think it was Judge Rodriguez--what about this, you

know, HCVAP, and he was talking about the unreliability of the

data. What is the standard that you suggest?

Well, here's the standard that I suggest, but I'm

going to cite a case for it. I'm going to cite a case called

Perez versus Pasadena ISD.

Now, this was a case -- Mr. Garza, I believe was

the plaintiff's lawyer in this case and went up to 5th Circuit.

And the 5th Circuit said that they did not prove -- they could
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not get over the first prong of Gingles in the case because they

couldn't get over the 50 percent CVAP issue.

But what 5th Circuit also said is that there are

ways to get around that. There are other ways to prove that you

are over 50 percent CVAP that don't rely on CVAP data because the

CVAP data is too imprecise. It's a small sample, smaller than

2000. And you could look at three things. You could look at

whether the district is a super majority.

So, in other words, if it happens to be 90 percent

minority with black and Latino it doesn't really matter if

Latinos are 45 percent of the citizen voting age population and

blacks fill up the rest and then there's a handful of whites.

That district is going to provide minority voters with an

effective opportunity. So if you can get to the super majority

that's one way.

Number two is SSVR. Perhaps Latinos are 48, 49

percent of the citizen voting age population, but maybe they have

a bump in registration and they can get themselves over 50. They

ought to be able to take advantage of that in a section two case.

And then third, and this is -- and by the way,

we've got all these in our demonstration districts. It's whether

the district performs electorally or not. Well, we've done

reconstituted election returns in which we've shown that

Chavez-Thompson, Noriega -- the list goes on and on. Yanez and

Uribe and everybody -- Obama, they're all carrying these heavily
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minority opportunity districts that the state dismisses and says

they're not 50 percent CVAP so we don't have to consider them.

It's a legally flawed argument and I think it was

used to hold the head of Latino voters just below the waterline

so they would be drowned out from getting their fair share of the

districts.

Downton also testified -- and I'll tell you why

it's a factually flawed argument. And I just put up a

hypothetical district. So if we've got a 45 percent HCVAP

district here -- well, it's 45 percent HCVAP. Maybe it's

45 percent black, 10 percent Anglo CVAP. Is there any doubt that

district can provide an effective opportunity for minorities to

elect their preferred candidate? Of course not. So the 50

percent rule has to be a functional one. It has to be a -- it

has to be -- that has to be a part of the analysis.

I wanted to go back and this is the last area.

This is the congressional plan -- this is Tarrant County, Dallas

County and this is the old map before the DeLay redistricting.

This district right here is Congressman Frost's old district and

this is Eddie Bernice Johnson's old district right here.

Let's go to the next slide.

And here's what was done to that area. And I

showed this. It came down just similar to what it does now

although it's much wider and smoother. And as you can see it

became so much more jagged in the current round of
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redistricting. So this is a benchmark map right here. And

Congresswoman Johnson's district continues, you know, to take in

all this minority population here.

But what happens to the rest of the minorities -- and

again, not as dramatically as it happened when Mr. Hanna pulled

up the map a few moments ago, but I bring this out to show you

that even here there was a fracturing of the minority community.

But when you consider the growth of Latinos and African Americans

of 600,000 more people than were in this map, because this was

the 2000 census, the minority population has exploded there and

you have to go out of your way not to create a new minority

opportunity district.

Now, I'm not going to show you Exhibit 42. I will

say that over 1.4 million Latinos reside in Dallas and Tarrant

County, but C 185 cracks them into five districts, denying them

the opportunity to be in a district where they could combine with

other minority voters and elect their preferred candidate.

The core Dallas County Latino community is also

split between District 30, Eddie Bernice Johnson, and District 6,

Joe Barton.

And that was, by the way, the area, I believe, Judge

Rodriguez, that you asked about when you were asking about the

Lamar Smith plan in that area that comes up into western Dallas

County. That's some of the area we're talking about. It

actually comes up through southwest Dallas County through
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Grand Prairie, through Irving and up into that area. And other

Hispanic neighborhoods are placed in suburban districts.

Now, we have several alternative plans. C 121.

Here's an alternative plan we created. 66.2 percent HVAP, 71.8

percent total pop, Anglos are only 20 percent in the district.

Obama carries it with 66 percent. Noriega carries it with 66

percent.

In the second district we drew two in the area.

That's how many minorities are up there. We could create two

effective minority opportunity districts that are new and do no

damage to Eddie Bernice Johnson's district by the way. She, in

fact, supports this map.

Next.

Recall that there was a map, C 121. It was

called -- in the legislature it was called the Fair Texas Plan.

It was offered by Representative Veasey and it created, as I

said, not only the Latino opportunity district but it created a

new African American opportunity district also. And I want to

show you how it compares to what the state has already done.

This is Al Green's district. When they drew it in

2003 this is the population that was in it right here. 20

percent Anglo, 35 -- -6 percent black, 30 percent HVAP, and they

claimed that that was a black opportunity district.

In this CD 35 that we drew in 121 it's very

similar to that and it creates such a sizeable minority
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percentage of minority voters that clearly whoever merges from

the primary is going to -- the minority is going to prevail in

the general election.

We have another map. That's C 192. Look at the

Anglo VAP percentages in that. Again, 66.2 percent. This

fulfills in our view -- along with the election returns that back

up that show these are performing districts, these districts

show -- meet that Perez versus Pasadena ISD case, 165 F.3d, by

the way, 368. 165 F.3rd 368.

Next plan.

And then the final map we put up was 202.

And could you pull that up, David Hanna, because I

want to show -- this is another one where it's a majority HVAP in

District 34, but I want to show it because I made such a point

about shapes of districts.

Take a look at how clean these are. This is the

new African American opportunity district. This is southeast

Fort Worth. It comes up and around here. And District 34. This

is the new Latino -- a combination of black and Latino majority

minority district that takes into account a lot of the minority

population growth in the Metroplex.

And then finally the only other point I want to

make is about proportionality because the State made a point

about this. If we could just scroll through until we get -- here

we go.
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Now, in his opening statement counsel for the

State quoted you that language out of section two of the Voting

Rights Act that says nothing herein guarantees the right to

proportional representation in section two, but we all know that.

That was put in there as part of the compromise between Bob Dole

and Ted Kennedy back in 1982.

The Supreme Court, however, has interpreted this

language and has talked about what it truly means. And what it

says is rough proportionality doesn't automatically give you

protection under section two. It doesn't automatically -- it's

not an indication -- it's an indication that minority voters have

an equal opportunity in spite of racially polarized voting to

participate in the political process.

And Justice O'Connor in her concurring opinion said --

explained proportionality is always relevant evidence in

determining vote dilution and it is never itself dispositive.

Now, this issue came up in the Supreme Court in

LULAC V Perry about proportionality. And there is language in

there by the way that the issue didn't get decided because it

wasn't briefed in the Supreme Court and so it hasn't been decided

yet. But they did indicate that the relevant proportionality

might be CVAP, but it hasn't been decided. They used it for

purposes of that case.

But what they did say was that -- in LULAC v.

Perry they said that proportionality mitigates against a finding
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that there's been a violation of section two while making clear

that proportionality doesn't allow the state to trade off the

rights of some members of a racial group against the rights of

other members of that group.

Now, isn't that exactly what's happening here with

regard to 35 and 23? Isn't that exactly what's happening with

regard to 27 and 34? Aren't they trading off the rights of

minority voters in South Texas to create, you know,

Anglo-dominated districts for incumbents? That's exactly what I

think is happening.

JUDGE SMITH: This is a quote, I'm sorry, from where?

MR. HEBERT: It's a quote from LULAC versus Perry in

the Supreme Court. Now, the rest of it is not a quote. The rest

of it is mine. LULAC holds -- and I think if you read the case,

and I know you already have, Judge Smith, but if you read the

case it says that the appropriate question is not whether the

line drawing in the plan as a whole dilutes minority voting

strength but whether the line drawing through particular

districts that are under challenge dilutes minority voting

strength. And that's why they looked at District 23 and they

looked at that long District 25.

In other words, I would argue the proportionality

inquiry does not allow the state to remedy vote dilution in one

part of the state suffered by minorities by creating a majority

minority district in another part of the state when they're
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entitled to both.

JUDGE SMITH: Now, they're on a trade-off -- I'm not

necessarily disagreeing with anything you've said. Obviously the

quotations are accurate. But weren't they talking about trading

off for a non-compact district?

MR. HEBERT: Well, you know, they did talk about the

non-compactness of District 25, the district that went from

Austin all the way to the Rio Grande River. And they did talk

about how that was a bizarre-shaped district. And if you read --

you read it you think that Justice Kennedy is going to conclude

that it violates Shaw v. Reno but he never gets there. He does

point out that it connected two far-flung areas that seemingly

had nothing in common: Latinos in southeast Austin and Latinos

literally at the very border of the state. And he criticized

that district as not only being obviously not compact but putting

together two areas that really had nothing in common.

But he invalidated District 23 not on the basis of

District -- necessarily 25. What he said was that is not a

trade-off because what they did in 23 was that they took away the

opportunity that minorities were just about to exercise by taking

out Congressman Bonilla and electing a candidate of their choice.

And so if you read Chief Justice Roberts' dissent

in the case he really takes apart Justice Kennedy on that issue

by saying nobody contends that District 25, this elongated

district, is not an effective district for minorities. So he
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would have said it was okay to go ahead and do that and do what

you did to 23 and replace it, but five justices said you could

not.

My time has just about elapsed. Thank you for the

opportunity to participate today in the oral argument and thank

you for your patience throughout the trial. We look forward to

assisting the Court in any way we can. We are all involved I

think in a case up in DC and I guess the State will have the

primary duty of keeping you informed.

JUDGE GARCIA: All right. Thank you, Mr. Hebert.

Mr. Mattax?

JUDGE RODRIGUEZ: We're sort of putting you on the

podium right at the -- on the spot here. How long do you

anticipate your oral argument will be and --

JUDGE GARCIA: And we'd like you to take as long as

necessary.

MR. MATTAX: Certainly.

JUDGE GARCIA: But we're not trying to limit you.

JUDGE SMITH: But we're trying to decide whether to go

tomorrow, which we're willing to do. I mean -- but we don't want

to crowd you but we don't want to be inefficient. So this is

not -- again, as someone said, we're not trying to put you on the

spot.

MR. MATTAX: I appreciate that. As the Court will

recall, we had discussed that we were going to sort of split the
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oral argument between myself and Mr. Schenck. I was going to

focus primarily on the House. And so I would ask Mr. Schenck to

chime in and see whether he thinks we should adjourn for the day

or try to complete it.

JUDGE RODRIGUEZ: Begin one of you -- that's another

option. Begin one of you and pick up with the other.

MR. MATTAX: That actually -- we could work on the

House issues and then leave the congressional for tomorrow.

JUDGE RODRIGUEZ: And I guess more comment than

anything else, but in light of all the arguments you've heard

from plaintiffs -- because we really would want a full, fair and

complete oral argument. We would certainly consider you breaking

today, evaluating all the arguments you had. But if you're

prepared then we can take that into account as well.

JUDGE SMITH: Two other things. We have to finish at

5:15 today because of scheduling issues and we're assuming there

will be some rebuttal arguments. So that all needs to be

factored in.

MR. MATTAX: I think given the lateness of the day it

would be advisable to adjourn and reconvene tomorrow morning.

And then we can give the court a full argument and I can adjust

some of the things I was going to say and try to address the

issues.

JUDGE GARCIA: Okay. 8:00 o'clock. And also will each

plaintiff be offering rebuttal or how many will be just so we can
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get a -- of course, you may not be able to make that decision now

not having heard the State.

MR. GARZA: As we indicated before, we were willing to

limit our rebuttal time to about 30 minutes. The arguments have

gone pretty long so it may be a little bit more than that but not

much more, but we are willing to work within those bounds and

split the argument if there are folks that want to --

JUDGE GARCIA: You mean split among yourselves?

MR. GARZA: Yes, Your Honor.

JUDGE GARCIA: So that each one would not consume

30 minutes?

MR. GARZA: The whole package would be about 30

minutes.

JUDGE GARCIA: 30 to 45. Okay.

MR. VERA: 30 total, Judge.

JUDGE GARCIA: Total. Okay. Let's do that and

reconvene at 8:00. Keep in mind that tomorrow because of other

scheduling matters we will recess and adjourn at 1:00 o'clock.

JUDGE SMITH: At the latest.

JUDGE GARCIA: At the latest, very latest.

MR. SCHENCK: If I might, Your Honor.

JUDGE GARCIA: Yes.

MR. SCHENCK: We'll probably get a transcript final

late tonight. I think we're planning a substantial game of whack

a mole on our side over here. We've got a lot of arguments. I
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think it's probably -- we're going to do a more complete job in

the morning than we would do right now in responding to it, but I

think we're still going to be doing a lot of briefing

addressing --

JUDGE GARCIA: That's fine.

JUDGE RODRIGUEZ: We understand that.

MR. SCHENCK: There's no way we can possibly go through

every one of those.

JUDGE RODRIGUEZ: Speaking personally, I just wanted to

provide you as much opportunity by giving you a break tonight to

be better prepared for tomorrow, but that's not going to

foreclose post-trial briefing.

JUDGE GARCIA: Right. Right. Okay. We're in recess.
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